Gold-Catalyzed Cascade Cyclization of Diazo-tethered Alkynes

Presented by: Cheng Zhang From Jiangsu, China

August 2021

Gutachter: Prof. Dr. A. Stephen K. Hashmi Prof. Dr. Milan Kivala

A dissertation submitted to the Combined Faculty of Natural Sciences and Mathematics Heidelberg University, Germany for the degree of Doctor of Natural Sciences (Dr. rer. nat.)

Dissertation

Submitted to the Combined Faculty of Natural Sciences and athenmatics Heidelberg University, Germany For the degree of Doctor of Natural Sciences (Dr. rer. Nat.) Presented by Cheng Zhang Oral examination: September 29th, 2021

Gold-Catalyzed Cascade Cyclization of Diazo-tethered Alkynes

Oral examination: September 29th, 2021 Gutachter: Prof. Dr. A. Stephen K. Hashmi Prof. Dr. Milan Kivala

Eidesstattliche Versicherung gemäß § 8 der Promotionsordnung der Naturwissenschaftlich-Mathematischen Gesamtfakultät der Universität Heidelberg

1. Bei der eingereichten Dissertation zu dem Thema

Gold-Catalyzed Cascade Cyclization of Diazo-tethered Alkynes

handelt es sich um meine eigenständig erbrachte Leistung.

2. Ich habe nur die angegebenen Quellen und Hilfsmittel benutzt und mich keiner unzulässigen Hilfe Dritter bedient. Insbesondere habe ich wörtlich oder sinngemäß aus anderen Werken übernommene Inhalte als solche kenntlich gemacht.

3. Die Arbeit oder Teile davon habe ich wie folgt/bislang nicht1) an einer Hochschule des In- oder Auslands als Bestandteil einer Prüfungs- oder Qualifikationsleistung vorgelegt.

Titel der Arbeit:

Hochschule und Jahr:

Art der Prüfungs- oder Qualifikationsleistung:

4. Die Richtigkeit der vorstehenden Erklärungen bestätige ich.

5. Die Bedeutung der eidesstattlichen Versicherung und die strafrechtlichen Folgen einer unrichtigen oder unvollständigen eidesstattlichen Versicherung sind mir bekannt. Ich versichere an Eides statt, dass ich nach bestem Wissen die reine Wahrheit erklärt und nichts verschwiegen habe.

Ort und Datum

Unterschrift

1)Nicht Zutreffendes streichen. Bei Bejahung sind anzugeben: der Titel der andernorts vorgelegten

Arbeit, die Hochschule, das Jahr der Vorlage und die Art der Prüfungs- oder Qualifikationsleistung.

Acknowledgements

I enjoyed the fantastic three years in Heidelberg. Not only did I like the beautiful scenery but also the friendly and kind people. At the end of this wonderful journey, I must appreciate all people who gave a hand in my research and favourably impressed on my life.

First and foremost, I would like to express the deepest gratitude to my supervisor, Prof. Dr. A. Stephen K. Hashmi. He has much enthusiasm for chemistry and encourages me greatly. I am very grateful for his constant guidance and support in profession and personality.

I also thank Prof. Dr. Milan Kivala for his willingness to be my second Gutachter.

By this opportunity, I thank the China Scholarship Council for affording the generous financial support to undertake my PhD study.

Many thanks Dr. Matthias Rudolph for his useful suggestions and revising my manuscripts as well as the doctoral thesis. I benefit a lot from the inspiring discussions with him.

I would like to thank Herr Alexander Flatow for his generous support in chemical ordering and equipment maintenance. I thank Frau Petra Krämer for her kindness in helping me for the analytical measurements. I am also grateful to Frau Christiane Eckert for her assistance in the management.

A big thanks to all my present and former group mates. I thank Dr. Hongming Jin, Dr. Ximei Zhao, Dr. Yangyang Yang, Dr. Dr. Yufeng Wu, Dr. Lumin Zhang, Dr. Xiaojia Si, Dr. Chao Hu, Dr. Long Hu, Dr. Yun Xu, Dr. Jun Li, Dr. Xianhai Tian, Dr. Lina Song, Chunyu Han, Hongwei Shi, Tao Wang, Huili Zhang, Shan Zhang, Zuozuo Wu, Qiaoying Sun, Yaowen Liu, Danfeng Wang, Fabian Stuck, Marc Zimmer, Danilo Machado Lustosa, Florian Mulks, Dr. Tapas Adak, Dr. Kohei Sekine, Alexander Ahrens, Dr. Sina Witzel, Dr. Christoph Hendrich, Robin Heckershoff, Dr. Daniel Eppel, Svenja Taschinski, David Zahner, Kirsten Emler, Michael Mulligan, Sara Tavakkolifard, Patrick Antoni, Simon Clemens, Vanessa Vethacke, Dr. Alejandro Cervantes Reyes, Shaista Tahir, Alexandra Mackenroth, Simon Kohl, Jonas Wunsch, Martin Dietl, Tamara Duckworth, Luca Greiner, Philipp Stein, for their generous help.

My special thanks to Dr. Xiaoya Li, Dr. Hao Zhang, Meihong Da, Conghui Zhang, Zhengxing Sun, Min lin, Mingda Jiang, and they helped me overcome difficulties over the past three years.

I thank the Institute of Organic Chemistry and all the staff for the analytical and technical help, including HRMS, X-ray, NMR, glass work and chemical store.

Finally, I am really grateful to my parents, my sisters, my brother and my whole family for their understanding, support and love all the time.

Table of Contents

Publications	Ι
Abbreviations	III
Abstract	V
Chapter 1: General Introduction	1
1.1 Gold-Catalyzed Alkyne Transformations	1
1.2 Generation of Gold Carbenes and Their Follow-up Chemistry	2
1.2.1 α-Oxo Gold Carbenes	2
1.2.2 α-Imino Gold Carbenes	5
1.2.3 α-Vinyl Gold Carbenes	9
1.3 Research Objectives and Thesis Outline	11
1.4 References	12
Chapter 2 Practical and Modular Construction of Benzophenanthridine Com	pounds15
2.1 Introduction	15
2.2 Results and Discussion	17
2.2.1 Optimization of the Reaction Conditions	17
2.2.2 Substrate Scope	19
2.3 Mechanistic study	21
2.4 Conclusion	22
2.5 References	22
2.6 Experimental Section	24
Chapter 3 Et ₃ N(HF) ₃ -Controlled Regioselective Carbohydroxylations of	
Diazo-tethered Alkynes by Gold Catalysis	65
3.1 Introduction	65
3.2 Results and Discussion	66
3.2.1 Optimization of the Reaction Conditions	67
3.2.2 Substrate Scope	69
3.2.3 Application	71
3.3 Mechanistic study	72
3.4 Conclusion	73
3.5 References	73
3.6 Experimental Section	75

Chapter 4 Carbofluorination via A Gold-catalyzed Cascade Reaction	
4.1 Introduction	105
4.2 Results and Discussion	106
4.2.1 Optimization of the Reaction Conditions	106
4.2.2 Substrate Scope	107
4.3 Conclusion	108
4.4 References	109
4.5 Experimental Section	110

Publications

[1] <u>Cheng Zhang</u>, Kemiao Hong, Chao Pei, Su Zhou, Wenhao Hu, A. Stephen K. Hashmi,* Xinfang Xu,* "Gold(I)-catalyzed intramolecular cyclization/intermolecular cycloaddition cascade as a fast track to polycarbocycles and mechanistic insights" *Nat. Commun.* **2021**, *12*, 1182.

[2] Xianhai Tian, Lina Song, Chunyu Han, <u>Cheng Zhang</u>, Yufeng Wu, Matthias Rudolph, Frank Rominger, A. Stephen K. Hashmi,* "Gold(III)-Catalyzed Formal [3 + 2] Annulations of N-Acyl Sulfilimines with Ynamides for the Synthesis of 4-Aminooxazoles" *Org. Lett.* **2019**, *21*, 2937-2940.

[3] <u>Cheng Zhang</u>, Matthias Rudolph, Frank Rominger, A. Stephen K. Hashmi,* "Practical and Modular Construction of benzophenanthridine Compounds" in preparation.

[4] <u>Cheng Zhang</u>, Matthias Rudolph, Frank Rominger, A. Stephen K. Hashmi,* "Et₃N(HF)₃-Controlled Regioselective Carbo-Hydroxylations and -Fluorinations of Tethered Diazo Alkynes by Gold Catalysis" in preparation.

Abbreviations

Ar	Aryl
ATR	Attenuated Total Refraction
Bu	Butyl
calcd.	Calculated
Су	Cyclohexyl
DCM	Dichloromethane
DCE	1,2-Dichloroethane
DMAP	Dimethyl amino pyridine
DMF	Dimethyl formamide
DMSO	Dimethyl sulfoxide
EDG	Electron donating group
EA	Ethyl acetate
EI	Electron ionization
eq.	Equivalent
ESI	Electrospray Ionization
Et	Ethyl
EWG	Electron withdrawing group
GC	Gas chromatography
h	hour
Hex	Hexyl
HRMS	High resolution mass spectrometry
Hz	Hertz
ICP	Inductively coupled plasma
<i>i</i> Pr	Isopropyl
IR	Infrared
m.p.	Melting point
m/z	mass per charge

Me	Methyl
Mes	Mesityl
min	Minutes
MS	Mass spectrometry
NBS	N-bromo succinimide
NHC	N-heterocyclic carbene
NIS	N-iodosuccinimide
NMR	Nuclear magnetic resonance
Ns	4-Nitrobenzenesulfonyl
PE	Petroleum ether
Ph	Phenyl
Pr	Propyl
r.t.	Room temperature
R _f	Ratio of fronts
t	tert
Tf	Trifluormethylsulfonyl
THF	Tetrahydrofuran
TLC	Thin layer chromatography
TMS	Trimethyl silyl

Abstract

In Chapter 2, a gold-catalyzed domino annulation of diazo-tethered alkynes with nitriles proceeds through a sequential 6-*endo-dig* cyclization/nitrile insertion/C-H functionalization. This protocol offers a general and modular strategy for the rapid assembly of benzophenanthridine derivatives with a broad functional-group tolerance. Moreover, this methodology, using readily available nitriles as the nitrogen source, represent a versatile platform for the construction of benzophenanthridine frameworks.



In Chapter 3, an unprecedented dichotomy in the regioselectivity of carbohydroxylation of diazo-tethered alkynes was observed. The gold-catalyzed 6-*endo-dig* cyclization leads to the quinoid-carbene species, terminated by direct O-H insertion under additive-free conditions, while the reaction in the presence of $Et_3N(HF)_3$ undergoes an O-H *ortho*-insertion of carbene/rearrangement to give the dihydroxynaphthalene isomers as the major products.



In Chapter 4, the gold-catalyzed carbofluorination of diazo-tethered alkynes provides a facile, efficient, and atom-economical route to α -fluoronaphthalene derivatives. An intermediate endocyclic gold carbene, generated by an intramolecular 6-*endo-dig* cyclization, promotes a carbene H-F insertion to afford the desired products.



Kurzzusammenfassung

In Kapitel 2, verläuft die goldkatalysierte Dominoanellierung der diazogebundenen Alkine mit Nitrilen über eine sequentielle 6-*endo-dig*-Cyclisierung/Nitrilinsertion/ C-H-Funktionalisierung. Dieses Protokoll bietet eine allgemeine und modulare Strategie für den schnellen Aufbau von Benzophenanthridin-Derivaten mit einer breiten Toleranz von funktionellen Gruppen. Darüber hinaus stellt diese Methode, in leicht verfügbare Nitrile als Stickstoffquelle verwendet werden, eine vielseitige Plattform für den Aufbau der Gerüsten vom Benzophenanthridin dar.



In Kapitel 3, wurde eine beispiellose Dichotomie in der Regioselektivität der Carbohydroxylierung von diazo-gebundenen Alkinen beobachtet. Die goldkatalysierte 6-*endo-dig*-Cyclisierung führt zur chinoiden Carben-Spezies, die durch direkte OH-Insertion unter additiv-freien Bedingungen terminiert wird, während in der oben genannten Reaktion eine O-H-ortho-Insertion Carben/Umlagerung in Anwesenheit von Et₃N(HF)₃ stattfindet, mit der die Dihydroxynaphthalin-Isomere als Hauptprodukte hergestellt werden können.



In Kapitel 4, bietet die goldkatalysierte Carbofluorierung der diazogebundenen Alkine einen einfachen, effizienten und atomökonomischen Weg zu α -Fluornaphthalin-Derivaten. Die durch die intramolekulare 6-*endo-dig*-Cyclisierung erzeugte Carben-H-F-Insertion konnte durch das intermediäre endocyclische Goldcarben gefördert werden, wodurch mehr Produkte erhalten werden konnten.



Chapter 1: General Introduction

1.1 Gold-Catalyzed Alkyne Transformations

Gold was recognized as a precious, purely decorative inert metal allready thousands of years ago. However, the catalytic activity of gold complexes was ignored until the first application of homogeneous gold(I) catalysis was described by Ito and Hayashi in 1986.^[1] More than a decade later, a seminal work by Teles^[2] and Tanaka^[3] demonstrated the utility of cationic phosphine Au(I) species in terms of the hydrolysis of alkynes, which revealed the potential of gold(I) in organic synthesis. Since the first report on the generation of a gold-carbene species by the Hashmi group,^[4] the gold-catalyzed alkyne cyclization has been evolved into a powerful technique for the construction of cyclic molecules with high structural complexity.^[5] In the majority of cases, homogeneous gold catalysis acts as a soft π -Lewis acid and selectively activates the alkynes in complex molecular settings toward intra- or intermolecular nucleophilic addition (Scheme 1).^[6]



Scheme 1. Gold-catalyzed nucleophilic addition of alkynes.

For a long time, metal carbenes, derived from the decomposition of diazo compounds by transition metals, have been extensively used in various transformations such as cyclopropanations, cyclopropenations, X-H insertions, coupling reactions, and a myriad of ylide chemistry.^[7-12] Compared to Rh^{II}, Cu^{II}-catalyzed diazo-generated carbene/alkyne metathesis (CAM) transformations,^[13] gold-triggered diazo-alkyne transformations have been shown to have dramatic differences in terms of reactivity and selectivity.^[14]

In this chapter, the generation of gold carbenes from alkynes involving α -oxo gold carbenes, α -imine gold carbenes and vinyl carbenes will be highlighted (Scheme 2). A series of gold-promoted intra- and intermolecular transformations as access to (hetero-)cyclic structures will be reviewed.



Scheme 2. Generation of gold carbenes from alkynes .

1.2 Generation of Gold Carbenes and Their Follow-up Chemistry

1.2.1 a-Oxo Gold Carbenes

Seminal works on the generation of α -oxo gold-carbene species via the intramolecular rearrangement of sulfinyl alkynes to yield tetrahydrobenzothiepinones were reported by Toste^[15] and Zhang^[16], independently (Scheme 3a). In their work, a α -oxo gold carbene was obtained by an intramolecular oxygen transfer to the pendant alkyne followed by the *S-O* bond cleavage. The desired products were furnished via C_(sp2)-H insertion. A similar phenomenon was observed by Shin and coworkers. Shin's group reported a series of gold-catalyzed cascade cyclization of azomethine for the assembly of heterocyclic frameworks (Scheme 3b).^[17] These unique α -oxo gold-carbene species, generated via gold-promoted intramolecular oxygen transfer, were the key intermediate in these transformations, terminated by an internal alkene.



Scheme 3. Sulfoxides and pyridine *N*-oxides as carbene precursors.

In 2008, Hashmi and Liu's group independently exploited an internal epoxide to oxidize an alkyne leading to an α -oxo gold carbene, which underwent an electrocyclization cyclization/rearrangement with the in-situ generated alkene to give

indenyl-ketone products. (Scheme 4a).^[18] Similarly, Liu's group reported a redox/formal cascade cyclization of readily available 1-alkynyl-2-nitrobenzenes for bridged products in high diastereoselectivity (Scheme 4b).^[19] This carbene intermediate of the resulting product was constructed through an initial intramolecular cyclization and N-O bond cleavage. Subsequently, a formal [2+2+1] cycloaddition of α -oxo gold carbene, in-situ generated nitroso, and external alkenes contributed to the desired azacyclic compounds.



Scheme 4. The intramolecular oxygen transfer to α -oxo gold carbenes.

Compared to the gold-catalyzed intramolecular oxygen transfer for the generation of α -oxo gold carbenes, external oxidants can promote further application of the oxidative gold catalysis beyond the very bondage of the two reacting partners.^[20] In 2010, Zhang's group disclosed a facile and efficient access to the α -oxo gold-carbene species through a gold-promoted intermolecular oxidation of alkynes by using pyridine *N*-oxides as external oxidants (Scheme 5).^[21] The in-situ gold-carbene species could be trapped by the intramolecular hydroxyl and amino group to afford a variety of heterocyclic compounds. In particular, highly strained small rings were synthesized in good to excellent yield.



Scheme 5. X-H insertion of α -oxo gold carbenes

Later, Liu and Zhang et al. independently reported an intramolecular cyclopropanation of the adjacent alkene with an α -oxo gold carbene, which was in-situ generated by an external oxidant (Scheme 6a).^[22] By taking full advantage of the ingeniously designed P,N-bidentate ligand, Zhang and coworkers described an enantioselective version of chiral cyclopropane derivatives (Scheme 6b).^[22b]



Scheme 6. Gold-triggered oxidative cyclopropanations

Over the past decades, C-H functionalization has gradually evolved into one of the most effective strategies to synthesize complex molecules. In comparison with

Rh-catalyzed carbene insertions of C-H bonds,^[23] gold-carbene species triggered C-H bond functionalization, especially those of unactivated $C(sp^3)$ –H bonds, were rarely reported. The most remarkable example was described by Zhang's team (Scheme 7).^[24] Zhang and coworkers used an oxidative cyclization of ynones with external quinolone *N*-oxides to express this unique reactivity. The in-situ generated carbene species are highly electrophilic and capable of selective $C(sp^3)$ -H insertion to deliver the inserted products.



Scheme 7. Insertions of the α -oxo gold-carbene species

1.2.2 a-Imino Gold Carbenes

Gold-catalyzed nitrene transfer reactions from *N*-Leaving group to alkynes can yield highly electrophilic α -imino gold carbenes. In 2005, Toste and co-workers exploited a gold(I)-catalyzed acetylenic Schmidt reaction of homopropargyl azides for the preparation of substituted pyrroles, and the α -imino gold-carbene intermediate was first proposed in this report, which was formed via an intramolecular 5-*exo-dig* nucleophilic addition of the azide onto the pendant gold-activated alkyne followed by losing nitrogen (Scheme 8a).^[25] A formal 1,2-hydride/alkyl migration regenerated the cationic gold(I) catalyst and produced the 2*H*-pyrrole that tautomerized to a substituted pyrroles. Inspired by this protocol, Gagosz and Zhang's group reported the synthesis of 3-indolinone and indole via the homologous α -imino gold-carbene species, which were trapped by allyl alcohols or nucleophilic aromatic rings (Scheme 8b).^[26] Furthermore, the strategy was successfully applied to the construction of bicyclic imidazaole and quinoline derivatives.^[27]



Scheme 8. Gold-catalyzed 5-endo-dig cyclization of azide-tethered alkynes

Instead of the azide as the nitrogen source, Gagosz reported that the 2*H*-azirine as an alternative nitrene precursor to access α -imino gold-carbenes via an intramolecular transfer of an alkenyl nitrene to an alkyne and followed by the strained ring-opening (Scheme 9).^[28] Polysubstituted pyridines were synthesized with high functional-group tolerance and a wide substrate scope.



Scheme 9. α-Imino gold-carbene species from 2*H*-azirines.

In comparison with the gold-promoted intramolecular addition of the nitrogen source toward alkynes for the formation of α -imino gold-carbenes, the intermolecular nucleophilic addition for the α -imino gold carbene is more flexible and efficient without tedious steps in the synthesis of heterocyclic compounds. The first report on the generation of an α -imino gold carbene by the intermolecular incorporation of ynamides into the gold-catalyzed nitrene transfer was developed by Davies and co-workers (Scheme 10).^[29] They disclosed a gold-catalyzed [3+2] cycloaddition of ynamides with iminopyridium for the preparation of polysubstituted oxazoles in the presence of the gold(III) complex.^[29b]



Scheme 10. α -Imino gold carbenes from an intermolecular nitrene source

In 2016, Hashmi' group contributed a gold-catalyzed C-H cascade reaction of anthranil derivatives with alkynes for the expedient synthesis of 7-acylindoles by using the potential of anthranil to act as a nitrogen source. The reaction was terminated via a tertiary C–H bond insertion.^[30a] Mechanistic studies indicated that the α -imino gold-carbene species, generated via a gold-promoted intermolecular nitrogen-shift, consecutively proceeded an ortho-aryl C-H functionalization to afford the desired products (Scheme 11a). As well as alkynyl terminus, adjacent methylene moieties (R²) were also suitable for the reaction without C(sp2)-H insertion products, which suggested that the β -H elimination might be faster than C-H annulation (Scheme 11b).^[30b] Subsequently, the methodology was expanded to the synthesis of fused quinoline derivatives, in which the Mukaiyama aldol condensation of enol/enolether with the electrophilic aldehyde derived from the ring opening of the anthranil reacted smoothly as well as ynamide substrates. Further, this strategy was successfully applied to the preparation of poly heterocyclic hydrocarbons through gold-catalyzed π -extension of anthranils with the adjacent aryls as reagents.^[31]



Scheme 11. α -Imino gold carbenes from anthranils

Inspired by these milestone works on the preparation of α -imino gold-carbenes, Hashmi and coworkers continued to pursue the novel method of these carbene species for the construction of heterocyclic compounds with structural diversity. In comparison with other nucleophilic nitrenes such as azide, 2*H*-azirine and anthranil, sulfilimines are cheap and readily available to generate valuable synthetic intermediates via *N*–*S* bond cleavage. In this direction, sulfilimines were employed as α -imino gold-carbene precursors through the formal [3+2] cycloaddition with ynamides, cyclopropanations with alkene-tethered ynamides, and nucleophilic attack ynamides to afford indoles, 3-azabicyclo[3.1.0]hexan-2-imines, and quinoline derivatives (Scheme 12).^[32]



Scheme 12. α-imino gold carbene from sulfilimines.

Similarly, advances in the construction of heterocyclic compounds via α -imino gold-carbene have been also reported by Liu,^[33a] Ye,^[33b] Ballesteros,^[33c] and Huang,^[33d] independently.

1.2.3 α-Vinyl Gold Carbenes

In 2007, Toste's group developed an unique gold-induced oxidative rearrangement of diazo-tethered alkynes. Inspired by the gold-catalyzed α -diazoketone decomposition to afford the 1,2-diketone product in the presence of diphenylsulfoxide (Scheme 13, top), the authors supposed that this cascade cyclization involved a gold-promoted intramolecular 5-*exo-dig* cyclization of the diazo-carbon atom towards the pendant alkyne and the subsequent loss of dinitrogen to deliver the vinyl gold-carbene species, which then underwent an oxidation process with diphenylsulfoxide to give 1,4-endione products (Scheme 13, down).^[34]



Scheme 13. Gold-catalyzed oxidative rearrangements.

However, Xu et al. recently disclosed a gold-catalyzed 5-*endo-dig* carbocyclization of the diazo-tethered alkynes, followed by an unprecedented vinylogous addition with an external protic nucleophile. It is noteworthy that silver activators are harmful to gold-catalyzed reactions, and the preformed cationic gold catalyst usually has a better efficiency (Scheme 14).^[14b]



Scheme 14. Silver salt in homogeneous gold(I) catalysis

In 2012, Maulide and Skrydstrup et al. independently reported an intra- and intermolecular transfer of the carbon ylides onto terminal alkynes leading to the key intermediate vinyl gold-carbene species, which was trapped by the intramolecular carbonyl-oxygen followed by a subsequent rearrangement to the furan structures (Scheme 15).^[35]



Scheme 15. Vinyl gold carbene from the carbon ylides.

In 2013, Hashmi' group described a gold(I)-catalyzed oxidative diyne cyclization to furnish substituted functionalized indenones (Scheme 16a).^[36] The vinyl gold-carbene species, generated through an intramolecular 5-*exo-dig* carbene transfer of the α -oxo gold-carbene onto the pendent alkyne, was the key intermediate in this reaction, followed by a myriad of carbene transformations. Inspired by this work, Ye and coworkers reported a gold-promoted oxidative cyclization of terminal diynes to

synthesize naphthoquinones via analogous vinyl gold-carbene intermediates, in which the endocyclic gold-carbene was trapped again by the initial pyridine *N*-oxide (Scheme 16b).^[37]



Scheme 16. Vinyl gold carbene from the intramolecular carbene transfer.

1.3 Research Objectives and Thesis Outline

In this doctoral thesis, the research interests focus on the development of endocyclic vinyl-carbene chemistry, generated via the gold(I)-triggered intramolecular 6-*endo-dig* nucleophilic addition of the diazo-carbon onto the pendent alkyne, followed by the extrusion of N₂. In contrast to diazo quinones (or so called quinone diazides) as the on-ring carbene precursors, this class of diazo-yne reagents, as carbene precursors in the presence of a gold catalyst, can provide an efficient and stable platform for the construction of cyclic molecules with high structural complexity.

In Chapter 2, a gold-catalyzed domino cyclization of diazo-tethered alkynes with nitriles to assembly benzophenanthridine derivatives in high yields is presented. Chapter 3 discloses an unprecedented gold(I)-catalyzed carbohydroxylation of diazo-tethered alkynes with high regioselectivity, controlled by the utilization of Et₃N(HF)₃. In Chapter 4, we also describe an intramolecular cascade-fluorination process for the synthesis of aryl fluorides in high yields.

1.4 References

[1] Y. Ito, M. Sawamura, T. Hayashi, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1986, 108, 6405-6406.

[2] J. H. Teles, S. Brode, M. Chabanas, *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **1998**, *37*, 1415–1418; *Angew. Chem.* **1998**, *110*, 1475–1478.

[3] E. Mizushima, K. Sato, T. Hayashi, M. Tanaka, *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2002**, *41*, 4563–4565; *Angew. Chem.* **2002**, *114*, 4745–4747.

[4] A. S. K. Hashmi, T. M. Frost, J. W. Bats, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 11553–11554.

[5] For reviews, see a) A. S. K. Hashmi, *Chem. Rev.* 2007, *107*, 3180–3211; b) D. J. Gorin, F. D. Toste, *Nature* 2007, *446*, 395–403; c) Z. Li, C. Brouwer, C. He, *Chem. Rev.* 2008, *108*, 3239–3265; d) D. J. Gorin, B. D. Sherry, F. D. Toste, *Chem. Rev.* 2008, *108*, 3351–3378; e) A. S. K. Hashmi, M. Rudolph, *Chem. Soc. Rev.* 2008, *37*, 1766–1775; f) F. Gagosz, *Tetrahedron* 2009, *65*, 1757–1767; g) A. Corma, A. Leyva–Pérez, M. J. Sabater, *Chem. Rev.* 2011, *111*, 1657–1712; g) M. Rudolph, A. S. K. Hashmi, *Chem. Soc. Rev.* 2012, *41*, 2448–2462; h) A. S. K. Hashmi, F. D. Toste, Eds., Wiley–VCH: Weinheim, 2012; i) C. M. Friend, A. S. K. Hashmi, *Acc. Chem. Res.* 2014, *47*, 729–730; j) R. Dorel, A. M. Echavarren, *Chem. Rev.* 2015, *115*, 9028–9072; k) D. Pflästerer, A. S. K. Hashmi, *Chem. Soc. Rev.* 2016, *45*, 1331–1367.
[6] a) A. S. K. Hashmi, *Gold Bull.* 2004, *37*, 51–65; b) A. S. K. Hashmi, *Gold Bull.* 2003, *36*, 3–9; c) D. J. Gorin, F. D. Toste, *Nature* 2007, *446*, 395–403.

[7] *Modern Rhodium Catalyzed Organic Reactions*; P. A. Evans, Ed.; Wiley–VCH: Weinheim, 2005.

[8] M. P. Doyle, M. A. McKervey, T. Ye, *Modern Catalytic Methods for Organic Synthesis with Diazo Compounds: From Cyclopropanes to Ylides*; Wiley: New York, 1998.Google Scholar

[9] a) H. M. L. Davies, R. E. J. Beckwith, *Chem. Rev.* 2003, *103*, 2861–2904; b) H. M. L. Davies, J. R. Manning, *Nature* 2008, *451*, 417–424; c) H. M. L. Davies, D. Morton, *Chem. Soc. Rev.* 2011, *40*, 1857–1869; d) H. M. L. Davies, Y. Lian, *Acc. Chem. Res.* 2012, *45*, 923–935.

[10] a) M. P. Doyle, *Chem. Rev.* 1986, 86, 919–939; b) M. P. Doyle, D. C. Forbes, *Chem. Rev.* 1998, 98, 911–936; c) M. P. Doyle, R. Duffy, M. Ratnikov, L. Zhou, *Chem. Rev.* 2010, *110*, 704–724.

[11] a) A. Padwa, M. D. Weingarten, *Chem. Rev.* **1996**, *96*, 223–270; b) A. Padwa, *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2009**, *38*, 3072–3081.

[12] a) T. Ye, M. A. McKervey, *Chem. Rev.* 1994, 94, 1091–1160; b) D. F. Taber, S.–E.
Stiriba, *Chem. Eur. J.* 1998, 4, 990–992; c) H. Lebel, J.–F. Marcoux, C. Molinaro, A.
B. Charette, *Chem. Rev.* 2003, 103, 977–1050; d) P. M. P. Gois, C. A. M. Afonso, *Eur.*

J. Org. Chem. 2004, 2004, 3773–3788; e) Z. Zhang, J. Wang, Tetrahedron 2008, 64, 6577–6605; f) Y. Zhang, J. Wang, Coord. Chem. Rev. 2010, 254, 941–953; g) S.–F. Zhu, Q.–L. Zhou, Acc. Chem. Res. 2012, 45, 1365–1377; h) D. Gillingham, N. Fei, Chem. Soc. Rev. 2013, 42, 4918–4931; i) X. Guo, W. Hu, Acc. Chem. Res. 2013, 46, 2427–2240; j) G. K. Murphy, C. Stewart, F. G. West, Tetrahedron 2013, 69, 2661–2666; k) A. Ford, H. Miel, A. Ring, C. N. Slattery, A. R. Maguire, M. A. McKervey, Chem. Rev. 2015, 115, 9981–10080; l) A. DeAngelis, R. Panish, J. M. Fox, Acc. Chem. Res. 2016, 49, 115–127.

[13] a) A. Padwa, F. R. Kinder, J. Org. Chem. 1993, 58, 21–28; b) C. Zhang, S. Chang, L. Qiu, X. Xu, Chem. Commun. 2016, 52, 12470–12473.

[14] a) H. Qiu, H. D. Srinivas, P. Y. Zavalij, M. P. Doyle, *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2016, *138*, 1808–1811; b) C. Zhang, H. Li, C. Pei, L. Qiu, W. Hu, X. Bao, X. Xu, ACS Catal. 2019, 9, 2440–2447;

[15] N. D. Shapiro, F. D. Toste, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2007, 129, 4160-4161.

[16] G. Li, L. Zhang, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2007, 46, 5156–5159; Angew. Chem. 2007, 119, 5248–5251.

[17] a) H. S. Yeom, J. E. Lee, S. Shin, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2008, 47, 7040–7043;
Angew. Chem. 2008, 120, 7148–7151; b) H. S. Yeom, Y. Lee, J. Jeong, E. So, S. Hwang, J. E. Lee, S. S. Lee, S. Shin, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2010, 49, 1611–1614;
Angew. Chem. 2010, 122, 1655–1658.

[18] a) G.-Y. Lin, C.-W. Li, S.-H. Hung, R.-S. Liu, Org. Lett. 2008, 10, 5059–5062;
b) A. S. K. Hashmi, M. Bührle, R. Salathé, J. Bats, Adv. Synth. Catal. 2008, 350, 2059–2064.

[19] A. M. Jadhav, S. Bhunia, H.-Y. Liao, R.-S. Liu, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2011, 133, 1769–1771.

[20] L. Zhang, Acc. Chem. Res. 2014, 47, 877-888.

[21] a) L. Ye, L. Cui, G. Zhang, L. Zhang, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2010, 132, 3258–3259;
b) L. Ye, W. He, L. Zhang, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2010, 132, 8550–8551.

[22] a) D. Vasu, H.-H. Hung, S. Bhunia, S. A. Gawade, A. Das, R.-S. Liu, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2011, 50, 6911–6914; Angew. Chem. 2011, 123, 7043–7046; b) K. Ji, Z. Zheng, Z. Wang, L. Zhang, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2015, 54, 1245–1249; Angew. Chem. 2015, 127, 1261–1265.

[23] H. M. L. Davies, K. Liao, Nat. Rev. Chem. 2019, 3, 347-360.

[24] Y. Wang, Z. Zheng, L. Zhang, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2015, 137, 5316–5319.

[25] D. J. Gorin, N. R. Davis, F. D. Toste, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2005, 127, 11260-11261.

[26] a) A. Wetzel, F. Gagosz, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2011, 50, 7354–7358; Angew. Chem. 2011, 123, 7492–7496; b) B. Lu, Y. Luo, L. Liu, L. Ye, Y. Wang, L. Zhang, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2011, 50, 8358–8362; Angew. Chem. 2011, 123, 8508–8512.

[27] a) Y. Xiao, L. Zhang, Org. Lett. **2012**, 14, 4662–4665. b) C. Gronnier, G. Boissonnat, F. Gagosz, Org. Lett. **2013**, 15, 4234–4237.

[28] A. Prechter, G. Henrion, P. Faudot dit Bel, F. Gagosz, *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2014**, *53*, 4959–4963; *Angew. Chem.* **2014**, *126*, 5059–5063.

[29] a) P. W. Davies, A. Cremonesi, L. Dumitrescu, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2011, 50,

8931–8935; Angew. Chem. 2011, 123, 9093–9097; b) A. S. K. Hashmi, J. P. Weyrauch,
M. Rudolph, E. Kurpejović, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2004, 43, 6545–6547; Angew.
Chem. 2004, 116, 6707–6709.

[30] a) H. Jin, L. Huang, J. Xie, M. Rudolph, F. Rominger, A. S. K. Hashmi, *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* 2016, *55*, 794–797; *Angew. Chem.* 2016, *128*, 804–808; b) H. Jin, B. Tian, X. Song, J. Xie, M. Rudolph, F. Rominger, A. S. K, Hashmi, *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* 2016, *55*, 12688–12692; *Angew. Chem.* 2016, *128*, 12880–12884;

[31] a) Z. Zeng, H. Jin, K. Sekine, M. Rudolph, F. Rominger, A. S. K. Hashmi, *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* 2018, *57*, 6935–6939; *Angew. Chem.* 2018, *130*, 7051–7056; b) Z. Zeng, H. Jin, M. Rudolph, F. Rominger, A. S. K. Hashmi, *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* 2018, *57*, 16549–16553; *Angew. Chem.* 2018, *130*, 16787–16791.

[32] X. Tian, L. Song, K. Farshadfar, M. Rudolph, F. Rominger, T. Oeser, A. Ariafard,
A. S. K. Hashmi, *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* 2019, *59*, 471–478; *Angew. Chem.* 2019, *132*, 479–486.

[33] a) S. K. Pawar, R. L. Sahani, R.-S. Liu, *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, *21*, 10843–10850; b)
A.-H. Zhou, Q. He, C. Shu, Y.-F. Yu, S. Liu, T. Zhao, W. Zhang, X. Lu, L.-W. Ye, *Chem. Sci.* 2015, *6*, 1265–1271; c) J. González, J. Santamaría, Á. L. Suárez–Sobrino,
A. Ballesteros, *Adv. Synth. Catal.* 2016, *358*, 1398–1403; d) L. Zhu, Y. Yu, Z. Mao, X. Huang, *Org. Lett.* 2015, *17*, 30–33.

[34] C. A. Witham, P. Mauleón, N. D. Shapiro, B. D. Sherry, F. D. Toste, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2007, 129, 5838–5839.

[35] a) S. Kramer, T. Skrydstrup, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2012, 51, 4681–4684; Angew. Chem. 2012, 124, 4759–4762; b) X. Huang, B. Peng, M. Luparia, L. F. Gomes, L. F. Veiros, N. Maulide, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2012, 51, 8886–8890; Angew. Chem. 2012, 124, 9016–9020.

[36] P. Nösel, L. N. d. S. Comprido, T. Lauterbach, M. Rudolph, F. Rominger, A. S. K. Hashmi, *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2013**, *135*, 15662–15666.

[37] C. Shu, C.-Y. Shi, Q. Sun, B. Zhou, T.-Y. Li, Q. He, X. Lu, R.-S. Liu, L.-W. Ye, *ACS Catal.* **2019**, *9*, 1019–1025.

Chapter 2: Practical and Modular Construction of Benzophenanthridine Compounds

2.1 Introduction

The streamlined and efficient synthesis of complex molecules has been a long-standing challenge in organic synthesis. In this context, the search for improved techniques as flexible access to a diverse array of potential target structures is of ongoing interest with impact on natural product synthesis, pharmaceutical chemistry and material science. An important synthetic motif is the benzophenanthridine scaffold, which as a core unit is commonly found in a number of biologically active molecules which possess antimicrobial, antifungal, anti-inflammatory, antiproliferative and optoelectronic properties.^[1] In addition, some derivatives are used as antiprotozoal, antibacterial and anticancer agents.^[2] So far, over 80 alkaloids containing this structure have been discovered and were isolated from Fumariaceae, Papaverace and Rutaceae plants.^[3] Recent approaches for the synthesis of the benzophenanthridine skeleton include the domino direct arylation/N-arylation.^[4a] π -extensions of aryl halides,^[4b] and intramolecular homolytic aromatic substitutions (HAS).^[4c-4e] However, these synthetic strategies generally rely on specially preformed substrates, which often contain a naphthyl group that is imbedded into the final core by the reaction with a complex nitrogen-source (Scheme 1).^[4] Still the exploration of a practical, modular, and efficient synthetic protocol to access structurally diverse and/or novel fused benzophenanthridines remains highly sought after.



Scheme 1. One-step access to the benzophenanthridine skeletons

Cascade reactions have inspired the imagination of organic chemists because it provides an efficient and universal strategy to assemble complex molecules.^[5] Instead of time-consuming and costly procedures including the purification of intermediates

and protection/ deprotection steps of functional groups, this strategy relies on a consecutive series of chemical reactions proceeding in a concurrent fashion.^[6] Among these, the transition metal-catalyzed diazo-yne transformation has emerged as a powerful tool for the synthesis of polycyclic molecules.^[7] Much of the early work in this context was based on a diazo-derived carbene/alkyne metathesis process (CAM), which after transfer of the initial carbene species onto the pendant alkyne gives rise for a host of transformations, including cyclopropanations, (asymmetric) C-H insertions, oxidative rearrangements and a myriad of cascade reactions (path a, Scheme 1a).^[8-9] Exceptional results were observed with the combination of a variety of pendant nucleophiles, especially those containing heteroatomic substituents capable of assembling heterocyclic frameworks during the cascade event.^[10] Still one drawback of this approach is the inherent features of a substrate with limited opportunity to modify the patterns of reactivity and selectivity. In recent years, this situation has changed with the development of homogeneous catalysts with different electronic and steric properties, which can overcome some of the inherent preferences for functionalization at a specific group.^[11] In the catalytic diazo-yne cascade process, Rh^I-, Rh^{II}-, Cu^{II}-, Pd⁰-, and Ag^I-complexes often directly decompose the diazo group to deliver the corresponding carbene species,^[7-10] whereas the use of gold catalysts in combination of appropriate ligands can provide the opportunity to prioritize the activation of alkynes toward intra- or intermolecular nucleophiles (path b, Scheme 1a).^[12] In this direction, Toste, ^[13a] Doyle^[13b] and Xu^[12a] elegantly showed examples of unparalleled selectivity and reactivity patterns in gold-catalyzed diazo-yne cascade reactions, respectively, where the gold catalyst primarily acted as a highly carbophilic π -Lewis acid to activate the alkyne rather than to decompose the diazo group.

Within the frame of our program devoted to the development of gold-catalyzed alkyne cascade cyclizations,^[14] Xu and our group recently developed an efficient method for the rapid assembly of a wide set of o-alkynyl diazoacetylbenzene reagents derived from the DBU-catalyzed condensation of o-ethynylbenzaldehyde derivatives with a commercial diazoacetate.^[12e] This approach circumvents previously reported material-consuming and dangerous procedures, including the use of diazomethane^[15a] or diazo transfer reagents.^[15b] In comparison with diazo quinones (or so called quinone diazides) as the on-ring carbene (ORC) precursors,^[16] these reagents, as potential ORC precursors generated in-situ via a gold-promoted 6-endo-dig diazo-yne carbocyclization (Scheme 1b), can provide an ideal platform for the construction of cyclic molecules with high structural complexity. Inspired by these findings, we became interested in further exploring the reactivity of this ORC with unsaturated bonds and envisioned that the method might be applied to access biologically relevant heterocyclic frameworks. Herein, we report our discovery and development of gold-catalyzed cascade reactions of alkyne-tethered diazoketones and nitriles as modular access to benzophenanthridine derivatives with an excellent functional group compatibility.

A Catalytic diazoketone-alkyne transformations



B Formation of the on-ring carbene (ORC)



Scheme 2. Catalytic metal carbenes

2.2 Results and Discussion

2.2.1 Optimization of the Reaction Conditions

We began with trimethylacetonitrile (2 equivalents) to test the feasibility of an intramolecular diazo-yne (1a) cyclization/intermolecular cascade reaction (table 1). In the first experiments, the uncatalyzed reaction between the two components did not occur, and a catalytic amount of $Ph_3PAuSbF_6$ proved to be ineffective (entries 1 and 2). Encouragingly, when the more sterically hindered 'Bu₃PAuSbF₆ was employed, a substantial amount of decomposition of 1a was observed, together with a small amount of the desired cascade product 3 (entry 3). The IPr ligand gave a more

efficient reaction, with the product observed in 56% yield (entry 4). Gratifyingly, the reaction with 5 mol % of JohnPhosAuSbF₆ in dry 1,2-dichloroethane (DCE) at 60 °C, proceeded smoothly to give the desired product **2** in 69% yield (entry 5), while varying the counterion of the gold catalyst from NTf_2^- to SbF_6^- showed little effect (entry 6). The use of toluene as solvent showed minimal evidence of productive cycloaddition (entry 7). Further careful optimization of the reaction parameters led to a combination of 4Å molecular sieves, giving **2a** in 80% isolated yield with full conversion (entry 8). Notably, no O-H insertion products were observed in this reaction.



 Table 1: Optimization of Reaction Conditions^[a]

[a] Reaction conditions: a solution of catalyst (5 mol %) in dry DCE (0.5 mL), was added to the solution of **1a** (63.6 mg, 0.2 mmol) and trimethylacetonitrile (45.0 μ L, 0.4 mmol) in dry DCE (0.5 mL) in the glove box. Then the reaction mixture was stirred for 12 hours outside the glove box at 60 °C. [b] Yields were determined by proton NMR with 1,3,5-trimethoxybenzene as internal standard. [c] 4Å Molecular sieve (200 mg) was added to the reaction. [d] The result in the parentheses is isolated yield.
2.2.2 Substrate Scope

After identification of the optimal conditions, we first investigated the generality and utility of this gold-catalyzed domino cyclization of diazo-tethered alkynes 1 in combination with 1-adamantylnitrile using JohnPhosAuSbF₆ as the catalyst. As shown in Scheme 3, a series of fluorine substituents (3-7) and a methoxy group (8, 9) on the linking aryl unit (Ar^1) were well tolerated, delivering the corresponding products in moderate to high yields (69%–87%). Methyl- (10, 11) and methoxy- (12, 13) substituted aryl alkynes were also applicable to this transformation without a noticeable yield deterioration. Additionally, we found that sterically hindered naphthalene rings (14-16) at the alkynyl terminus reacted smoothly, indicating that the steric properties of the alkynes have no obvious effects on the reaction's efficiency. Alkenyl (17) and thienyl (18, 19) alkynes gave a higher yield than other aryl substituents, presumably because of the increased nucleophilicity of theses electron-rich aryl groups. This cascade strategy was also scalable and provided comparable yields on a 2.0 mmol scale cyclization (9, 13, 16 and 19). The structure of product 19 was unambiguously confirmed by single crystal X-ray analysis.



Scheme 3. Scope of diazo compounds 1. *Reaction condition*: a solution of JohnPhosAuSbF₆ (7.32 mg, 0.01 mmol) in dry DCE (0.5 mL), was added a solution of 1 (0.2 mmol) and the nitrile (0.4 mmol) in dry DCE (0.5 mL) in the glove box, then the reaction mixture was stirred for 12.0 hours at 60 °C outside the glove box. Isolated yields are listed. Note: all reagents should be dried before use. [a] At 2.0 mmol scale.

Encouraged by these results, we continued to explore this protocol with respect to nitriles under the optimal reaction conditions (Scheme 4). Tertiary (18, 19), secondary

(20), strained-cyclic (21), primary (22, 23) and deuterated (24) nitriles successfully underwent the domino cyclization with diazo-yne substrate 1n to afford the desired products in good yields. The introduction of cyano (25), alkenyl (26) and alkynyl (27) groups to the nitrile were compatible with the applied conditions. Going further, a



Scheme 4. Scope of nitriles. *Reaction condition*: a solution of JohnPhosAuSbF₆ (7.32 mg, 0.01 mmol) in dry DCE (0.5 mL), was added to the solution of 1 (0.2 mmol) and the nitrile (0.4 mmol) in dry DCE (0.5 mL) in the glove box, then the reaction mixture was stirred for 12.0 hours at 60 °C. Isolated yields are listed. Note: all reagents should be dried before use.

aryl nitriles bearing electron-withdrawing, electron-neutral variety of and electron-donating substituents underwent this reaction, provided the corresponding adducts 28-39 in moderate to excellent yield. Substrates with para- (28-33), meta-(34), and ortho-(35-40) substituents on the aryl moiety effectively reacted with 1m to produce the desired products in synthetically useful to high yields. The reaction also proceeded smoothly with heteroaromatic nitriles, providing the corresponding products 41 and 42 in excellent yields. Notably, substrates bearing common sensitive functional groups such as azide and unprotected phenols underwent the reaction and gave the corresponding products 44 and 43 in good to high yield. This is noteworthy as these units are known to react in traditional carbene transformations. Heteroaromatic, alkenyl and naphthyl substrates were successfully cyclized with an α -cyanonaphthalene to afford the naphthyl-benzophenanthridine compounds (46-79) in good yields, which enriched the library of biaryl axes.

2.3 Mechanistic study

We conducted a series of control experiments to gain some insight into the mechanism. To verify the existence of the on-ring carbene (ORC) intermediate, the oxidation reaction with the substrate **11** in the presence of diphenylsulfoxide, instead of the nitrile, was conducted under standard conditions, and the corresponding oxidation product **51** was isolated in 90% yield (Scheme 5A). As further evidence for the intermediacy of the carbene intermediate, a gold-catalyzed 6-*endo-dig* diazo-yne carbocyclization was terminated by a tertiary C–H bond insertion to form polycyclic product **52** in 56% yield (Scheme 5B). In addition, a non-concerted, step-wise mechanism of the intermolecular cyclization process was well supported by the interception reaction with an external acceptor. The identifiable three-component product **53** was isolated in 72% yield when the reaction was carried out in the presence of water (Scheme 5C).



Scheme 5. Control experiments. a) Oxidation of a gold carbene species with diphenylsulfoxide; b) C_{sp3} -H Insertion; c) Trapping experiment with H₂O.

Based on the above studies and the literature,^[12, 13] a possible mechanism is proposed for this cascade reaction in Scheme 6.^[17] Initially, Au(I) acts as a highly carbophilic π -Lewis acid, selectively activating the alkynyl group to form the gold π -complex **A**. Subsequently, an intramolecular 6-*endo-dig* nucleophilic addition of the diazo-carbon atom onto the gold-activated alkyne and then irreversible extrusion of N₂ can generate the ORC species **B**. This ORC intermediate is then trapped by the nitrile to furnish carbocation **C**,^[18] followed by a domino cyclization with the pendant aryl group (**D**)/aromatization, furnishing the corresponding polycyclic product **3** under liberation of the gold catalyst.



Scheme 5. Proposed mechanism.

2.4 Conclusions

We have developed a gold-catalyzed domino reaction with high chemoselectivity, accomplished with easy available diazoacetate-derived substrates **1** and low cost, simple starting nitriles, leading to a variety of benzophenanthridine derivatives. The enabling feature of this reaction is the use of a nitrile as a nitrogen source through a programmed insertion/cation-transfer strategy. This methodology complements the common C_{SP2} -H insertion strategies in terms of reaction efficiency and structural diversity. As a result, we expect this protocol to have a substantial effect on drug discovery, specifically in how alkaloid replacements are designed and incorporated into targets of interest.

2.5 References

[1] a) Y. L. Janin, A. Croisy, J. F. Riou, E. Bisagni, *J. Med. Chem.* **1993**, *36*, 3686-3692; b) M. A. Lynch, O. Duval, A. Sukhanova, J. Devy, S. P. MacKay, R. D.

Waigh, I. Nabiev, *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* **2001**, *11*, 2643–2646; c) G. S. Kumar, S. Hazra, *RSC Adv.* **2014**, *4*, 56518–56531.

[2] a) T. Nakanishi, M. Suzuki, A. Saimoto, T. Kabasawa, J. Nat. Prod. 1999, 62, 864-867; b) D. Castillo, M. Sauvain, M. Rivaud, V. Jullian, *Planta Med.* 2014, 80, 902-906; c) Z. Wang, W. Jiang, Z. Zhang, M. Qian, B. Du, J. Ethnopharmacol. 2012, 144, 145-150; d) R. Hamoud, J. Reichling, M. Wink, J. Pharm. Pharmacol. 2015, 67, 264–273.

[3] B. D. Krane, M. O. Fagbule, M. Shamma, J. Nat. Prod. 1984, 47, 1-43.

[4] a) D. A. Candito, M. Lautens, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2009, 48, 6713-6716; Angew. Chem. 2009, 121, 6741-6844. b) W. C. Fu, Z. Wang, W. T. K. Chan, Z. Lin, F. Y. Kwong, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2017, 56, 7166-7170; Angew. Chem. 2017, 129, 7272-7276; c) H. Jiang, X. An, K. Tong, T. Zheng, Y. Zhang, S. Yu, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2015, 54, 4055–4059; d) H.-B. Zhao, Z.-J. Liu, J. Song, H.-C. Xu, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2017, 56, 12732-12735; Angew. Chem. 2017, 129, 12906-12909; e) H.-B. Zhao, P. Xu, J.-S. Song, H.-C. Xu, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2018, 57, 15153-15156; Angew. Chem. 2018, 130, 15373-15376.

[5] a) L. F. Tietze, *Chem. Rev.* 1996, 96, 115–136; b) J.-C. Wasilke, S. J. Obrey, R. T. Baker, G. C. Bazan, *Chem. Rev.* 2005, 105, 1001–1020; c) K. C. Nicolaou, D. J. Edmonds, P. G. Bulger, *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* 2006, 45, 7134–7186; *Angew. Chem.* 2006, 118, 7292–7344; d) L.-Q. Lu, J.-R. Chen, W.-J. Xiao, *Acc. Chem. Res.* 2012, 45, 1278–1293; e) R. Ardkhean, D. F. J. Caputo, S. M. Morrow, H. Shi, Y. Xiong, E. A. Anderson, *Chem. Soc. Rev.* 2016, 45, 1557–1569.

[6] a) L. F. Tietze, *Chem. Rev.* 1996, 96, 115–136; b) L. F. Tietze, F. Haunert, in *Stimulating Concepts in Chemistry* (eds Vögtle, F., Stoddart, J. F. & Shibasaki, M.) 39–64 (Wiley-VCH, Weinheim, 2000); c) K. C. Nicolaou, T. Montagnon, S. A. Snyder, *Chem. Commun.* 2003, 551–564.

[7] Pioneering works: a) T. R. Hoye, C. J. Dinsmore, J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1991**, 113, 4343–4345; b) A. Padwa, S. L. Xu, J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1992**, 114, 5881–5882.

[8] a) A. Padwa, M. D. Weingarten, *Chem. Rev.* 1996, 96, 223-270; b) A. Padwa, *J. Organomet. Chem.* 2000, 610, 88-101; c) A. V. Gulevich, A. S. Dudnik, N. Chernyak, V. Gevorgyan, *Chem. Rev.* 2013, 113, 3084-3213; d)A. Archambeau, F. Miege, C. Meyer, J. Cossy, *Acc. Chem. Res.* 2015, 48, 1021–1031; e) C. Pei, C. Zhang, Y. Qian, X. Xu, *Org. Biomol. Chem.* 2018, 16, 8677–8685.

[9] a) J. Le Paih, S. Dérien, I. Özdemir, P. H. Dixneuf, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2000, 122, 7400-7401; b) Y. Ni, J. Montgomery, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2004, 126, 11162-11163; c) J. F. Briones, J. Hansen, K. I. Hardcastle, J. Autschbach, H. M. L. Davies, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2010, 132, 17211-17215; d) S. Jansone-Popova, J. A. May, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2012, 134, 17877-17880; e) K. Dong, C. Pei, Q. Zeng, H. Wei, M. P. Doyle, X. Xu, ACS Catal. 2018, 8, 9543-9549; f) K. Dong, X. Fan, C. Pei, Y. Zheng, S. Chang, J. Cai, L. Qiu, Z. Yu, X. Xu, Nat. Commun. 2020, 11, 2363.

[10] a) A. Padwa, F. R. Kinder, J. Org. Chem. 1993, 58, 21-28; b) S. Chuprakov, F. Hwang, V. Gevorgyan, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2007, 46, 4757-4759; Angew. Chem. 2007, 119, 4841-4843; c) F. Cambeiro, S. López, J. A. Varela, C. Saá, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2012, 51, 723-727; Angew. Chem. 2012, 124, 747-751; d) B. Chattopadhyay,

V. Gevorgyan, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2012, 51, 862–872 Angew. Chem. 2012, 124, 886–896; e) C. González-Rodríguez, J. M. Suárez, J. A. Varela, C. Saá, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2015, 54, 2724–2728; Angew. Chem. 2015, 127, 2762–2766; d) P. Q. Le, J. A. May, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2015, 137, 12219–12222; e) R. Yao, G. Rong, B. Yan, L. Qiu and X. Xu, ACS Catal. 2016, 6, 1024-1027; f) C. Zhang, S. Chang, L. Qiu and X. Xu, Chem. Commun. 2016, 52, 12470-12473.

[11] a) P. Panne, J. M. Fox, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2007, 129, 22-23; b) E. J. Park, S. H. Kim and S. Chang, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2008, 130, 17268-17269; c) J. F. Briones, H. M. L. Davies, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2012, 134, 11916-11919.

[12] a) C. Zhang, H. Li, C. Pei, L. Qiu, W. Hu, X. Bao, X. Xu, ACS Catal. 2019, 9, 2440–2447; (b) L. Zhou, Y. Liu, Y. Zhang, J. Wang, Beilstein J. Org. Chem. 2011, 7, 631–637; c) C. Zhang, K. Hong, S. Dong, C. Pei, X. Zhang, C. He, W. Hu, X. Xu, *iScience* 2019, 21, 499–508; d) C. Shu, C.-Y. Shi, Q. Sun, B. Zhou, T.-Y. Li, Q. He, X. Lu, R.-S. Liu, L.-W. Ye, ACS Catal. 2019, 9, 1019–1025; e) C. Zhang, K. Hong, C. Pei, S. Zhou, A. S. K. Hashmi, X. Xu, Nat Commun. 2021, 12, 1182.

[13] a) C. A. Witham, P. Mauleón, N. D. Shapiro, B. D. Sherry, F. D. Toste, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2007, 129, 5838-5839; b) H. Qiu, H. D. Srinivas, P. Y. Zavalij, M. P. Doyle, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2016, 138, 1808–1811.

[14] Our representative works: a) H. Jin, L. Huang, J. Xie, M. Rudolph, F. Rominger,
A. S. K. Hashmi, *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* 2016, 55, 794-797; *Angew. Chem.* 2016, 128, 804-808; b) X. Tian, L. Song, M. Rudolph, F. Rominger, T. Oeser, A. S. K. Hashmi, *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* 2019, 58, 3589-3593; *Angew. Chem.* 2019, 131, 3627-3631.

[15] a) A. Padwa, U. Chiacchio, D. J. Fairfax, J. M. Kassir, A. Litrico, M. A. Semones and S. L. Xu, J. Org. Chem. 1993, 58, 6429-6437; b) G. Maas, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2009, 48, 8186-8195; Angew. Chem. 2009, 121, 8332-8341.

[16] Recent works: a) H. T. Dao, P. S. Baran, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2014, 53, 14382-14386; Angew. Chem. 2014, 126, 14610-14614; b) H.-X. Wang, Q. Wan, K. Wu, K.-H. Low, C. Yang, C.-Y. Zhou, J.-S. Huang, C.-M. Che, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2019, 141, 9027–9046; c) H.-X. Wang, Y. Richard, Q. Wan, C.-Y. Zhou, C.-M. Che, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2020, 59, 1845-1850; Angew. Chem. 2020, 132, 1861-1866; d) K. Wu, L.-L. Wu, C.-Y. Zhou, C.-M. Che, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2020, 59, 16202–16208; Angew. Chem. 2020, 132, 16336-16342.

[17] a) A. S. K. Hashmi, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2010, 49, 5232-5241; Angew. Chem.
2010, 122, 5360-5369; b) T. Lauterbach, A. M. Asiri, A. S. K. Hashmi, Adv. Organomet. Chem. 2014, 62, 261-297

[18] a) W. He, C. Li, L. Zhang, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2011, 133, 8482–8485; b) Y. Xiao,
L. Zhang, Org. Lett. 2012, 14, 4662-4665.

2.6 Experimental Section

2.6.1 General Information

Chemicals were purchased from commercial suppliers and used as delivered. NMR spectra were, if not mentioned otherwise, recorded at room temperature on the

following spectrometers: Bruker Avance-III-300, Bruker Avance III 400, and Bruker Avance-III-500. Chemical shifts are given in ppm and coupling constants in Hz. The following abbreviations were used for ¹H NMR spectra to indicate the signal multiplicity: s (singlet), brs (broad singlet), d (doublet), t (triplet), q (quartet), quint (quintet), sext (sextet), sept (septet), m (multiplet) and comp (combined peaks). When combinations of multiplicities are given the first character noted refers to the biggest coupling constant. All ¹³C NMR spectra were measured with ¹H-decoupling. The multiplicities mentioned in these spectra [s (singlet, quaternary carbon), d (doublet, CH-group), t (triplet, CH₂-group), q (quartet, CH₃-group)] were determined by DEPT135 spectra. Mass spectra (MS and HRMS) were determined at the chemistry department of the University of Heidelberg under the direction of Dr. J. Gross. EI-spectra were measured on a JOEL JMS-700 spectrometer. For ESI+-, ESI-- or DART-spectra a Bruker Apex-Qu FT-ICR-MS spectrometer was applied. Infrared Spectroscopy (IR) was processed on an FT-IR Bruker (IF528), IR Perkin Elmer (283) or FT-IR Bruker Vector 22. The solvent or matrix is denoted in brackets. For the most significant bands the wave number v (cm⁻¹) is given. X-ray crystal structure analyses were measured at the chemistry department of the University of Heidelberg under the direction of Dr. F. Rominger and T. Oeser on a Bruker Smart CCD or Bruker APEX-II CCD instrument using Mo-Kα-radiation

2.6.2 Experimental Procedure: Synthesis of Diazo-tethered alkynes 1.^[1]



All **S1** were prepared by were prepared through Sonogashira couplings.^[2]

<u>Synthesis of S2</u>: To a solution of ethyl diazoacetate (EDA, 1.37 g, 12.0 mmol) in CH₃CN (10.0 mL), **S1** (10.0 mmol) and 1,8-diazabicyclo [5.4.0] undec-7-ene (DBU, 0.15 g, 1.0 mmol) were added at 0 °C in sequence. After the mixture was stirred overnight, the reaction was quenched with saturated aqueous NH₄Cl and then extracted with dichloromethane (3×20.0 mL). The combined organic phase was dried over Na₂SO₄ and the solvent was evaporated under vacuum after filtration. The obtained product **S2** was directly used for the next step without further purification.

<u>Synthesis of 1</u>: To a 50-mL glass bottle containing a magnetic stirring bar, the above obtained product S2 in DCM (20.0 mL), was added manganese dioxide (MnO₂, 8.70 g, 100.0 mmol) slowly at room temperature. The reaction mixture was stirred at overnight and then the solvent was evaporated under vacuum after filtering through Celite, and the resulting residues was purified by column chromatography on silica gel (eluent: petroleum ether/ ethyl acetate = 10:1) to give the pure diazoacetates **1**

(yield based on S1).



Figure S1. Scope of tethered diazo alkynes

2.6.3 Experimental Procedure: Gold-catalyzed Domino Cyclization of Diazo-ynes with Nitriles



The substrate **1** (0.2 mmol), dry 1,2-dichloroethane (DCE, 0.5 mL), nitrile (0.4 mmol, dry before use), and activated 4Å molecular (30 mg) were successively mixed in a 5-mL glass bottle containing a magnetic stirring bar. Then, the gold catalyst (JohnphosAuSbF₆, 7.3 mg, 0.01 mmol) in dry DCE (0.5 mL) using a syringe was added over 2 minutes at room temperature. After the addition, the reaction mixture was stirred at 60 °C for 12 hours. Then, the solvent was removed under reduced pressure and the crude product was purified by column chromatography on a silica gel (solvents: ethyl acetate/petroleum ether = 1/10) to afford the pure benzophenanthridine derivatives **2-49**.

2.6.4 Experimental Procedure: Gold-catalyzed oxidative rearrangements



The substrate **1f** (70 mg, 0.2 mmol), dry 1,2-dichloroethane (DCE, 0.5 mL), and phenyl sulfoxide (81.0 mg, 0.4 mmol), were mixed in a 5-mL glass bottle containing a magnetic stirring bar. Then, the gold catalyst (JohnphosAuSbF₆, 7.3 mg, 0.01 mmol) in dry DCE (0.5 mL) using a syringe was added over 2 minutes at room temperature. After the addition, the reaction mixture was stirred at 60 °C for 12 hours. Then, the solvent was removed under reduced pressure and the crude product was purified by column chromatography on a silica gel (solvents: ethyl acetate/petroleum ether = 1/10) to afford the pure product **51** in 90% yield. white solid, mp 107.0 – 109.0 °C; R_f = 0.4 (EA/PE = 1/10); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 8.09 (d, J = 8.7 Hz, 1H), 7.55 (d, J = 2.7 Hz, 1H), 7.46 – 7.35 (m, 5H), 7.25 (dd, J = 8.7, 2.7 Hz, 1H), 4.17 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 3.96 (s, 3H), 1.05 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 183.1 (s), 182.3 (s), 164.6 (s), 164.2 (s), 144.8 (s), 139.3 (s), 133.6 (s), 131.7 (s), 129.9 (d), 129.7 (d), 129.5 (d, 2C), 128.2 (d, 2C), 125.3 (s), 121.1 (d), 109.6 (d), 62.0 (t), 56.2 (q), 13.9 (q); HRMS (ESI) (m/z) [M+H]⁺ C₂₀H₁₇O₅ calcd for 337.1071, found 337.1082.

2.6.5 Experimental Procedure: Gold-catalyzed C-H annulation of Diazo-ynes



The substrate **1n** (63 mg, 0.2 mmol) and dry 1,2-dichloroethane (DCE, 0.5 mL) were added into a 5-mL glass bottle containing a magnetic stirring bar. Then, the gold catalyst (JohnphosAuSbF₆, 7.3 mg, 0.01 mmol) in dry DCE (0.5 mL) using a syringe was added over 2 minutes at room temperature. After the addition, the reaction mixture was stirred at 60 °C for 12 hours. Then, the solvent was removed under reduced pressure and the crude product was purified by column chromatography on a silica gel (solvents: ethyl acetate/petroleum ether = 1/15) to afford the desired product **52** in 56% yield. white solid, mp 103.0 – 105.0 °C; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/15); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 12.53 (s, 1H), 8.50 – 8.42 (m, 1H), 8.09 (d, J = 8.5 Hz, 1H), 7.61 – 7.55 (m, 1H), 7.47 – 7.41 (m, 1H), 4.46 (q, J = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 3.27 (t, J = 7.5 Hz, 2H), 2.02 (t, J = 7.5 Hz, 2H), 1.54 (s, 6H), 1.46 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 172.5 (s), 161.5 (s), 138.9 (s), 137.0 (s), 133.3 (s), 129.1

(d), 125.3 (d), 125.0 (s), 124.3 (d), 123.6 (d), 104.2 (s), 61.5 (t), 45.2 (s), 43.1 (t), 32.8 (t), 28.9 (q), 14.4 (q); HRMS (ESI) (m/z) [M+Na]⁺ C₁₈H₂₀NaO₃ calcd for 307.1305, found 307.0969.

2.6.6 Experimental Procedure: Gold-catalyzed Domino Cyclization of Diazo-ynes with Nitriles



The substrate 1f (70 mg, 0.2 mmol), dry 1,2-dichloroethane (DCE, 0.5 mL), benzonitrile (41 mg, 0.4 mmol), and water (7.2 mg, 0.4 mmol) were successively mixed in a 5-mL glass bottle containing a magnetic stirring bar. Then, the gold catalyst (JohnphosAuSbF₆, 7.3 mg, 0.01 mmol) in dry DCE (0.5 mL) using a syringe was added over 2 minutes at room temperature. After the addition, the reaction mixture was stirred at 60 °C for 12 hours. Then, the solvent was removed under reduced pressure and the crude product was purified by column chromatography on a silica gel (solvents: ethyl acetate/petroleum ether = 1/3) to afford the pure product 53 in 72% yield. white solid, mp 117.8 – 120.3 °C; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/3); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 12.61 (s, 1H), 7.81 – 7.73 (m, 2H), 7.48 – 7.39 (comp, 3H), 7.36 – 7.28 (comp, 6H), 7.25 – 7.19 (m, 2H), 7.13 (br, 1H), 4.01 – 3.93 (comp, 5H), 0.70 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 171.8 (s), 167.9 (s), 160.3 (s), 158.3 (s), 140.5 (s), 134.7 (s), 134.5 (s), 131.7 (d), 129.0 (s), 128.7 (d, 2C), 128.5 (d, 2C), 128.1 (d, 2C), 127.1 (d, 2C), 126.9 (d), 126.3 (s), 125.8 (d), 123.4 (s), 123.0 (d), 106.4 (s), 102.7 (d), 61.2 (t), 55.8 (q), 13.0 (q); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 2972.13$, 2932.60, 1724.13, 1649.36, 1595.63, 1502.86, 1464.27, 1446.01, 1413.21, 1374.14, 1328.50, 1224.26, 1182.26, 1095.24, 1027.78, 832.10, 757.93, 702.53, 655.09, 615.37 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) (m/z) [M+H]⁺ C₂₇H₂₄NO₅⁺ calcd for 442.1649, found 442.1655.

2.6.7 Characterization



Ethyl 2-diazo-3-oxo-3-(2-(phenylethynyl)phenyl)propanoate (1a) Yield: 2.67g, 84%; Yellow solid; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/10); ¹H NMR (300 MHz,

CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 7.60 – 7.53 (m, 1H), 7.50 – 7.39 (comp, 5H), 7.38 – 7.30 (comp, 3H), 4.16 (q, *J* = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 1.10 (t, *J* = 7.1 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 187.3 (s), 161.0 (s), 140.7 (s), 132.1 (d), 131.6 (d, 2C), 130.5 (d), 128.8 (d), 128.5 (d, 2C), 128.4 (d), 127.3 (d), 122.8 (s), 121.1 (s), 94.1 (s), 86.7 (s), 61.8 (t), 14.0 (q); IR (reflection) \tilde{v} = 3060.59, 2982.34, 2936.80, 2906.09, 2216.47, 2130.81, 1969.53, 1686.79, 1624.47, 1493.00, 1474.94, 1442.99, 1394.84, 1367.27, 1245.39, 1114.36, 1012.09, 932.74, 826.19, 775.61, 749.52, 697.40, 658.00 cm⁻¹; HRMS (EI) (*m*/*z*) C₁₉H₁₄N₂O₃ calcd for 318.1004, found 318.1025.



Ethyl 2-diazo-3-(3-fluoro-2-(phenylethynyl)phenyl)-3-oxopropanoate (1b)

Yield: 2.46 g, 73%; Yellow liquid; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/10); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 7.57 – 7.48 (comp, 2H), 7.45 – 7.32 (comp, 4H), 7.29 – 7.10 (m, 2H), 4.20 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 1.14 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 185.9 (d, $J_{C-F} = 3.2$ Hz), 162.1 (d, $J_{C-F} = 253.0$ Hz), 160.7 (s), 142.4 (s), 131.7 (d, 2C), 129.7 (d, $J_{C-F} = 8.3$ Hz), 129.1 (d), 128.5 (d, 2C), 122.8 (d, $J_{C-F} = 3.6$ Hz), 122.4 (s), 117.4 (d, $J_{C-F} = 21.5$ Hz), 110.2 (d, $J_{C-F} = 17.9$ Hz), 99.1 (d, $J_{C-F} = 3.7$ Hz), 80.0 (s), 61.8 (t), 14.0 (q); ¹⁹F NMR (283 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) -109.2 (s); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 3059.81$, 2983.34, 2937.48, 2907.06, 2219.76, 2132.30, 1722.46, 1698.45, 1633.71, 1567.98, 1494.13, 1458.49, 1443.87, 1393.42, 1370.09, 1301.97, 1279.36, 1251.35, 1201.76, 1171.38, 1124.40, 1069.81, 1020.55, 916.44, 873.06, 796.20, 752.43, 689.77 cm⁻¹; HRMS (EI) (m/z) C₁₉H₁₃FN₂O₃ calcd for 336.0910, found 336.0914.



Ethyl 2-diazo-3-(4-fluoro-2-(phenylethynyl)phenyl)-3-oxopropanoate (1c)

Yield: 2.76 g, 82%; Yellow solid; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/10); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 7.19 – 7.07 (comp, 3H), 7.08 – 6.97 (comp, 3H), 6.96 – 6.88 (m, 1H), 6.82 – 6.72 (m, 1H), 3.84 (q, J = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 0.79 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 186.1 (s), 163.4 (d, $J_{C-F} = 251.6$ Hz), 160.9 (s), 136.8 (d, $J_{C-F} = 3.4$ Hz), 131.6 (d, 2C), 129.7 (d, J = 9.4 Hz), 129.0 (d), 128.5 (d, 2C), 123.6 (d, $J_{C-F} = 10.3$ Hz), 122.1 (s), 118.8 (d, $J_{C-F} = 23.5$ Hz), 115.69 (d, $J_{C-F} = 22.0$ Hz), 95.0 (s), 85.6 (d, $J_{C-F} = 3.0$ Hz), 61.7 (t), 14.0 (q); ¹⁹F NMR (283 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) -109.0 (s); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 3072.48$, 2981.52, 2906.23, 2214.23, 2140.80, 1714.27, 1617.39, 1600.26, 1568.91, 1495.86, 1476.52, 1442.14, 1412.62, 1396.27, 1371.69,

1317.72, 1273.03, 1244.09, 1207.52, 1171.56, 1137.94, 1118.10, 1083.75, 1072.90, 1020.67, 965.48, 956.73, 932.32, 875.27, 840.36, 818.56, 761.87, 739.33, 700.82, 691.07, 630.08, 610.73 cm⁻¹; HRMS (EI) (m/z) C₁₉H₁₃FN₂O₃ calcd for 336.0910, found 336.0905.



Ethyl 2-diazo-3-(5-fluoro-2-(phenylethynyl)phenyl)-3-oxopropanoate (1d)

Yield: 2.93 g, 87%; White solid; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/10); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 7.59 – 7.51 (m, 1H), 7.50 – 7.43 (comp, 2H), 7.41 – 7.29 (comp, 3H), 7.26 – 7.05 (m, 2H), 4.18 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 1.13 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 185.8 (d, $J_{C-F} = 2.0$ Hz), 162.0 (d, $J_{C-F} = 251.7$ Hz), 160.7 (s), 142.5 (d, $J_{C-F} = 7.3$ Hz), 134.0 (d, $J_{C-F} = 8.1$ Hz), 131.5 (d, 2C), 128.8 (d), 128.4 (d, 2C), 122.50 (s), 117.6 (d, $J_{C-F} = 22.0$ Hz), 117.3 (d, $J_{C-F} = 3.7$ Hz), 114.6 (d, $J_{C-F} = 24.1$ Hz), 93.7 (d, $J_{C-F} = 1.6$ Hz), 85.6 (s), 61.8 (t), 14.0 (q); ¹⁹F NMR (283 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) -109.9 (s); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 3650.81$, 3434.28, 3066.05, 2983.77, 2938.49, 2906.60, 2871.97, 2559.77, 2398.52, 2219.50, 2124.79, 1971.78, 1892.01, 1717.69, 1627.36, 1604.34, 1575.27, 1493.80, 1478.05, 1443.41, 1416.06, 1368.83, 1279.78, 1209.15, 1118.28, 1086.48, 1016.56, 979.13, 915.98, 866.59, 825.03, 805.41, 752.93, 689.20, 672.86, 617.34 cm⁻¹; HRMS (EI) (m/z) C₁₉H₁₃FN₂O₃ calcd for 336.0910, found 336.0925.



Ethyl 2-diazo-3-(2-fluoro-6-(phenylethynyl)phenyl)-3-oxopropanoate (1e)

Yield: 2.52 mg, 75%; Yellow solid; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/10); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 7.50 – 7.42 (comp, 2H), 7.42 – 7.29 (comp, 5H), 7.14 – 7.04 (m, 1H), 4.17 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 1.13 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 182.9 (d, $J_{C-F} = 1.3$ Hz), 160.4 (s), 157.1 (s), 131.7 (d, 2C), 131.2 (d, $J_{C-F} = 9.1$ Hz), 129.0 (d), 128.5 (d, 2C), 128.0 (d, $J_{C-F} = 3.2$ Hz), 122.7 (d, $J_{C-F} = 4.9$ Hz), 122.4 (s), 115.8 (d, $J_{C-F} = 21.5$ Hz), 94.4 (s), 85.4 (d, $J_{C-F} = 4.0$ Hz), 61.8 (t), 14.0 (q); ¹⁹F NMR (283 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) -115.68 (s); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 3079.05$, 2983.48, 2937.61, 2213.06, 2135.61, 1955.72, 1700.86, 1627.36, 1604.58, 1562.01, 1492.30, 1458.91, 1394.53, 1367.82, 1238.09, 1113.77, 1065.16, 1011.16, 975.74, 929.95, 829.39, 794.13, 751.97, 689.72 cm⁻¹; HRMS (EI) (m/z) C₁₉H₁₃FN₂O₃ calcd for 336.0910, found 336.0928.



Ethyl 2-diazo-3-(5-methyl-2-(phenylethynyl)phenyl)-3-oxopropanoate (1f)

Yield: 2.69 g, 81%; Yellow solid; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/10); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 7.57 – 7.47 (comp, 2H), 7.47 – 7.31 (comp, 5H), 7.29 – 7.21 (m, 1H), 4.21 (q, J = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 2.42 (s, 3H), 1.16 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 187.1 (s), 161.0 (s), 140.9 (s), 137.7 (s), 132.6 (d), 131.5 (d, 2C), 129.2 (d), 128.6 (d), 128.4 (d, 2C), 127.5 (d), 122.8 (s), 121.1 (s), 93.6 (s), 86.9 (s), 61.6 (t), 21.2 (q), 14.0 (q); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 3059$, 2982, 2926, 2872, 2139, 1726, 1695, 1629, 1600, 1496, 1443, 1396, 1370, 1307, 1280, 1252, 1208, 1177, 1124, 1096, 1015, 944, 921, 827, 758, 691, 627 cm⁻¹; HRMS (EI) [M-2N] C₂₀H₁₆O₃ calcd for 304.1099, found 304.1124.



Ethyl 2-diazo-3-(5-methoxy-2-(phenylethynyl)phenyl)-3-oxopropanoate (1g)

Yield: 2.75 g, 79%; Yellow solid; $R_f = 0.5$ (EA/PE = 1/5); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 7.55 – 7.43 (comp, 3H), 7.41 – 7.29 (comp, 3H), 7.05 – 6.96 (m, 2H), 4.21 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 3.86 (s, 3H), 1.15 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 186.9 (s), 160.9 (s), 159.5 (s), 141.9 (s), 133.5 (d), 131.3 (d, 2C), 128.38 (d, 2C), 128.35 (d), 123.0 (s), 116.6 (d), 113.2 (s), 112.4 (d), 92.7 (s), 86.6 (s), 61.7 (t), 55.5 (q), 14.0 (q); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 3073.31$, 2982.93, 2938.26, 2842.27, 2128.61, 1717.45, 1618.59, 1593.61, 1497.69, 1464.34, 1450.93, 1415.10, 1393.06, 1371.08, 1325.34, 1298.23, 1275.90, 1248.11, 1233.20, 1188.56, 1169.28, 1138.04, 1087.69, 1019.59, 983.29, 909.08, 881.57, 867.45, 833.49, 792.25, 762.12, 747.97, 716.38, 683.57, 669.76, 624.81 cm⁻¹; HRMS (EI) (*m*/*z*) C₂₀H₁₆N₂O₃ calcd for 348.1110, found 348.1105.



Ethyl 2-diazo-3-oxo-3-(2-(p-tolylethynyl)phenyl)propanoate (1h)

Yield: 2.69 g, 81%; Yellow solid; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/10); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 7.57 – 7.51 (m, 1H), 7.48 – 7.32 (comp, 5H), 7.21 – 7.12 (m, 2H), 4.15 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 2.36 (s, 3H), 1.10 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 187.4 (s), 161.0 (s), 140.6 (s), 139.0 (s), 132.0 (d), 131.5 (d, 2C), 130.4 (d), 129.2 (d, 2C), 128.2 (d), 127.2 (d), 121.3 (s), 119.7 (s), 94.4 (s), 86.1 (s), 61.7 (t), 21.6 (q), 14.0 (q); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 2990$, 2213, 2139, 1721, 1617, 1591, 1510, 1474, 1445, 1387, 1366, 1320, 1281, 1244, 1176, 1134, 1118, 1093, 1041, 1018, 950, 937, 819, 776, 750, 738, 706, 675, 646 cm⁻¹; HRMS (EI) (*m*/*z*) C₂₀H₁₆N₂O₃ calcd for 332.1161, found 332.1147.



Ethyl 2-diazo-3-oxo-3-(2-(m-tolylethynyl)phenyl)propanoate (1i)

Yield: 2.66 g, 80%; Yellow solid; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/10); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 7.58 – 7.53 (m, 1H), 7.49 – 7.39 (comp, 3H), 7.31 – 7.23 (comp, 3H), 7.19 – 7.13 (m, 1H), 4.17 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 2.36 (s, 3H), 1.11 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 187.4 (s), 161.1 (s), 140.8 (s), 138.3 (s), 132.3 (d), 132.2 (d), 130.6 (d), 129.8 (d), 128.8 (d), 128.5 (d), 128.4 (d), 127.3 (d), 122.6 (s), 121.3 (s), 94.5 (s), 86.5 (s), 61.8 (t), 21.4 (q), 14.1 (q); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 3062$, 2983, 2925, 2139, 1727, 1696, 1633, 1600, 1489, 1445, 1394, 1370, 1305, 1250, 1176, 1121, 1095, 1015, 936, 877, 830, 784, 755, 690, 656 cm⁻¹; HRMS (EI) (*m*/*z*) C₂₀H₁₆N₂O₃ calcd for 332.1161, found332.1185.



Ethyl 2-diazo-3-oxo-3-(2-(o-tolylethynyl)phenyl)propanoate (1j)

Yield: 2.36 g, 71%; Yellow solid; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/10); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 7.64 – 7.56 (m, 1H), 7.55 – 7.32 (comp, 4H), 7.31 – 7.16 (comp, 3H), 4.18 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 2.50 (s, 3H), 1.13 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 187.4 (s), 160.8 (s), 140.5 (s), 140.1 (s), 132.2 (d), 132.1 (d), 130.3 (d), 129.6 (d), 128.8 (d), 128.2 (d), 126.9 (d), 125.7 (d), 122.6 (s), 121.2 (s), 93.0 (s), 90.5 (s), 61.7 (t), 20.5 (q), 14.0 (q), 0.2 (d); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 3062, 3022, 2983, 2908, 2213, 2141, 1726, 1696, 1634, 1593, 1491, 1445, 1370, 1320, 1249, 1176, 1124, 1092, 1015, 936, 863, 828, 757, 715, 691, 656 cm⁻¹; HRMS (EI) ($ *m*/*z*) C₂₀H₁₆N₂O₃ calcd for 332.1161, found 332.1144.



Ethyl 3-(2-((4-chlorophenyl)ethynyl)phenyl)-2-diazo-3-oxopropanoate (11)

Yield: 2.19 g, 62%; Yellow solid; $R_f = 0.3$ (EA/PE = 1/10); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 7.59 – 7.53 (m, 1H), 7.50 – 7.37 (comp, 5H), 7.37 – 7.28 (comp, 2H), 4.17 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 1.12 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 187.1 (s), 161.0 (s), 140.6 (s), 134.8 (s), 132.8 (d, 2C), 132.1 (d), 130.5 (d), 128.8 (d, 2C), 128.5 (d), 127.3 (d), 121.2 (s), 120.7 (s), 92.8 (s), 87.7 (s), 61.7 (t), 14.0 (q); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 2988.97$, 2138.39, 1719.99, 1674.22, 1618.43, 1593.12, 1490.71, 1474.45, 1444.13, 1395.23, 1365.60, 1318.08, 1279.98, 1244.68, 1176.52, 1162.65, 1134.05, 1117.31, 1087.03, 1067.48, 1041.83, 1013.85, 938.34, 867.59, 854.24, 827.90, 778.35, 767.79, 754.01, 736.84, 717.39, 706.60, 695.43, 659.83, 648.09 cm⁻¹; HRMS (EI) (m/z) C₁₉H₁₃ClN₂O₃ calcd for 352.0615, found 352.0589.



Ethyl 2-diazo-3-(2-(naphthalen-1-ylethynyl)phenyl)-3-oxopropanoate (1m)

Yield: 2.76 g, 75%; Yellow liquid; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/10); ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 8.32 (d, J = 8.3 Hz, 1H), 7.95 – 7.83 (comp, 2H), 7.79 – 7.68 (comp, 2H), 7.65 – 7.59 (m, 1H), 7.59 – 7.42 (comp, 5H), 4.14 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 1.06 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 187.6 (s), 160.8 (s), 140.7 (s), 133.3 (s), 133.3 (s), 132.3 (d), 130.7 (d), 130.5 (d), 129.3 (d), 128.5 (d), 128.4 (d), 127.1 (d, 2C), 126.6 (d), 126.1 (d), 125.4 (d), 121.2 (s), 120.5 (s), 92.3 (s), 91.6 (s), 61.7 (s), 14.0 (s); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 3059$, 2982, 2936, 2905, 2140, 1725, 1696, 1632, 1593, 1507, 1479, 1444, 1396, 1369, 1301, 1256, 1173, 1123, 1098, 1012, 934, 863, 801, 773, 754, 681, 654 cm⁻¹; HRMS (EI) (m/z) C₃₂H₁₆O₃ calcd for 340.1099, found 340.1193.



Ethyl 2-diazo-3-(2-(naphthalen-2-ylethynyl)phenyl)-3-oxopropanoate (1n)

Yield: 2.58 g, 70%; Yellow solid; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/10); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 7.99 (s, 1H), 7.87 – 7.75 (comp, 3H), 7.64 – 7.58 (m, 1H), 7.54 – 7.39 (comp, 6H), 4.17 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 1.10 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 187.3 (s), 161.0 (s), 140.7 (s), 133.0 (s), 133.0 (s), 132.2 (d), 131.7 (d), 130.5 (d), 128.4 (d), 128.20 (d), 128.16 (d), 127.91 (d), 127.86 (d), 127.3 (d), 127.0 (d), 126.8 (d), 121.2 (s), 120.0 (s), 94.5 (s), 87.1 (s), 61.8 (t), 14.1 (q); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 3058$, 2982, 2936, 2904, 2139, 1725, 1694, 1631, 1597, 1502, 1476, 1443, 1393, 1369, 1304, 1250, 1173, 1115, 1090, 1015, 955, 933, 894, 859, 817, 747, 671, 647 cm⁻¹; HRMS (EI) (m/z) C₃₂H₁₆O₃ calcd for 340.1099, found 340.1231.



Ethyl 2-diazo-3-oxo-3-(2-(thiophen-3-ylethynyl)phenyl)propanoate (10)

Yield: 2.59 g, 80%; Brown liquid; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/10); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 7.54 – 7.50 (m, 1H), 7.50 – 7.47 (m, 1H), 7.47 – 7.38 (comp, 3H), 7.29 (dd, J = 5.0, 3.0 Hz, 1H), 7.12 (dd, J = 5.0, 1.1 Hz, 1H), 4.15 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 1.09 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 187.3 (s), 161.1 (s), 140.6 (s), 132.0 (d), 130.5 (d), 129.8 (d), 129.3 (d), 128.3 (d), 127.3 (d), 125.7 (d), 121.8 (s), 121.1 (s), 89.3 (s), 86.3 (s), 61.8 (t), 14.0 (q); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 3107, 3063, 2982, 2937, 2905, 2871, 2209, 2138, 1721, 1694, 1628, 1593, 1562, 1523, 1475, 1445, 1393, 1369, 1296, 1247, 1205, 1174, 1122, 1094, 1039, 1014, 932, 870, 836, 780, 755, 698, 662, 624 cm⁻¹; HRMS (EI) (<math>m/z$) C₁₇H₁₂N₂O₃S calcd for 324.0569, found 324.0537.



Ethyl 3-(2-(cyclohex-1-en-1-ylethynyl)phenyl)-2-diazo-3-oxopropanoate (1p) Yield: 2.29 g, 71%; Brown liquid; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/10); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 7.44 – 7.31 (comp, 4H), 6.22 – 6.12 (m, 1H), 4.16 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 2.19 – 2.08 (comp, 4H), 1.72 – 1.57 (comp, 4H), 1.13 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 187.5 (s), 161.1 (s), 140.5 (s), 136.1 (d), 131.8 (d), 130.4 (d), 127.8 (d), 127.1 (d), 121.7 (s), 120.5 (s), 96.2 (s), 84.1 (s), 61.7 (t), 29.0 (t), 25.9 (t), 22.3 (t), 21.5 (t), 14.1 (q); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 3294.50$, 3061.78, 2981.27, 2933.56, 2860.77, 2199.56, 2132.60, 1719.58, 1697.89, 1626.39, 1592.91, 1561.87, 1476.95, 1444.55, 1394.04, 1368.46, 1292.01, 1174.93, 1116.71, 1013.66, 933.26, 841.90, 798.58, 752.83, 700.84, 660.04 cm⁻¹; HRMS (EI) (*m*/*z*) C₁₉H₁₈N₂O₃ calcd for 322.1317, found 322.1303.



Ethyl 3-(2-(cyclopropylethynyl)phenyl)-2-diazo-3-oxopropanoate (1q)

Yield: 2.03 g, 72%; Green liquid; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/10); ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 7.39 – 7.30 (comp, 2H), 7.30 – 7.25 (comp, 2H), 4.14 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 1.46 – 1.30 (m, 1H), 1.12 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H), 0.87 – 0.80 (m, 2H), 0.74 – 0.65 (m, 2H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 187.4 (s), 160.9 (s), 140.7 (s), 132.0 (d), 130.2 (d), 127.4 (d), 126.8 (d), 121.7 (s), 98.6 (s), 72.9 (s), 61.6 (d), 14.0 (q), 8.8 (t, 2C), 0.2 (d); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 3300$, 3092, 3064, 2984, 2938, 2907, 2871, 2230, 2139, 1729, 1697, 1633, 1595, 1563, 1478, 1445, 1393, 1370, 1307, 1263, 1175, 1115, 1054, 1016, 954, 934, 839, 814, 757, 689, 652 cm⁻¹; HRMS (EI) (*m*/*z*) C₁₆H₁₄N₂O₃ calcd for 282.1004, found 282.1015.



Ethyl 2-diazo-3-(2-(3-methylbut-1-yn-1-yl)phenyl)-3-oxopropanoate (1r)

Yield: 1.82 g, 64%; Green liquid; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/10); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 7.40 – 7.33 (comp, 2H), 7.32 – 7.29 (comp, 2H), 4.15 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 2.72 (hept, J = 6.9 Hz, 1H), 1.19 (d, J = 6.9 Hz, 6H), 1.12 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 187.7 (s), 161.1 (s), 140.9 (s), 131.8 (d), 130.2 (d), 127.7 (d), 126.8 (d), 121.7 (s), 100.8 (s), 77.2 (s), 61.6 (t), 22.8 (q, 2C), 21.2 (d), 14.0 (q); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 3399$, 3064, 2986, 2938, 2145, 1726, 1630, 1478, 1445, 1371, 1305, 1250, 1175, 1151, 1126, 1097, 1013, 935, 858, 757, 680 cm⁻¹; HRMS (EI) (*m*/*z*) C₁₆H₁₆N₂O₃ calcd for 284.1161, found 284.1136.



Ethyl 2-diazo-3-(2-(non-1-yn-1-yl)phenyl)-3-oxopropanoate (1s)

Yield: 2.83 g, 83%; Green liquid; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/10); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 7.43 – 7.33 (comp, 2H), 7.33 – 7.28 (comp, 2H), 4.16 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 2.36 (t, J = 7.0 Hz, 2H), 1.59 – 1.48 (m, 2H), 1.44 – 1.35 (m, 2H), 1.33 – 1.25 (comp, 6H), 1.13 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H), 0.88 (t, J = 6.9 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 187.7 (s), 161.0 (s), 140.8 (s), 132.1 (d), 130.2 (d), 127.5 (d), 126.8 (d), 121.8 (s), 95.6 (s), 77.9 (s), 61.6 (t), 31.8 (t), 28.92 (t), 28.91 (t), 28.7 (t), 22.7 (t), 19.6 (t), 14.1 (q); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 3064$, 2930, 2857, 2230, 2138, 1730, 1698, 1635, 1595, 1466, 1445, 1395, 1370, 1305, 1261, 1176, 1121, 1099, 1016, 934, 829, 755, 695, 654 cm⁻¹; HRMS (EI) [M-2N] C₂₀H₂₄O₃ calcd for 312.1725, found 312.1763.



Ethyl 2-diazo-3-(2-(5-methylhex-1-yn-1-yl)phenyl)-3-oxopropanoate (1t)

Yield: 2.53 g, 81%; Green liquid; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/10); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 7.50 – 7.13 (comp, 4H), 4.12 (qd, J = 7.1, 3.6 Hz, 2H), 2.35 (td, J = 7.3, 2.8 Hz, 2H), 1.67 (dpd, J = 13.4, 6.6, 2.5 Hz, 1H), 1.41 (qd, J = 7.3, 2.8 Hz, 2H), 1.09 (td, J = 7.1, 3.6 Hz, 3H), 0.88 (dd, J = 6.6, 2.5 Hz, 6H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 187.2 (s), 160.6 (s), 140.6 (s), 131.7 (d), 129.9 (d), 127.3 (d), 126.5 (d), 121.5 (s), 95.2 (s), 77.7 (s), 61.3 (t), 37.2 (t), 26.9 (d), 21.9 (q), 17.3 (t), 13.8 (q); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 3063.99$, 2957.39, 2933.11, 2869.85, 2230.16, 2138.16, 1729.88, 1697.69, 1634.61, 1594.79, 1563.45, 1467.96, 1444.62, 1385.96, 1369.37, 1304.17,

1238.23, 1174.66, 1120.74, 1099.22, 1042.93, 1014.90, 933.17, 868.66, 828.07, 755.20, 695.59, 654.52 cm⁻¹; HRMS (EI) [M-2H] $C_{18}H_{20}O_3$ calcd for 284.1412, found 284.1407.



Compound **2**: Yield: 59.8 mg, 80%; white solid, mp 175.0 – 177.0 °C; $R_f = 0.2$ (EA/PE = 1/10); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 11.49 (s, 1H), 9.50 – 9.21 (m, 1H), 8.69 – 8.60 (m, 1H), 8.56 – 8.46 (m, 1H), 8.11 – 7.97 (m, 1H), 7.90 – 7.80 (m, 1H), 7.73 – 7.65 (m, 1H), 7.63 – 7.53 (m, 2H), 4.41 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 1.87 (s, 9H), 1.22 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 172.1 (s), 163.8 (s), 159.6 (s), 135.3 (s), 135.2 (s), 133.6 (s), 130.3 (d), 129.3 (d), 127.5 (d), 127.0 (d), 126.7 (d), 125.9 (s), 125.31 (d), 125.29 (s), 125.0 (d), 123.9 (d), 118.4 (s), 101.8 (s), 61.9 (t), 40.5 (s), 31.5 (3C, q), 14.0 (q); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 2912.37$, 2856.24, 2251.85, 2229.36, 2218.45, 1454.10, 1346.40, 1316.55, 1186.42, 1101.13, 1082.72, 976.95, 934.22, 812.63, 772.09, 692.99 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) [M+H]⁺ C₂₄H₂₄NO₃⁺ calcd for 374.1751, found 374.1751.



Compound **3**: Yield: 73.2 mg, 81%; white solid, mp 175.0 – 177.0 °C; $R_f = 0.2$ (EA/PE = 1/10); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 11.41 (s, 1H), 9.38 – 9.27 (m, 1H), 8.87 – 8.77 (m, 1H), 8.52 – 8.41 (m, 1H), 8.04 – 7.96 (m, 1H), 7.84 (ddd, J = 8.2, 7.0, 1.2 Hz, 1H), 7.69 (ddd, J = 8.2, 7.0, 1.2 Hz, 1H), 7.60 – 7.52 (comp, 2H), 4.38 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 2.59 (d, J = 2.4 Hz, 6H), 2.28 (br, 3H), 2.01 – 1.90 (m, 6H), 1.19 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 172.2 (s), 163.3 (s), 159.6 (s), 135.5 (s), 135.4 (s), 133.7 (s), 130.3 (d), 129.4 (d), 127.6 (d), 126.8 (d), 126.6 (d), 125.6 (s), 125.5 (s), 125.1 (d), 125.1 (d), 124.0 (d), 118.25 (s), 101.9 (s), 61.7 (t), 43.3 (s), 42.5 (t, 3C), 37.4 (t, 3C), 29.5 (d, 3C), 14.0 (q); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 2912.37$, 2856.24, 2251.85, 2229.36, 2218.45, 1454.10, 1346.40, 1316.55, 1186.42, 1101.13, 1082.72, 976.95, 934.22, 812.63, 772.09, 692.99 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) [M+H]⁺

 $C_{30}H_{30}NO_3^+$ calcd for 452.2220, found 452.2213.



Compound 4: Yield: 81.7 mg, 87%; white solid, mp 236.0 – 238.0 °C; $R_f = 0.3$ (EA/PE = 1/10); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 11.37 (s, 1H), 9.25 – 9.10 (m, 1H), 8.90 – 8.77 (m, 1H), 8.07 – 7.97 (m, 1H), 7.79 – 7.70 (m, 1H), 7.63 – 7.53 (comp, 2H), 7.37 – 7.28 (m, 1H), 4.39 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 2.57 (d, J = 2.6 Hz, 6H), 2.27 (br, 3H), 2.03 – 1.88 (m, 6H), 1.19 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 171.7 (s), 163.8 (s), 160.5 (d, $J_{C-F} = 258.9$ Hz), 158.3 (d, $J_{C-F} = 3.6$ Hz), 137.8 (d, $J_{C-F} = 1.9$ Hz), 134.7 (d, $J_{C-F} = 3.2$ Hz), 133.4 (s), 130.6 (d, $J_{C-F} = 1.1$ Hz), 130.4 (s), 129.1 (s), 127.0 (d), 126.9 (d), 125.7 (s), 125.6 (d), 121.3 (d, $J_{C-F} = 4.0$ Hz), 118.9 (s), 115.0 (d, $J_{C-F} = 8.5$ Hz), 114.1 (d, $J_{C-F} = 22.0$ Hz), 103.4 (s), 61.9 (t), 43.4 (s), 42.5 (t, 3C), 37.4 (t, 3C), 29.4 (d, 3C), 14.0 (q); ¹⁹F NMR (283 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) -111.59 (s); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 2902.30, 2846.51, 1738.62, 1645.37, 1621.38, 1586.34,$ 1514.96, 1453.83, 1410.93, 1394.80, 1372.13, 1343.42, 1302.82, 1263.07, 1240.10, 1214.90, 1182.11, 1167.77, 1131.42, 1108.93, 1049.69, 1028.51, 999.33, 968.80, 937.35, 899.89, 840.96, 820.60, 793.80, 772.42, 760.32, 731.43, 684.32, 673.31, 656.42, 641.86 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) [M+H]⁺ C₃₀H₂₉FNO₃⁺ calcd for 470.2126, found 470.2120.



Compound 5: Yield: 64.8 mg, 69%; white solid, mp 160.0 – 162.0 °C; $R_f = 0.3$ (EA/PE = 1/10); ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 11.27 (s, 1H), 9.37 – 9.25 (m, 1H), 8.86 – 8.77 (m, 1H), 8.15 – 8.01 (m, 1H), 8.02 – 7.91 (m, 1H), 7.61 – 7.51 (comp, 3H), 4.39 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 2.58 – 2.56 (m, 6H), 2.27 (br, 3H), 1.99 – 1.90 (m, 6H), 1.20 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (125 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 172.0 (s), 163.8 (s), 162.3 (d, $J_{C-F} = 247.5$ Hz), 158.4 (d, $J_{C-F} = 4.0$ Hz), 135.1 (s), 133.6 (s), 132.1 (s), 129.2 (d), 127.9 (d, $J_{C-F} = 8.6$ Hz), 126.9 (d, $J_{C-F} = 9.3$ Hz), 126.9 (d), 126.8 (d), 125.4

(s), 125.2 (d), 119.3 (d, $J_{C-F} = 23.7$ Hz), 117.6 (d, $J_{C-F} = 1.3$ Hz), 108.7 (d, $J_{C-F} = 23.1$ Hz), 103.0 (s), 61.9 (t), 43.3 (s), 42.4 (t, 3C), 37.4 (t, 3C), 29.4 (d, 3C), 14.0 (q); ¹⁹F NMR (471 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) -112.55 (s); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 2922.51$, 2854.60, 2229.34, 1648.86, 1595.00, 1518.35, 1504.96, 1453.63, 1401.68, 1373.18, 1345.27, 1313.37, 1262.92, 1228.14, 1210.91, 1184.61, 1158.60, 1095.22, 1029.94, 996.67, 976.15, 879.06, 858.25, 842.96, 813.50, 771.56, 737.27, 713.03, 697.81, 674.66, 613.67 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) [M+H]⁺ C₃₀H₂₉FNO₃⁺ calcd for 470.2126, found 470.2119.



Compound 6: Yield: 77.9 mg, 83%; white solid, mp 181.0 – 183.0 °C; $R_f = 0.3$ (EA/PE = 1/10); ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 11.46 (s, 1H), 8.91 – 8.86 (m, 1H), 8.84 - 8.80 (m, 1H), 8.52 - 8.42 (m, 1H), 8.04 - 7.95 (m, 1H), 7.61 - 7.56 (comp, 2H), 7.43 – 7.37 (m, 1H), 4.38 (q, J = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 2.58 – 2.53 (m, 6H), 2.27 (br, 3H), 1.99 - 1.90 (m, 6H), 1.19 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (125 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 172.1 (s), 164.2 (d, $J_{C-F} = 249.9$ Hz), 161.4 (d, $J_{C-F} = 533.2$ Hz), 137.9 (d, $J_{C-F} = 9.4$ Hz), 134.7 (d, $J_{C-F} = 4.4$ Hz), 133.6 (s), 129.5 (d), 127.0 (d, $J_{C-F} = 9.3$ Hz), 126.9 (d), 126.8 (d), 125.8 (s), 125.5 (d), 122.3 (d, $J_{C-F} = 1.5$ Hz), 119.2 (s), 116.7 (d, $J_{C-F} = 24.5$ Hz), 109.9 (d, $J_{C-F} = 23.2$ Hz), 101.3 (d, $J_{C-F} = 1.7$ Hz), 61.8 (t), 43.3 (s), 42.4 (t, 3C), 37.4 (t, 3C), 29.4 (d, 3C), 14.0 (q); ¹⁹F NMR (471 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) -107.87 (s); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 3079.22, 2907.95, 2855.62, 2659.67, 2252.37, 2229.95, 2219.40,$ 1739.03, 1657.82, 1621.53, 1587.27, 1499.69, 1453.69, 1401.70, 1368.42, 1345.35, 1329.76, 1309.21, 1294.65, 1260.85, 1226.07, 1182.44, 1144.81, 1098.21, 1024.83, 997.15, 976.74, 956.44, 896.77, 853.96, 834.23, 821.02, 809.69, 765.71, 740.69, 695.98, 682.44, 652.60, 609.02 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) [M+H]⁺ C₃₀H₂₉FNO₃⁺ calcd for 470.2126, found 470.2119.



Compound 7: Yield: 66.7 mg, 71%; white solid, mp 98.0 – 99.0 °C; $R_f = 0.3$ (EA/PE =

1/10); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 11.45 (s, 1H), 8.90 – 8.79 (m, 1H), 8.37 (d, *J* = 7.9 Hz, 1H), 8.05 – 7.93 (m, 1H), 7.67 – 7.49 (m, 4H), 4.39 (q, *J* = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 2.59 (d, *J* = 1.4 Hz, 6H), 2.28 (br, 3H), 1.97 (q, *J* = 12.3 Hz, 6H), 1.20 (t, *J* = 7.1 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 172.0 (s), 163.2 (d, *J*_{C-F} = 1.4 Hz), 160.8 (d, *J*_{C-F} = 261.9 Hz), 158.7 (d, *J*_{C-F} = 3.7 Hz), 135.0 (d, *J*_{C-F} = 8.9 Hz), 133.3 (s), 129.5 (d), 128.2 (d, *J*_{C-F} = 3.3 Hz), 127.8 (d, *J*_{C-F} = 6.2 Hz), 126.6 (d, *J* = 3.9 Hz), 125.5 (d), 124.7 (d, *J*_{C-F} = 2.0 Hz), 123.6 (d, *J*_{C-F} = 6.2 Hz), 120.2 (d, *J*_{C-F} = 4.5 Hz), 118.8 (d, *J*_{C-F} = 0.7 Hz), 118.0 (d, *J* = 22.6 Hz), 102.6 (d, *J*_{C-F} = 0.8 Hz), 61.9 (t), 43.3 (d, *J*_{C-F} = 1.8 Hz), 42.4 (t, 3C), 37.4 (t, 3C), 29.5 (d, 3C), 14.0 (q); ¹⁹F NMR (283 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) -106.80 (s); IR (reflection) \tilde{v} = 2898.12, 2843.82, 1726.61, 1645.90, 1584.46, 1518.47, 1497.84, 1452.24, 1406.98, 1373.15, 1310.25, 1264.54, 1209.18, 1181.96, 1157.24, 1102.33, 1088.94, 1029.21, 986.17, 928.54, 909.87, 887.04, 868.34, 819.63, 796.90, 774.30, 754.47, 734.32, 718.50, 696.33, 673.96, 656.55 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) [M+H]⁺ C₃₀H₂₉FNO₃⁺ calcd for 470.2126, found 470.2122.



Compound **8**: Yield: 81.9 mg, 85%; white solid, mp 187.0 – 188.0 °C; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/10); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 11.35 (s, 1H), 9.22 (d, J = 9.0 Hz, 1H), 8.81 (dd, J = 6.9, 2.6 Hz, 1H), 8.03 – 7.93 (m, 1H), 7.80 (d, J = 2.6 Hz, 1H), 7.59 – 7.49 (comp, 2H), 7.45 (dd, J = 9.0, 2.6 Hz, 1H), 4.39 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 4.01 (s, 3H), 2.58 (d, J = 1.8 Hz, 6H), 2.27 (s, 3H), 2.02 – 1.88 (m, 6H), 1.20 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 172.3 (s), 163.4 (s), 159.4 (s), 158.7 (s), 135.5 (s), 133.8 (s), 130.0 (s), 129.2 (d), 127.0 (d), 126.8 (d), 126.6 (d), 125.1 (s), 124.7 (d), 121.3 (d), 116.7 (s), 103.5 (d), 102.5 (s), 61.8 (t), 55.7 (q), 43.3 (s), 42.5 (t, 3C), 37.4 (t, 3C), 29.5 (d, 3C), 14.0 (q); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 2901.49$, 2848.46, 1655.58, 1619.66, 1585.69, 1518.10, 1503.58, 1433.60, 1415.75, 1402.88, 1371.20, 1312.40, 1272.37, 1227.59, 1203.38, 1179.90, 1132.53, 1097.92, 1077.13, 1029.53, 997.28, 973.00, 936.32, 920.34, 882.96, 854.97, 833.41, 797.74, 758.55, 734.67, 714.55, 697.34, 675.42, 657.65, 616.06 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) [M+H]⁺ C₃₁H₃₂NO₄⁺ calcd for 482.2326, found 482.2320.



Compound **9**: Yield: 57.3 mg, 71%; white solid, mp 131.0 – 133.0 °C; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/10); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 11.41 (s, 1H), 9.21 (d, J = 9.0 Hz, 1H), 8.69 – 8.52 (m, 1H), 8.06 – 7.95 (m, 1H), 7.76 (d, J = 2.6 Hz, 1H), 7.62 – 7.51 (comp, 2H), 7.44 (dd, J = 9.0, 2.6 Hz, 1H), 4.43 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 3.94 (s, 3H), 1.86 (s, 9H), 1.23 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 172.2 (s), 163.8 (s), 159.9 (s), 158.6 (s), 135.9 (s), 133.6 (s), 129.8 (s), 129.0 (d), 127.0 (d), 126.8 (d), 126.7 (s), 126.6 (d), 124.9 (d), 124.8 (s), 121.2 (d), 116.7 (s), 103.2 (d), 102.4 (s), 61.7 (t), 55.5 (q), 40.5 (s), 31.4 (3C, q), 13.9 (q); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 2976$, 2928, 1654, 1587, 1520, 1438, 1395, 1373, 1313, 1277, 1237, 1217, 1184, 1162, 1142, 1099, 1031, 993, 851, 831, 804, 769, 757, 740, 722, 699, 680 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) [M+H]⁺ C₂₅H₂₆NO₄⁺ calcd for 404.1857, found 404.1857.



Compound **10**: Yield: 79.2 mg, 85%; white solid, mp 172.0 – 175.0 °C; $R_f = 0.3$ (EA/PE = 1/10); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 11.38 (s, 1H), 9.31 (d, J = 7.8 Hz, 1H), 8.60 (s, 1H), 8.47 (dd, J = 8.2, 0.7 Hz, 1H), 7.90 (d, J = 8.6 Hz, 1H), 7.83 (ddd, J = 8.2, 7.0, 1.3 Hz, 1H), 7.67 (ddd, J = 8.2, 7.0, 1.3 Hz, 1H), 7.41 (dd, J = 8.6, 1.3 Hz, 1H), 4.39 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 2.62 (s, 3H), 2.60 (d, J = 2.4 Hz, 6H), 2.29 (br, 3H), 2.02 – 1.91 (m, 6H), 1.22 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 172.3 (s), 162.8 (s), 159.4 (s), 135.5 (s), 134.9 (s), 134.7 (s), 131.7 (s), 130.3 (d), 129.3 (d), 128.5 (d), 127.3 (d), 126.2 (d), 125.7 (s), 125.4 (s), 125.0 (d), 123.9 (d), 14.1 (q); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 2901.64$, 2848.57, 1653.97, 1617.83, 1584.67, 1521.22, 1496.95, 1444.54, 1400.70, 1371.16, 1334.24, 1309.55, 1263.14, 1230.41, 1205.33, 1154.43, 1097.69, 1020.66, 998.68, 970.07, 939.71, 906.30, 883.28, 861.98, 833.91, 819.46, 800.65, 767.39, 716.14, 693.18, 665.34 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) [M+H]⁺ C₃₁H₃₂NO₃⁺ calcd for 466.2377, found 466.2370.



Compound **11**: Yield: 73.6 mg, 79%; white solid, mp 164.0 – 165.0 °C; $R_f = 0.3$ (EA/PE = 1/10); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 11.37 (s, 1H), 9.32 (d, J = 8.2 Hz, 1H), 8.72 (d, J = 8.7 Hz, 1H), 8.48 (d, J = 7.7 Hz, 1H), 7.88 – 7.80 (m, 1H), 7.76 (s, 1H), 7.72 – 7.64 (m, 1H), 7.39 (dd, J = 8.7, 1.5 Hz, 1H), 4.39 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 2.66 – 2.56 (m, 6H), 2.54 (s, 3H), 2.28 (br, 3H), 2.02 – 1.89 (m, 6H), 1.22 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 172.3 (s), 163.2 (s), 159.4 (s), 136.4 (s), 135.6 (s), 135.5 (s), 134.0 (s), 130.3 (d), 128.9 (d), 128.8 (s), 127.5 (d), 127.0 (d), 126.7 (d), 125.6 (s), 125.1 (d), 123.9 (d), 123.7 (s), 118.0 (s), 101.9 (s), 61.6 (t), 43.2 (s), 42.5 (t, 3C), 37.4 (t, 3C), 29.5 (d, 3C), 22.0 (q), 14.0 (q); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 2979.30$, 2899.45, 2846.96, 1737.75, 1641.60, 1620.13, 1583.78, 1498.37, 1440.50, 1405.61, 1370.90, 1313.80, 1265.77, 1233.36, 1213.83, 1178.75, 1157.86, 1140.18, 1097.90, 1021.62, 997.19, 969.20, 902.74, 860.63, 829.56, 819.44, 793.26, 766.97, 695.42, 678.22, 662.38 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) [M+H]⁺ C₃₁H₃₂NO₃⁺ calcd for 466.2377, found 466.2370.



Compound **12**: Yield: 77.1 mg, 80%; white solid, mp 215.0 – 217.0 °C; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/10); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 11.41 (s, 1H), 9.28 (d, J = 8.2 Hz, 1H), 8.46 (d, J = 7.4 Hz, 1H), 8.16 (d, J = 2.6 Hz, 1H), 7.92 (d, J = 9.2 Hz, 1H), 7.86 – 7.78 (m, 1H), 7.70 – 7.62 (m, 1H), 7.25 (dd, J = 9.2, 2.6 Hz, 1H), 4.38 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 4.02 (s, 3H), 2.60 (d, J = 2.4 Hz, 6H), 2.28 (s, 3H), 2.02 – 1.89 (m, 6H), 1.21 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 172.2 (s), 162.1 (s), 159.7 (s), 156.5 (s), 135.6 (s), 134.4 (s), 130.8 (d), 130.3 (d), 128.5 (s), 127.2 (d), 126.6 (s), 125.2 (s), 124.8 (d), 124.0 (d), 118.4 (s), 117.7 (d), 107.1 (d), 101.7 (s), 61.7 (t), 55.5 (q), 43.2 (s), 42.2 (t, 3C), 37.5 (t, 3C), 29.5 (d, 3C), 14.1 (q); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 3069.35$, 2899.66, 2847.81, 1650.90, 1614.57, 1584.37, 1520.63, 1497.33, 1454.09, 1405.76, 1372.17, 1333.89, 1312.88, 1266.13, 1251.22, 1230.65, 1497.33, 1454.09, 1405.76, 1372.17, 1333.89, 1312.88, 1266.13, 1251.22, 1230.65, 1251.22, 1230.6

1205.78, 1177.60, 1153.32, 1091.27, 1029.92, 968.18, 944.21, 915.96, 879.32, 855.94, 835.80, 819.28, 799.52, 767.57, 716.20, 692.78, 678.58, 665.34 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) $[M+H]^+ C_{31}H_{32}NO_4^+$ calcd for 482.2326, found 482.2321.



Compound **13**: Yield: 67.0 mg, 83%; white solid, mp 163.0 – 165.0 °C; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/10); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 11.54 (s, 1H), 9.35 (d, J = 8.0 Hz, 1H), 8.53 (dd, J = 8.0, 0.5 Hz, 1H), 8.04 – 7.93 (comp, 2H), 7.86 (ddd, J = 8.2, 7.0, 1.2 Hz, 1H), 7.68 (ddd, J = 8.2, 7.0, 1.2 Hz, 1H), 7.30 (dd, J = 9.3, 2.6 Hz, 1H), 4.45 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 4.02 (s, 3H), 1.91 (s, 9H), 1.27 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 172.1 (s), 162.6 (s), 159.6 (s), 156.6 (s), 135.5 (s), 134.2 (s), 130.6 (d), 130.2 (d), 128.4 (s), 127.1 (d), 126.5 (s), 125.1 (s), 124.7 (d), 123.9 (d), 118.5 (s), 117.8 (d), 106.9 (d), 101.6 (s), 61.6 (t), 55.8 (q), 40.3 (s), 31.2 (q), 14.0 (q); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 3071$, 2980, 2932, 1650, 1615, 1583, 1522, 1455, 1408, 1371, 1312, 1268, 1227, 1190, 1170, 1156, 1134, 1100, 1078, 1037, 1023, 948, 916, 853, 836, 802, 766, 721, 690, 672 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) [M+H]⁺ C₂₅H₂₆NO₄⁺ calcd for 404.1857, found 404.1855.



Compound 14: Yield: 87.3 mg, 87%; white solid, mp > 350 °C; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/10); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 12.03 (s, 1H), 9.40 (d, J = 8.1 Hz, 1H), 8.75 (d, J = 9.2 Hz, 1H), 8.68 (d, J = 8.1 Hz, 1H), 8.55 (d, J = 8.0 Hz, 1H), 7.95 – 7.81 (comp, 3H), 7.79 – 7.71 (m, 1H), 7.62 – 7.49 (comp, 2H), 3.71 (dq, J = 10.7, 7.2 Hz, 1H), 3.32 (dq, J = 10.7, 7.2 Hz, 1H), 2.73 – 2.52 (m, 6H), 2.30 (br, 3H), 2.05 – 1.91 (m, 6H), 0.37 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 171.7 (s), 162.3 (s), 159.4 (s), 137.6 (s), 135.4 (s), 133.8 (s), 132.5 (s), 131.9 (s), 130.4 (d), 127.8 (d), 127.6 (d), 127.3 (d), 126.5 (d), 126.2 (d), 125.9 (s), 125.8 (d), 125.3 (d), 124.13 (s), 124.05 (d), 123.7 (d), 116.7 (s), 104.2 (s), 61.3 (t), 43.3 (s), 42.6 (t, 3C), 37.4 (t, 3C), 29.5 (d, 3C), 12.9 (q); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 2928.05, 2903.68, 2851.07$

1653.10, 1617.08, 1584.67, 1517.57, 1489.12, 1456.53, 1399.74, 1368.81, 1312.66, 1270.35, 1258.48, 1229.05, 1197.19, 1178.11, 1154.78, 1100.92, 1092.07, 1068.17, 1014.46, 976.24, 904.25, 876.38, 849.34, 831.82, 807.10, 790.97, 756.31, 730.06, 690.63, 661.49, 634.92 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) $[M+H]^+ C_{34}H_{32}NO_3$ calcd for 502.2377, found 502.2368.



Compound **15**: Yield: 64.2 mg, 64%; white solid, mp 145.0 – 147.0 °C; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/10); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 11.39 (s, 1H), 9.39 (s, 1H), 9.36 – 9.27 (m, 1H), 8.55 – 8.45 (comp, 2H), 8.18 – 8.10 (m, 1H), 7.99 – 7.92 (m, 1H), 7.88 – 7.82 (m, 1H), 7.72 – 7.66 (m, 1H), 7.61 – 7.54 (comp, 2H), 4.38 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 2.70 (d, J = 1.9 Hz, 6H), 2.34 (br, 3H), 2.01 (q, J = 12.3 Hz, 6H), 1.10 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 172.5 (s), 164.5 (s), 159.4 (s), 135.4 (s), 134.0 (s), 131.5 (s), 130.5 (s), 130.4 (s), 130.3 (d), 129.3 (d), 128.40 (s), 128.36 (d), 127.7 (d), 127.41 (d), 127.38 (d), 126.6 (d), 126.2 (d), 125.5 (s), 125.1 (d), 124.0 (d), 123.6 (s), 118.1 (s), 102.5 (s), 61.7 (t), 43.9 (s), 42.7 (t, 3C), 37.5 (t, 3C), 29.5 (d, 3C), 14.1 (q); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 2930.17$, 2904.40, 2888.17, 2847.47, 1645.39, 1583.84, 1542.72, 1498.61, 1448.82, 1401.28, 1373.71, 1332.74, 1312.83, 1273.78, 1254.95, 1232.88, 1191.44, 1156.39, 1095.05, 1014.86, 989.72, 960.98, 905.59, 886.44, 835.83, 804.27, 768.28, 759.10, 730.19, 686.91, 661.85, 630.89, 615.13 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) [M+H]⁺ C₃₄H₃₂NO₃ calcd for 502.2377, found 502.2368.



Compound **16**: Yield: 66.1 mg, 78%; white solid, mp 177.0 – 179.0 °C; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/10); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 12.17 (s, 1H), 9.48 (d, J = 8.2 Hz, 1H), 8.79 – 8.70 (m, 1H), 8.66 – 8.54 (comp, 2H), 7.97 – 7.89 (comp, 2H), 7.86 (d, J = 9.1 Hz, 1H), 7.81 – 7.73 (m, 1H), 7.63 – 7.53 (m, 2H), 3.76 (dq, J = 10.7, 7.1 Hz, 1H), 3.40 (dq, J = 10.7, 7.1 Hz, 1H), 1.93 (s, 9H), 0.41 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 171.6 (s), 162.8 (s), 159.4 (s), 137.3 (s), 135.3 (s),

133.7 (s), 132.3 (s), 131.9 (s), 130.4 (d), 127.8 (d), 127.7 (d), 127.3 (d), 126.4 (d), 126.2 (d), 126.1 (d), 125.9 (s), 125.2 (d), 124.0 (d), 123.9 (s), 123.8 (d), 116.9 (s), 104.1 (s), 61.3 (t), 40.4 (s), 31.6 (q), 12.8 (q); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 2981$, 2966, 2932, 2870, 1648, 1615, 1586, 1518, 1492, 1464, 1442, 1401, 1369, 1324, 1267, 1234, 1194, 1150, 1140, 1118, 1093, 1013, 963, 937, 852, 832, 793, 761, 738, 696, 645, 612 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) [M+H]⁺ C₂₈H₂₆NO₃ calcd for 424.1908, found 424.1908.



Compound **17**: Yield: 84.7 mg, 93%; white solid, mp 166.0 – 168.0 °C; $R_f = 0.3$ (EA/PE = 1/10); ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 11.34 (s, 1H), 9.25 (d, J = 8.1 Hz, 1H), 8.39 (dd, J = 8.1, 0.8 Hz, 1H), 7.82 – 7.76 (m, 1H), 7.68 – 7.61 (m, 1H), 4.43 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 3.16 (br, 2H), 2.74 (t, J = 6.5 Hz, 2H), 2.37 (d, J = 2.0 Hz, 6H), 2.20 (br, 3H), 2.04 – 2.02 (m, 2H), 1.91 – 1.83 (m, 6H), 1.81 – 1.74 (m, 2H), 1.36 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 171.9 (s), 160.7 (s), 159.5 (s), 146.5 (s), 138.6 (s), 135.8 (s), 132.3 (s), 130.3 (d), 127.7 (d), 125.7 (s), 124.8 (d), 123.9 (d), 120.5 (s), 101.5 (s), 61.8 (t), 41.9 (s), 41.3 (t, 3C), 37.3 (t, 3C), 29.4 (d, 3C), 29.3 (t), 25.7 (t), 20.7 (t), 20.4 (t), 14.3 (q); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 2912.55$, 2855.98, 2661.23, 2251.64, 2229.24, 1640.99, 1453.98, 1346.20, 1316.26, 1231.48, 1185.97, 1100.89, 976.83, 934.12, 812.45, 771.38, 692.71, 647.17 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) [M+H]⁺ C₃₀H₃₄NO₃⁺ calcd for 456.2533, found 456.2527.



Compound **18**: Yield: 81.5 mg, 89%; white solid, mp 227.0 – 229.0 °C; $R_f = 0.3$ (EA/PE = 1/10); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 11.45 (s, 1H), 9.41 – 9.30 (m, 1H), 8.51 – 8.41 (m, 1H), 7.83 (ddd, J = 8.2, 7.0, 1.3 Hz, 1H), 7.68 (ddd, J = 8.2, 7.0, 1.3 Hz, 1H), 7.60 (d, J = 5.7 Hz, 1H), 7.54 (d, J = 5.7 Hz, 1H), 4.49 (q, J = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 2.52 (d, J = 2.8 Hz, 6H), 2.26 (br, 3H), 1.93 (br, 6H), 1.32 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 171.5 (s), 159.8 (s), 159.5 (s), 141.9 (s), 136.9

(s), 135.7 (s), 131.2 (s), 130.4 (d), 127.6 (d), 127.1 (d), 125.41 (d), 125.39 (s), 125.3 (d), 123.9 (d), 117.8 (s), 102.90 (s), 61.9 (d), 42.0 (s), 41.1 (t), 37.3 (t), 29.2 (d), 14.1 (q); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 2897.98$, 2843.14, 1641.89, 1586.82, 1495.36, 1473.86, 1445.75, 1403.15, 1372.77, 1340.04, 1299.79, 1234.40, 1159.87, 1110.47, 1097.40, 1028.01, 975.15, 861.52, 832.81, 807.01, 765.30, 713.44, 678.70, 660.78, 650.77, 634.49 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) [M+H]⁺ C₂₈H₂₈NO₃S calcd for 458.1784, found 458.1775.



Compound **19**: Yield: 68.3 mg, 90%; white solid, mp 153.0 – 155.0 °C; $R_f = 0.3$ (EA/PE = 1/10); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 11.48 (s, 1H), 9.47 – 9.29 (m, 1H), 8.47 (dd, J = 8.2, 0.7 Hz, 1H), 7.83 (ddd, J = 8.2, 7.1, 1.2 Hz, 1H), 7.69 (ddd, J = 8.2, 7.1, 1.2 Hz, 1H), 7.62 (d, J = 5.6 Hz, 1H), 7.56 (d, J = 5.6 Hz, 1H), 4.50 (q, J = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 1.77 (s, 9H), 1.33 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 171.5 (s), 159.8 (s), 159.6 (s), 141.9 (s), 136.8 (s), 135.7 (s), 131.6 (s), 130.4 (d), 127.6 (d), 127.4 (d), 125.6 (d), 125.4 (s), 125.3 (d), 124.0 (d), 117.9 (s), 102.0 (s), 61.9 (t), 39.9 (s), 29.7 (q, 3C), 14.2 (q); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 2973.30, 2951.46, 2925.99$, 2899.02, 2861.39, 1643.29, 1587.85, 1548.23, 1493.40, 1478.19, 1461.26, 1443.62, 1404.31, 1386.52, 1365.76, 1337.53, 1320.97, 1300.71, 1280.80, 1260.86, 1229.31, 1194.16, 1157.47, 1116.94, 1094.68, 1033.56, 1020.30, 972.58, 914.41, 852.59, 835.30, 799.22, 766.30, 726.34, 687.58, 664.02, 636.38, 608.20 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) [M+H]⁺ C₂₂H₂₂NO₃S calcd for 380.1315, found 380.1311.



Compound **20**: Yield: 71.4 mg, 88%; white solid, mp 125.0 – 127.0 °C; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/10); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 11.33 (s, 1H), 9.31 (d, J = 8.2 Hz, 1H), 8.37 (dd, J = 8.2, 0.7 Hz, 1H), 7.74 (ddd, J = 8.2, 7.0, 1.3 Hz, 1H), 7.60 (ddd, J = 8.2, 7.0, 1.3 Hz, 1H), 7.56 – 7.44 (comp, 2H), 4.41 (q, J = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 3.19 – 3.05 (m, 1H), 2.14 – 2.05 (m, 2H), 2.03 – 1.87 (comp, 4H), 1.82 – 1.74 (m, 1H), 1.52 – 1.35 (comp, 3H), 1.24 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (125 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm)

171.5 (s), 159.3 (s), 157.5 (s), 140.6 (s), 138.0 (s), 135.5 (s), 134.3 (s), 130.4 (d), 127.7 (d), 127.6 (d), 126.5 (d), 125.4 (d), 125.3 (s), 123.9 (d), 118.0 (s), 102.2 (s), 62.0 (t), 46.1 (d), 32.0 (t, 2C), 26.8 (t, 2C), 26.4 (t), 14.2 (q); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 2926.58$, 2851.05, 1726.78, 1658.57, 1615.15, 1585.45, 1548.34, 1499.34, 1444.01, 1407.27, 1368.75, 1293.81, 1230.73, 1162.56, 1093.20, 1029.08, 892.86, 836.28, 763.89, 714.61, 654.95, 634.97 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) [M+H]⁺ C₂₄H₂₄NO₃S calcd for 406.1471, found 406.1466.



Compound **21**: Yield: 61.1 mg, 84%; white solid, mp 115.0 – 117.0 °C; $R_f = 0.3$ (EA/PE = 1/10); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 11.39 (s, 1H), 9.28 – 9.18 (m, 1H), 8.65 – 8.19 (m, 1H), 7.79 (M, 1H), 7.72 – 7.59 (comp, 2H), 7.59 – 7.49 (m, 1H), 4.49 (q, J = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 2.51 – 2.36 (m, 1H), 1.57 – 1.50 (m, 2H), 1.32 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 3H), 1.24 – 1.17 (m, 2H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 171.4 (s), 158.9 (s), 154.1 (s), 140.2 (s), 138.0 (s), 135.3 (s), 135.2 (s), 130.2 (d), 127.8 (d), 127.6 (d), 126.5 (d), 125.3 (s), 125.1 (d), 123.9 (d), 117.6 (s), 102.2 (s), 61.9 (t), 16.4 (d), 14.1 (q), 10.1 (t, 2C); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 3078.41$, 2998.06, 1649.19, 1616.78, 1587.59, 1568.32, 1549.37, 1503.77, 1442.78, 1407.57, 1369.78, 1296.79, 1226.85, 1165.32, 1132.19, 1097.07, 1036.97, 1017.98, 995.60, 959.17, 902.43, 853.57, 832.37, 809.27, 759.73, 712.89, 666.77, 644.93, 631.56 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) [M+H]⁺ C₂₁H₁₈NO₃S calcd for 364.1002, found 364.0998.



Compound **22**: Yield: 58.5 mg, 80%; white solid, mp 66.0 – 68.0 °C; $R_f = 0.3$ (EA/PE = 1/10); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 11.44 (s, 1H), 9.37 (d, J = 8.2 Hz, 1H), 8.47 (dd, J = 8.2, 0.7 Hz, 1H), 7.82 (ddd, J = 8.2, 7.1, 1.2 Hz, 1H), 7.68 (ddd, J = 8.2, 7.1, 1.2 Hz, 1H), 7.62 (d, J = 5.5 Hz, 1H), 7.55 (d, J = 5.5 Hz, 1H), 4.50 (q, J = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 3.27 – 3.15 (m, 2H), 2.22 – 2.09 (m, 2H), 1.32 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 3H), 1.16 (t, J = 7.4 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 171.4 (s), 159.2 (s), 153.4 (s), 140.5 (s), 138.1(s), 135.3 (s), 135.1 (s), 130.4 (d), 127.7 (d), 127.6 (d), 126.5 (d), 125.3 (s),

125.3 (d), 123.9 (d), 118.0 (s), 102.2 (s), 61.9 (t), 39.5 (t), 21.4 (t), 14.4 (q), 14.1 (q); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 3098.67$, 2955.98, 2932.58, 2870.53, 1755.10, 1647.47, 1617.13, 1589.26, 1567.57, 1502.73, 1481.79, 1464.87, 1444.76, 1432.43, 1405.65, 1367.50, 1306.50, 1287.98, 1264.46, 1231.90, 1165.04, 1129.45, 1093.59, 1035.03, 957.23, 928.28, 894.72, 861.31, 831.35, 809.26, 793.01, 757.15, 733.95, 711.75, 682.48, 645.87 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) [M+H]⁺ C₂₁H₂₀NO₃S calcd for 366.1158, found 366.1154.



Compound **23**: Yield: 55.3 mg, 82%; white solid, mp 71.0 – 72.0 °C; $R_f = 0.3$ (EA/PE = 1/10); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 11.42 (s, 1H), 9.34 (d, J = 8.2 Hz, 1H), 8.47 (dd, J = 8.2, 0.7 Hz, 1H), 7.83 (ddd, J = 8.4, 7.2, 1.3 Hz, 1H), 7.69 (ddd, J = 8.4, 7.2, 1.3 Hz, 1H), 7.65 (d, J = 5.5 Hz, 1H), 7.56 (d, J = 5.5 Hz, 1H), 4.49 (q, J = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 2.99 (s, 3H), 1.32 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 171.3 (s), 159.3 (s), 150.0 (s), 140.5 (s), 138.1 (s), 135.2 (s), 135.0 (s), 130.5 (d), 128.0 (d), 127.7 (d), 126.6 (d), 125.3 (s), 125.1 (d), 124.0 (d), 118.2 (s), 102.2 (s), 61.9 (t), 23.9 (q), 14.1 (q); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 3088.88$, 2981.74, 2913.99, 1754.76, 1692.75, 1645.93, 1589.80, 1556.99, 1504.67, 1479.89, 1440.33, 1404.83, 1369.39, 1306.96, 1282.13, 1231.37, 1167.80, 1095.05, 1032.78, 927.08, 889.72, 863.58, 829.71, 809.87, 768.84, 718.76, 684.03, 649.85, 635.56 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) [M+H]⁺ C₁₉H₁₆NO₃S calcd for 338.0845, found 338.0853.



Compound **24**: Yield: 54.7 mg, 81%; white solid, mp 73.0 – 75.0 °C; $R_f = 0.3$ (EA/PE = 1/10); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 11.43 (s, 1H), 9.35 (d, J = 8.2 Hz, 1H), 8.47 (dd, J = 8.2, 0.8 Hz, 1H), 7.83 (ddd, J = 8.2, 7.0, 1.4 Hz, 1H), 7.73 – 7.64 (comp, 2H), 7.57 (d, J = 5.5 Hz, 1H), 4.50 (q, J = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 1.32 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 171.4 (s), 159.4 (s), 150.0 (s), 140.5 (s), 138.1 (s), 135.3 (s), 135.0 (s), 130.5 (d), 128.2 (d), 127.8 (d), 126.6 (d), 125.4 (s), 125.2 (d), 124.0 (d), 118.2 (s), 102.2 (s), 62.0 (t), 14.1 (q); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 2987.73$, 1651.23, 1617.22, 1587.10, 1566.13, 1499.09, 1445.49, 1406.31, 1370.45, 1320.58, 1306.80, 1251.45, 1229.45, 1171.82, 1098.97, 1031.07, 982.57, 957.49, 927.43, 893.74, 860.13, 829.17, 805.17, 764.87, 748.60, 703.21, 675.17, 655.89, 642.03, 626.20 cm⁻¹; HRMS



Compound **25**: Yield: 63.1 mg, 78%; white solid, mp 137.0 – 139.0 °C; $R_f = 0.3$ (EA/PE = 1/10); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 11.44 (s, 1H), 9.29 (d, J = 8.1 Hz, 1H), 8.45 (d, J = 7.6 Hz, 1H), 7.86 – 7.76 (m, 1H), 7.72 – 7.65 (m, 1H), 7.63 (d, J = 5.5 Hz, 1H), 7.54 (d, J = 5.5 Hz, 1H), 4.49 (q, J = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 3.25 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 2.49 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 2.34 – 2.22 (m, 2H), 1.89 (dt, J = 9.9, 7.2 Hz, 2H), 1.32 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 171.2 (s), 159.4 (s), 151.8 (s), 140.6 (s), 137.9 (s), 135.2 (s), 134.8 (s), 130.5 (d), 127.8 (d), 127.7 (d), 126.6 (d), 125.3 (s), 125.1 (d), 123.9 (d), 119.8 (s), 118.2 (s), 102.1 (s), 61.9 (t), 35.9 (t), 26.5 (t), 25.2 (t), 17.2 (t), 14.01 (q); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 2958.51, 2935.56, 2872.27, 2245.48, 1755.55, 1693.26, 1638.43, 1598.53, 1553.22, 1500.71, 1460.14, 1409.41, 1368.77, 1289.84, 1225.39, 1167.07, 1094.40, 1054.61, 1032.65, 933.84, 853.94, 828.19, 795.08, 765.11, 729.92, 702.73, 684.25, 649.60, 618.10 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) [M+H]⁺ C₂₃H₂₁N₂O₃S calcd for 405.1267, found 405.1269.$



Compound **26**: Yield: 59.6 mg, 82%; white solid, mp 191.0 – 193.0 °C; $R_f = 0.3$ (EA/PE = 1/10); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 11.59 (s, 1H), 9.32 (d, J = 8.3 Hz, 1H), 8.47 (d, J = 8.3 Hz, 1H), 7.83 (ddd, J = 8.3, 7.0, 1.3 Hz, 1H), 7.74 – 7.68 (m, 1H), 7.66 (d, J = 5.6 Hz, 1H), 7.56 (d, J = 5.6 Hz, 1H), 6.09 (s, 1H), 5.77 (s, 1H), 4.50 (q, J = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 2.57 (s, 3H), 1.33 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 171.4 (s), 160.1 (s), 151.6 (s), 145.2 (s), 141.6 (s), 137.4 (s), 135.4 (s), 132.9 (s), 130.6 (d), 129.0 (d), 127.8 (d), 126.3 (d), 125.5 (s), 125.2 (d), 124.0 (d), 118.7 (s), 118.2 (t), 102.0 (s), 62.0 (t), 22.1 (q), 14.14 (q); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 2981.17, 2937.01, 1739.60, 1674.88, 1597.53, 1544.44, 1499.19, 1444.72, 1409.06, 1370.43, 1298.41, 1205.98, 1097.73, 1025.21, 910.59, 855.92, 832.30, 767.39, 729.84, 643.99 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) [M+H]⁺ C₂₁H₁₈NO₃S calcd for 364.1002, found 364.0999.$



Compound **27**: Yield: 45.7 mg, 54%; white solid, mp 158.0 – 160.0 °C; $R_f = 0.2$ (EA/PE = 1/10); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 11.60 (s, 1H), 9.38 (d, J = 8.2 Hz, 1H), 8.48 (d, J = 7.9 Hz, 1H), 7.86 (t, J = 7.3 Hz, 1H), 7.80 – 7.68 (comp, 4H), 7.58 (d, J = 5.5 Hz, 1H), 7.49 – 7.38 (comp, 3H), 4.51 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 1.33 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 171.2 (s), 160.5 (s), 140.3 (s), 138.9 (s), 138.6 (s), 135.2 (s), 134.8 (s), 132.4 (d, 2C), 130.8 (d), 129.5 (d), 129.3 (d), 128.6 (d, 2C), 128.2 (d), 126.4 (d), 125.6 (d), 125.5 (s), 124.0 (d), 122.3 (s), 119.5 (s), 102.1 (s), 93.6 (s), 87.4 (s), 62.1 (t), 14.1 (q); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 3352.07$, 3095.05, 3074.97, 3060.49, 2993.80, 2979.89, 2933.59, 2213.71, 1677.22, 1614.86, 1586.66, 1560.55, 1495.53, 1442.72, 1408.14, 1372.44, 1315.31, 1258.74, 1213.90, 1159.73, 1125.07, 1092.26, 1044.13, 1028.76, 904.72, 862.77, 831.52, 804.41, 750.92, 717.91, 706.11, 685.53, 669.74, 628.68 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) [M-H]⁻ C₂₆H₁₆NO₃S calcd for 422.0856, found 422.0857.



Compound **28**: Yield: 66.3 mg, 83%; white solid, mp 159.0 – 160.0 °C; $R_f = 0.3$ (EA/PE = 1/10); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 11.62 (s, 1H), 9.42 (d, J = 8.2 Hz, 1H), 8.56 – 8.42 (m, 1H), 8.42 – 8.23 (comp, 2H), 7.88 – 7.80 (m, 1H), 7.74 – 7.52 (comp, 6H), 4.52 (q, J = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 1.35 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 171.4 (s), 160.1 (s), 150.4 (s), 142.0 (s), 139.8 (s), 138.1 (s), 135.3 (s), 133.6 (s), 130.6 (d), 129.6 (d), 129.1 (d), 128.9 (d, 2C), 128.8 (d, 2C), 127.9 (d), 126.4 (d), 125.5 (s), 125.3 (d), 124.0 (d), 118.5 (s), 101.9 (s), 62.0 (s), 14.2 (s); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 3100.94$, 3062.85, 2977.99, 2935.22, 1639.45, 1586.58, 1561.90, 1493.76, 1473.97, 1445.30, 1411.07, 1398.91, 1372.04, 1303.88, 1286.69, 1261.14, 1225.96, 1174.71, 1152.79, 1114.34, 1094.56, 1081.20, 1029.03, 962.81, 917.60, 876.84, 855.08, 829.40, 810.86, 793.55, 771.06, 753.69, 729.61, 694.51, 660.38, 647.28, 634.71 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) [M+H]⁺ C₂₄H₁₈NO₃S calcd for 400.1002, found 400.0999.



Compound **29**: Yield: 76.8 mg, 92%; white solid, mp 165.0 – 167.0 °C; $R_f = 0.3$ (EA/PE = 1/10); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 11.66 (s, 1H), 9.36 (d, J = 7.8 Hz, 1H), 8.55 – 8.45 (m, 1H), 7.99 – 7.91 (m, 1H), 7.86 – 7.79 (m, 1H), 7.73 – 7.66 (comp, 2H), 7.61 – 7.50 (comp, 2H), 7.41 – 7.28 (comp, 2H), 4.53 (q, J = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 1.36 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (125 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 171.4 (s), 160.4 (d, $J_{C-F} = 250.5$ Hz), 160.3 (s), 146.7 (s), 141.3 (s), 138.1 (s), 135.4 (d, J = 46.6 Hz), 131.9 (d, $J_{C-F} = 3.2$ Hz), 131.2 (d, $J_{C-F} = 8.3$ Hz), 130.7 (d), 129.1 (d), 128.0 (d), 127.7 (d, $J_{C-F} = 14.1$ Hz), 126.1 (s), 125.4 (s), 125.3 (d), 124.6 (d, $J_{C-F} = 3.7$ Hz), 124.0 (d), 119.0 (s), 116.5 (d, $J_{C-F} = 21.7$ Hz), 101.9 (s), 62.1 (t), 14.2 (q); ¹⁹F NMR (283 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) -112.35 (s); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 3086.90$, 2927.11, 2853.67, 1637.82, 1587.65, 1498.54, 1474.90, 1446.41, 1406.30, 1372.35, 1345.66, 1311.89, 1285.23, 1264.79, 1236.60, 1179.19, 1160.11, 1118.42, 1095.90, 1028.22, 1013.96, 945.53, 881.35, 854.87, 829.17, 803.42, 766.95, 752.21, 687.67, 660.87, 642.58 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) [M+H]⁺ C₂₄H₁₇FNO₃S calcd for 418.0908, found 418.0904.



Compound **30**: Yield: 78.1 mg, 90%; thick liquid; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/10); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 11.62 (s, 1H), 9.40 – 9.31 (m, 1H), 8.56 – 8.45 (m, 1H), 7.85 – 7.78 (m, 1H), 7.77 – 7.67 (comp, 3H), 7.65 – 7.59 (comp, 2H), 7.51 – 7.45 (comp, 2H), 4.54 (q, J = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 1.37 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 171.4 (s), 160.3 (s), 149.5 (s), 141.2 (s), 138.7 (s), 138.2 (s), 135.7 (s), 135.4 (s), 133.4 (s), 131.4 (d), 130.7 (d), 130.6 (d), 130.4 (d), 129.3 (d), 128.0 (d), 127.0 (d), 126.2 (d), 125.6 (d), 125.5 (s), 124.0 (d), 119.1 (s), 102.1 (s), 62.1 (t), 14.2 (q); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 2979.35$, 2933.09, 2871.86, 1754.97, 1732.78, 1693.54, 1651.47, 1588.74, 1546.62, 1499.36, 1461.81, 1441.49, 1408.87, 1371.58, 1307.49, 1289.13, 1231.90, 1179.48, 1160.37, 1097.86, 1057.21, 1030.08, 909.59, 880.74, 830.99, 765.29, 732.75, 665.61, 640.79 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) [M+H]⁺ C₂₄H₁₇CINO₃S calcd for 434.0612, found 434.0630.



Compound **31**: Yield: 81.3 mg, 85%; thick liquid; $R_f = 0.3$ (EA/PE = 1/10); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 11.62 (s, 1H), 9.37 (d, J = 7.8 Hz, 1H), 8.50 (dd, J = 8.1, 0.9 Hz, 1H), 7.88 – 7.77 (comp, 2H), 7.77 – 7.66 (comp, 3H), 7.63 (d, J = 5.6 Hz, 1H), 7.52 (td, J = 7.5, 1.2 Hz, 1H), 7.41 (td, J = 7.8, 1.7 Hz, 1H), 4.55 (q, J = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 1.37 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 171.4 (s), 160.3 (s), 150.7 (s), 141.3 (s), 140.5 (s), 138.1 (s), 135.5 (s), 135.4 (s), 133.8 (d), 131.3 (d), 130.7 (d), 130.6 (d), 129.4 (d), 128.0 (d), 127.6 (d), 126.3 (d), 125.7 (d), 125.5 (s), 124.0 (d), 122.9 (s), 119.1 (s), 102.1 (s), 62.1 (t), 14.2 (q); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 2963.97$, 2932.85, 2872.64, 1756.13, 1694.10, 1655.24, 1597.58, 1547.23, 1458.35, 1409.73, 1366.78, 1288.73, 1228.90, 1173.62, 1097.04, 1051.46, 1027.48, 934.44, 851.37, 828.84, 769.03, 710.01, 656.36, 641.40 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) [M-H]⁻ C₂₄H₁₅BrNO₃S calcd for 475.9962, found 475.9962.



Compound **32**: Yield: 91.4 mg, 87%; thick liquid; $R_f = 0.3$ (EA/PE = 1/10); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 11.63 (s, 1H), 9.42 (d, J = 8.3 Hz, 1H), 8.51 (dd, J = 8.0, 0.8 Hz, 1H), 8.12 (dd, J = 8.0, 0.8 Hz, 1H), 7.87 – 7.80 (m, 1H), 7.78 – 7.69 (comp, 2H), 7.68 (d, J = 5.6 Hz, 1H), 7.63 (d, J = 5.6 Hz, 1H), 7.54 (td, J = 7.6, 0.9 Hz, 1H), 7.23 (td, J = 7.6, 1.6 Hz, 1H), 4.55 (q, J = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 1.37 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 171.3 (s), 160.3 (s), 152.5 (s), 143.8 (s), 141.4 (s), 140.5 (s), 138.0 (s), 135.4 (s), 135.1 (s), 130.7 (d), 130.6 (d), 130.3 (d), 129.4 (d), 128.3 (d), 128.0 (d), 126.4 (d), 125.8 (d), 125.5 (s), 124.0 (d), 119.0 (s), 102.08 (s), 97.5 (s), 62.1 (t), 14.2 (q); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 2958.03$, 1752.32, 1688.40, 1650.21, 1587.30, 1544.50, 1498.50, 1457.31, 1444.50, 1407.65, 1371.50, 1349.96, 1306.41, 1230.74, 1179.52, 1159.80, 1119.34, 1097.04, 1029.22, 1015.92, 879.66, 853.85, 830.55, 762.50, 725.22, 638.37 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) [M+H]⁺ C₂₄H₁₇INO₃S calcd for 525.9968, found 525.9979.



Compound **33**: Yield: 77.7 mg, 94%; white solid, mp 125.0 – 127.0 °C; $R_f = 0.3$ (EA/PE = 1/10); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 11.60 (s, 1H), 9.35 (d, J = 7.9 Hz, 1H), 8.67 – 8.42 (m, 1H), 7.86 – 7.78 (m, 1H), 7.77 – 7.58 (comp, 4H), 7.52 – 7.33 (comp, 3H), 4.56 (q, J = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 2.47 (s, 3H), 1.38 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 171.4 (s), 159.9 (s), 152.0 (s), 141.2 (s), 139.2 (s), 138.1 (s), 137.2 (s), 135.9 (s), 135.4 (s), 131.3 (d), 130.6 (d), 129.5 (d), 129.4 (d), 129.2(d), 127.9 (d), 126.3 (d), 125.9 (d), 125.5 (s), 125.4 (d), 124.0 (d), 118.5 (s), 102.1 (s), 62.0 (t), 20.4 (q), 14.2(q); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 3081.85$, 2963.09, 1635.16, 1588.76, 1561.32, 1496.15, 1476.16, 1445.61, 1408.17, 1372.44, 1343.72, 1306.44, 1284.52, 1258.71, 1235.21, 1179.38, 1160.75, 1096.54, 1029.17, 1016.41, 963.44, 945.69, 878.98, 853.66, 826.81, 808.97, 768.77, 758.06, 742.51, 725.45, 687.78, 662.91, 646.38, 636.40 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) [M+H]⁺ C₂₅H₂₀NO₃S calcd for 414.1158, found 414.1159.



Compound **34**: Yield: 65.1 mg, 75%; white solid, mp 170.0 – 171.0 °C; $R_f = 0.3$ (EA/PE = 1/10); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 11.64 (s, 1H), 9.37 (d, J = 8.1 Hz, 1H), 8.48 (dd, J = 8.1, 0.9 Hz, 1H), 8.40 – 8.24 (m, 1H), 8.24 – 8.15 (m, 1H), 7.89 – 7.82 (m, 1H), 7.78 – 7.67 (comp, 2H), 7.65 – 7.58 (m, 1H), 7.57 – 7.47 (comp, 2H), 4.52 (q, J = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 1.35 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 171.3 (s), 160.4 (s), 148.9 (s), 142.2 (s), 141.6 (s), 138.1 (s), 135.3 (s), 135.0 (s), 133.4 (s), 130.8 (d), 130.1 (s), 129.6 (s), 129.1 (d), 129.1 (s), 129.0 (d), 128.1 (s), 126.9 (s), 126.53 (s), 126.50 (d), 126.48 (s), 125.3 (s), 124.2 (s), 118.9 (s), 101.9 (s), 62.1 (t), 14.2 (q); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 2955.68$, 2924.54, 2853.72, 1727.78, 1643.57, 1589.36, 1570.29, 1496.18, 1463.82, 1444.47, 1410.13, 1372.49, 1303.33, 1253.99, 1233.25, 1175.86, 1156.90, 1118.71, 1096.03, 1079.27, 1031.45, 958.47, 895.88, 834.52, 792.88, 758.23, 730.90, 706.12, 660.43, 635.42 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) [M+H]⁺ C₂₄H₁₇ClNO₃S calcd for 434.0612, found 434.0617.



Compound **35**: Yield: 70.3 mg, 81%; white solid, mp 179.0 – 180.0 °C; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/10); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 11.63 (s, 1H), 9.35 (d, J = 8.0 Hz, 1H), 8.47 (d, J = 8.0 Hz, 1H), 8.26 (d, J = 8.5 Hz, 2H), 7.87 – 7.79 (m, 1H), 7.75 – 7.65 (m, 2H), 7.65 – 7.47 (comp, 3H), 4.52 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 1.35 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 1171.3 (s), 160.3 (s), 149.1 (s), 142.2 (s), 138.2 (s), 138.1 (s), 135.6 (s), 135.2 (s), 133.2 (s), 130.7 (d), 130.1 (d, 2C), 129.1 (d, 2C), 129.0 (d), 128.0 (d), 126.5 (d), 125.6 (s), 125.2 (d), 124.1 (d), 118.7 (s), 101.9 (s), 62.1 (t), 14.2 (q); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 3077.97$, 2987.10, 2900.89, 1642.94, 1587.82, 1561.50, 1496.55, 1470.17, 1443.29, 1408.04, 1371.48, 1295.42, 1257.87, 1222.72, 1172.59, 1159.00, 1140.05, 1118.77, 1089.09, 1030.48, 1011.22, 959.73, 879.85, 833.89, 791.97, 758.19, 722.46, 692.59, 659.86, 636.92, 626.81 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) [M+H]⁺ C₂₄H₁₇CINO₃S calcd for 434.0612, found 434.0616.



Compound **36**: Yield: 73.7 mg, 77%; white solid, mp 159.0 – 161.0 °C; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/10); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 11.63 (s, 1H), 9.36 (d, J = 8.2 Hz, 1H), 8.48 (d, J = 8.2 Hz, 1H), 8.20 (d, J = 8.4 Hz, 2H), 7.84 (t, J = 7.4 Hz, 1H), 7.80 – 7.63 (comp, 4H), 7.63 – 7.54 (m, 1H), 4.52 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 1.35 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (125 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 171.3 (s), 160.3 (s), 149.1 (s), 142.1 (s), 138.6 (s), 138.1 (s), 135.2 (s), 133.2 (s), 132.0 (d, 2C), 130.7 (d), 130.4 (d, 2C), 129.1 (d), 128.0 (d), 126.5 (d), 125.6 (s), 125.2 (d), 124.1 (d), 124.0 (s), 118.7 (s), 101.9 (s), 62.1 (t), 14.2 (q); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 3094.00$, 2977.05, 2921.37, 2851.27, 1898.17, 1655.06, 1618.02, 1586.41, 1560.74, 1496.36, 1473.59, 1442.73, 1407.18, 1372.30, 1321.24, 1291.64, 1258.39, 1229.84, 1174.52, 1145.39, 1123.34, 1099.20, 1030.34, 1008.47, 957.28, 922.57, 877.98, 856.16, 829.14, 787.76, 758.83, 745.45, 125.2 (d), 125.1 (d), 126.2 (d), 125.2 (d), 122.3 (d), 123.34, 1099.20, 1030.34, 1008.47, 957.28, 922.57, 877.98, 856.16, 829.14, 787.76, 758.83, 745.45, 125.2 (d), 125.2 (d), 125.2 (d), 125.3 (d), 123.34, 1099.20, 1030.34, 1008.47, 957.28, 922.57, 877.98, 856.16, 829.14, 787.76, 758.83, 745.45, 125.2 (d), 126.2 (d), 126.5 (d), 125.2 (d), 126.5 (d), 126.5 (d), 125.8 (d), 125.2 (d), 124.1 (d), 124.0 (d), 126.5 (d), 125.8 (d), 125.8 (d), 125.8 (d), 125.8 (d), 125.2 (d), 124.1 (d), 124.0 (d), 126.0 (d), 126.5 (d), 125.8 (d), 126.8 (d),
716.22, 705.63, 688.93, 678.20, 656.72, 648.20, 634.10, 621.71 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) $[M+H]^+ C_{24}H_{17}BrNO_3S$ calcd for 478.0107, found 478.0119.



Compound **37**: Yield: 58.0 mg, 62%; white solid, mp 115.0 – 117.0 °C; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/10); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 11.66 (s, 1H), 9.36 (d, J = 8.1 Hz, 1H), 8.49 (d, J = 8.1 Hz, 1H), 8.43 (d, J = 8.1 Hz, 2H), 7.91 – 7.80 (comp, 3H), 7.79 – 7.66 (comp, 2H), 7.61 (d, J = 5.6 Hz, 1H), 4.53 (q, J = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 1.36 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 171.3 (s), 160.6 (s), 148.8 (s), 143.2 (d, $J_{C-F} = 1.3$ Hz), 142.3 (s), 138.2 (s), 135.2 (s), 133.4 (s), 131.6 (s), 131.1 (s), 130.8 (d), 129.2 (d, 2C), 129.1 (d), 128.2 (d), 126.5 (d), 125.9 (q, $J_{C-F} = 3.8$ Hz, 2C), 125.7 (s), 125.2 (d), 124.2 (d), 101.9 (s), 62.1 (t), 14.2 (q); ¹⁹F NMR (283 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) -62.55 (s); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 2977.23$, 2935.75, 1757.84, 1695.30, 1650.35, 1617.63, 1587.63, 1545.74, 1497.90, 1473.74, 1415.77, 1372.50, 1322.80, 1228.69, 1167.27, 1112.22, 1066.15, 1030.14, 1015.62, 852.22, 830.19, 793.63, 770.93, 713.80, 693.49, 629.72 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) [M+H]⁺ C₂₄H₁₃F₅NO₃S calcd for 490.0531, found 490.0533.



Compound **38**: Yield: 56.8 mg, 58%; white solid, mp 86.0 – 88.0 °C; $R_f = 0.3$ (EA/PE = 1/10); ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 11.73 (s, 1H), 9.24 (d, J = 8.3 Hz, 1H), 8.53 – 8.48 (m, 1H), 7.86 – 7.82 (m, 1H), 7.76 – 7.71 (comp, 2H), 7.64 (d, J = 5.5 Hz, 1H), 4.54 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 1.36 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (125 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 171.2 (s), 161.1 (s), 141.5 (s), 138.5 (s), 136.3 (s), 135.0 (s), 131.1 (d), 129.2 (d), 128.4 (d), 126.4 (d), 125.6 (s), 125.3 (d), 124.2 (d), 120.0 (s), 101.8 (s), 62.3 (t), 14.2 (q); ¹⁹F NMR (471 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) -139.41 – -139.55 (m, 2F), -152.19 –

-152.99 (m, 1F), -160.87 – -161.41 (m, 2F); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 2983.12$, 1651.06, 1587.67, 1523.96, 1494.47, 1445.56, 1407.71, 1371.78, 1318.31, 1290.04, 1230.27, 1164.81, 1131.12, 1098.59, 1082.42, 1034.50, 1016.17, 985.86, 902.57, 859.00, 831.45, 761.44, 731.62, 653.06, 640.87, 622.20 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) [M+H]⁺ C₂₄H₁₃F₅NO₃S calcd for 490.0531, found 490.0533.



Compound **39**: Yield: 72.9 mg, 80%; white solid, mp 181.0 – 183.0 °C; $R_f = 0.3$ (EA/PE = 1/10); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 11.61 (s, 1H), 9.43 (d, J = 7.8 Hz, 1H), 8.48 (dd, J = 8.1, 0.7 Hz, 1H), 8.35 – 8.22 (comp, 2H), 7.87 – 7.79 (m, 1H), 7.74 – 7.62 (comp, 4H), 7.59 (d, J = 5.6 Hz, 1H), 4.52 (q, J = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 1.46 (s, 9H), 1.36 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 171.4 (s), 160.0 (s), 152.8 (s), 150.4 (s), 142.0 (s), 138.1 (s), 137.0 (s), 135.4 (s), 133.5 (s), 130.5 (d), 129.0 (d), 128.6 (d, 2C), 127.9 (d), 126.3 (d), 125.8 (d, 2C), 125.5 (s), 125.4 (d), 124.0 (d), 118.4 (s), 102.0 (s), 62.0 (t), 35.0 (s), 31.5 (q, 3C), 14.2 (q); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 3093.27$, 3072.05, 2988.24, 2957.59, 2924.44, 2900.81, 2864.80, 1651.29, 1588.49, 1495.78, 1467.45, 1412.09, 1364.13, 1300.29, 1285.78, 1263.80, 1226.72, 1197.80, 1174.43, 1160.83, 1144.56, 1118.59, 1097.72, 1080.46, 1028.73, 967.31, 924.57, 878.44, 855.94, 844.37, 829.13, 791.57, 773.53, 765.25, 742.97, 717.31, 673.83, 663.11, 653.71, 630.08 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) [M+H]⁺ C₂₈H₂₆NO₃S calcd for 456.1628, found 456.1631.



Compound **40**: Yield: 73.9 mg, 86%; white solid, mp 154.0 – 156.0 °C; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/10); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 11.59 (s, 1H), 9.40 (d, J = 8.1 Hz, 1H), 8.46 (d, J = 8.1 Hz, 1H), 8.29 (d, J = 8.7 Hz, 2H), 7.82 (t, J = 7.3 Hz, 1H),

7.70 (d, J = 7.3 Hz, 1H), 7.65 (d, J = 5.6 Hz, 1H), 7.56 (d, J = 5.6 Hz, 1H), 7.13 (d, J = 8.7 Hz, 2H), 4.51 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 3.93 (s, 3H), 1.34 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 171.4 (s), 160.8 (s), 159.8 (s), 150.0 (s), 142.0 (s), 138.0 (s), 135.3 (s), 133.2 (s), 132.4 (s), 130.4 (d), 130.2 (d, 2C), 128.9 (d), 127.8 (d), 126.4 (d), 125.5 (s), 125.3 (d), 124.0 (d), 118.2 (s), 114.2 (d, 2C), 102.0 (s), 62.0 (t), 55.5 (q), 14.1 (q); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 3082.59$, 2961.36, 2928.93, 2834.54, 1754.19, 1650.22, 1605.72, 1584.81, 1561.68, 1539.70, 1511.46, 1494.04, 1471.78, 1456.76, 1440.94, 1409.36, 1373.02, 1345.96, 1326.84, 1308.71, 1292.53, 1231.12, 1182.83, 1171.46, 1116.93, 1099.09, 1081.96, 1027.79, 963.09, 891.03, 875.67, 847.55, 836.14, 787.05, 760.95, 716.27, 695.69, 661.08, 634.96, 624.47 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) [M+H]⁺ C₂₅H₂₀NO₄S calcd for 430.1108, found 430.1126.



Compound **41**: Yield: 70.1 mg, 90%; white solid, mp 145.0 – 147.0 °C; $R_f = 0.3$ (EA/PE = 1/10); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 11.55 (s, 1H), 9.38 (d, J = 8.1 Hz, 1H), 8.48 (d, J = 8.1 Hz, 1H), 8.40 (s, 1H), 7.89 – 7.82 (m, 1H), 7.75 – 7.68 (comp, 2H), 7.67 – 7.63 (m, 1H), 7.63 – 7.57 (m, 1H), 7.53 – 7.41 (m, 1H), 4.51 (q, J = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 1.33 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 171.4 (s), 159.9 (s), 143.7 (d), 143.5 (s), 142.7 (d), 141.6 (s), 138.0 (s), 135.2 (s), 132.6 (s), 130.6 (d), 128.2 (d), 128.0 (d), 127.0 (s), 126.5 (d), 125.6 (s), 125.3 (d), 124.1 (d), 118.5 (s), 110.3 (d), 102.1 (s), 62.0 (t), 14.2 (q); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 3139.07$, 2984.18, 2924.96, 2853.33, 1659.35, 1586.57, 1519.22, 1497.59, 1477.65, 1446.20, 1401.66, 1370.26, 1341.21, 1307.08, 1263.75, 1221.28, 1193.64, 1159.39, 1120.78, 1090.74, 1074.79, 1034.73, 987.93, 921.16, 866.54, 830.89, 807.70, 760.59, 710.64, 658.53, 638.90 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) [M+H]⁺ C₂₂H₁₆NO₄S calcd for 390.0795, found 390.0801.



Compound 42: Yield: 68.1 mg, 84%; white solid, mp 154.0 – 156.0 °C; $R_f = 0.3$

(EA/PE = 1/10); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 11.59 (s, 1H), 9.41 (d, J = 8.1 Hz, 1H), 8.49 (dd, J = 8.1, 0.8 Hz, 1H), 8.29 (dd, J = 2.9, 1.2 Hz, 1H), 8.18 (dd, J = 5.1, 1.2 Hz, 1H), 7.90 – 7.82 (m, 1H), 7.80 – 7.66 (comp, 2H), 7.61 (d, J = 5.6 Hz, 1H), 7.54 (dd, J = 5.0, 2.9 Hz, 1H), 4.52 (q, J = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 1.34 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (125 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 171.4 (s), 160.0 (s), 145.8 (s), 142.0 (s), 141.8 (s), 137.8 (s), 135.1 (s), 132.9 (s), 130.6 (d), 128.8 (d), 128.4 (d), 128.0 (d), 126.4 (d), 126.1 (d), 125.7 (d), 125.6 (s), 125.3 (d), 124.1 (d), 118.5 (s), 102.0 (s), 62.1 (t), 14.2 (q); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 3113.96$, 3092.68, 2984.22, 2922.48, 2853.03, 1649.48, 1589.18, 1563.18, 1542.84, 1497.07, 1476.16, 1403.51, 1370.15, 1321.29, 1297.03, 1259.21, 1229.80, 1204.21, 1168.83, 1140.51, 1098.92, 1082.31, 1032.04, 971.34, 907.58, 883.35, 862.59, 843.29, 829.99, 767.21, 754.81, 710.20, 697.17, 659.14, 639.23 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) [M+H]⁺ C₂₂H₁₆NO₃S₂ calcd for 406.0566, found 406.0573.



Compound **43**: Yield: 74.0 mg, 89%; thick liquid; $R_f = 0.5$ (EA/PE = 1/10); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, DMSO) δ (ppm) (s, 1H), 9.99 (br, 1H), 9.53 – 9.23 (m, 1H), 8.42 (d, J = 7.6 Hz, 1H), 8.25 (d, J = 5.6 Hz, 1H), 8.15 (d, J = 8.6 Hz, 2H), 7.91 – 7.76 (m, 2H), 7.72 (d, J = 5.6 Hz, 1H), 7.07 (d, J = 8.6 Hz, 2H), 4.56 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 1.38 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, DMSO) δ (ppm) 169.1 (s), 158.9 (s), 150.0 (s), 149.4 (s), 140.0 (s), 136.9 (s), 132.7 (s), 132.6 (s), 132.3 (d), 130.2 (s), 129.8 (d, 2C), 128.4 (d), 127.6 (d), 126.90 (s), 125.0 (d), 123.1 (d), 122.7 (d), 117.4 (s), 115.6 (d, 2C), 111.1 (s), 61.6 (t), 13.9 (q); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 2256.61$, 2126.80, 1719.62, 1649.81, 1609.84, 1588.68, 1541.63, 1519.36, 1496.82, 1471.59, 1445.28, 1409.79, 1372.23, 1308.85, 1277.04, 1233.06, 1171.45, 1097.45, 1026.55, 1003.56, 880.14, 842.78, 767.54, 663.85, 632.65 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) [M+H]⁺ C₂₄H₁₈NO4S calcd for 416.0951, found 416.0951.



Compound **44**: Yield: 75.8 mg, 86%; white solid; $R_f = 0.3$ (EA/PE = 1/10); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 11.59 (s, 1H), 9.34 (d, J = 8.1 Hz, 1H), 8.44 (d, J = 8.1 Hz, 1H), 8.30 (d, J = 8.5 Hz, 2H), 7.85 – 7.77 (m, 1H), 7.71 – 7.63 (m, 2H), 7.56 (d, J = 5.6 Hz, 1H), 7.22 (d, J = 8.5 Hz, 2H), 4.49 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 1.32 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 171.3 (s), 160.2 (s), 149.2 (s), 142.1 (s), 141.3 (s), 138.0 (s), 136.5 (s), 135.2 (s), 133.2 (s), 130.6 (d), 130.3 (d, 2C), 129.0 (d), 128.0 (d), 126.5 (d), 125.6 (s), 125.2 (d), 124.1 (d), 119.4 (d, 2C), 118.6 (s), 101.92 (s), 62.0 (t), 14.2 (q); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 2980.56$, 2122.69, 2083.15, 1648.97, 1587.62, 1562.95, 1541.68, 1497.20, 1469.98, 1441.91, 1411.66, 1371.57, 1344.45, 1326.27, 1292.51, 1260.78, 1228.54, 1173.32, 1156.65, 1142.58, 1112.68, 1097.61, 1029.07, 1012.81, 960.75, 921.81, 879.03, 840.34, 832.08, 806.18, 789.88, 760.23, 744.27, 730.45, 714.35, 690.14, 672.15, 658.74, 636.99, 628.30 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) [M+H]⁺ C₂₄H₁₇N₄O₃S⁺ calcd for 441.1016, found 441.1017.



Compound **45**: Yield: 69.2 mg, 77%; thick liquid; $R_f = 0.3$ (EA/PE = 1/10); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 11.65 (s, 1H), 9.46 (d, J = 8.1 Hz, 1H), 8.77 (s, 1H), 8.60 – 8.40 (comp, 2H), 8.07 (d, J = 8.6 Hz, 1H), 8.05 – 7.99 (m, 1H), 7.99 – 7.92 (m, 1H), 7.90 – 7.82 (m, 1H), 7.77 – 7.66 (comp, 2H), 7.64 – 7.51 (comp, 3H), 4.53 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 1.36 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 171.4 (s), 160.2 (s), 150.3 (s), 142.1 (s), 138.1 (s), 137.2 (s), 135.3 (s), 134.0 (s), 133.8 (s), 133.4 (s), 130.6 (d), 129.1 (d), 128.7 (d), 128.6 (d), 128.3 (d), 127.9 (d, 2C), 126.9 (d), 126.5 (d, 2C), 126.5 (d), 125.6 (s), 125.3 (d), 124.1 (d), 118.6 (s), 102.0 (s), 62.0 (t), 14.2 (q); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 3455.08$, 3063.31, 2975.68, 2936.09, 2873.77, 1757.75, 1694.50, 1598.61, 1543.97, 1482.34, 1456.70, 1411.84, 1366.91, 1330.50, 1289.58,

1233.32, 1192.34, 1167.65, 1153.05, 1140.00, 1096.41, 1054.45, 1023.43, 966.37, 934.89, 899.35, 861.39, 828.48, 773.31, 753.79, 706.86, 645.34 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) $[M+K]^+ C_{28}H_{19}KNO_3S$ calcd for 488.0717, found 488.0934.



Compound **46**: Yield: 76.4 mg, 85%; thick liquid; $R_f = 0.3$ (EA/PE = 1/10); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 11.65 (s, 1H), 9.33 (dd, J = 8.1, 0.9 Hz, 1H), 8.53 (dd, J = 8.1, 0.9 Hz, 1H), 8.22 (d, J = 8.5 Hz, 1H), 8.07 – 7.98 (comp, 3H), 7.79 (ddd, J = 8.2, 6.9, 1.5 Hz, 1H), 7.74 – 7.69 (m, 1H), 7.69 – 7.62 (comp, 3H), 7.56 (ddd, J = 8.2, 6.9, 1.2 Hz, 1H), 7.46 (ddd, J = 8.2, 6.9, 1.2 Hz, 1H), 4.57 (q, J = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 1.40 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 171.4 (s), 160.1 (s), 151.0 (s), 141.6 (s), 138.2 (s), 137.2 (s), 136.7 (s), 135.5 (s), 134.3 (s), 131.7 (s), 130.7 (d), 129.8 (d), 129.4 (d), 128.5 (d), 128.0 (d), 127.7 (d), 126.5 (d), 126.28 (d, 2C), 126.26 (d), 125.5 (d), 125.3 (d), 124.0 (d), 118.7 (s), 102.1 (s), 62.1 (t), 14.2 (q); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 2977.05$, 2934.74, 2872.42, 1755.19, 1693.70, 1653.34, 1587.50, 1543.95, 1508.72, 1496.74, 1457.94, 1406.18, 1370.75, 1351.31, 1304.26, 1289.61, 1230.45, 1160.67, 1094.27, 1050.97, 1025.83, 935.41, 910.18, 830.39, 801.99, 777.79, 736.90, 706.30, 666.69, 641.71 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) [M+H]⁺ C₂₈H₁₉NO₃S calcd for 448.1013, found 448.1015.



Compound **47**: Yield: 78.8 mg, 88%; white solid, mp 137.0 – 138.0 °C; $R_f = 0.3$ (EA/PE = 1/10); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 11.15 (s, 1H), 9.27 – 9.15 (m, 1H), 8.52 – 8.40 (m, 1H), 8.00 – 7.93 (commp, 2H), 7.74 – 7.58 (comp, 5H), 7.52 (ddd, J = 8.1, 6.8, 1.2 Hz, 1H), 7.41 (ddd, J = 8.1, 6.8, 1.2 Hz, 1H), 4.55 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 2.99 (t, J = 5.1 Hz, 2H), 2.73 – 2.45 (m, 2H), 1.81 – 1.64 (comp, 4H), 1.46 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 170.4 (s), 161.4 (s), 171.5 (s), 159.3 (s), 155.8 (s), 143.8 (s), 140.2 (s), 139.0 (s), 135.2 (s), 133.9 (s), 132.0 (s),

131.0 (s), 130.3 (d), 128.5 (d), 128.3 (d), 128.1 (d), 127.0 (d), 126.3 (d), 125.9 (d), 125.7 (s), 125.6 (d), 125.2 (d), 123.8 (d), 122.9 (s), 102.2 (s), 62.0 (t), 30.5 (t), 26.5 (t), 22.5 (t), 22.3 (t), 14.4 (q); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 2939.05$, 2863.36, 1650.02, 1586.77, 1568.48, 1498.73, 1445.30, 1403.10, 1373.14, 1311.07, 1231.54, 1206.43, 1158.31, 1095.43, 1016.03, 962.74, 909.17, 882.91, 856.55, 802.14, 781.67, 769.01, 751.03, 725.86, 686.35, 657.83, 636.37, 615.71 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) [M+H]⁺ C₃₀H₂₆NO₃ calcd for 448.1907, found 448.1904.



Compound 48: The desired product was isolated as a mixture of two diastereoisomers Yield: 80.0 mg, 81%; white solid, mp > 350 °C; $R_f = 0.3$ (EA/PE = 1/10); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, Cl₂CDCDCl₂) δ (ppm) with two isomers: 12.33 (s, 1H), 9.48 – 9.31 (m, 1H), 8.94 - 8.83 (m, 1H), 8.74 - 8.64 (m, 1H), 8.17 - 8.07 (comp, 2H), 8.01 - 7.95 (m, 1H), 7.92 – 7.58 (comp, 10H), 7.46 – 7.37 (m, 1H), 3.96 – 3.75 (m, 1H), 3.64 – 3.42 (m, 1H), 0.62 - 0.30 (m, 3H); ¹³C NMR (150 MHz, Cl₂CDCDCl₂) δ (ppm) with two isomers: 171.3 (s), 159.8 (s), 156.0 (s) and 155.7 (s), 138.7 (s), 137.3 (s) and 137.2 (s), 134.49 (s) and 134.48 (s), [133.6 - 125.1 combined with 35 peaks] 133.6 (s), 133.4 (s), 132.6 (s), 132.48 (s), 132.46 (s), 132.3 (s), 132.2 (s), 131.2 (s), 131.1 (s), 130.6 (d), 130.5 (d), 128.73 (d), 128.70 (d), 128.3 (d), 128.2 (d), 128.12 (d), 128.08 (d), 128.06 (d), 127.8 (d), 127.7 (d), 126.5 (d), 126.4 (d), 126.3 (d), 126.2 (d), 126.1 (d), 125.99 (d), 125.95 (d), 125.61 (s), 125.59 (s), 125.5 (d), 125.4 (s), 125.3 (s), 125.21 (d), 125.15 (d), 125.1 (d), 124.02 (d) and 124.01 (d), 123.91 (d), 117.8 (s) and 117.7 (s), 103.6 (s) and 103.8 (s), 61.6 (t) and 61.5 (t), 12.6 (q).; IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 3404.81$, 3061.60, 2927.57, 2257.22, 2127.88, 1719.00, 1649.81, 1616.95, 1586.39, 1567.40, 1497.42, 1467.64, 1443.48, 1404.91, 1370.27, 1322.54, 1303.84, 1269.31, 1236.96, 1202.10, 1162.15, 1119.72, 1100.83, 1055.37, 1024.20, 856.40, 833.98, 774.23, 734.72, 696.03, 662.23, 633.77 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) [M+H]⁺ C₃₄H₂₄NO₃ calcd for 494.1751, found 494.1744.



Compound **49**: Yield: 72.1 mg, 73%; white solid, mp 125.0 – 126.0 °C; $R_f = 0.3$ (EA/PE = 1/10); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 11.65 (s, 1H), 9.09 – 8.94 (m, 1H), 8.40 – 8.30 (m, 1H), 7.90 – 7.78 (comp, 3H), 7.74 – 7.63 (comp, 3H), 7.58 – 7.40 (comp, 5H), 7.36 – 7.29 (m, 1H), 7.24 – 7.10 (comp, 2H), 6.87 – 6.73 (m, 1H), 4.27 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 1.06 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 172.1 (s), 160.8 (s), 154.7 (s), 142.2 (s), 137.5 (s), 134.6 (s), 134.4 (s), 134.0 (s), 132.7 (s), 131.8 (s), 130.7 (d), 129.5 (s), 129.1 (d), 128.6 (d), 128.4 (d), 128.3 (d), 128.2 (d), 127.7 (d), 127.2 (d), 126.6 (d), 126.5 (d), 126.3 (d), 126.3 (d), 126.2 (d), 126.1 (d), 126.0 (d), 125.3 (d), 124.2 (s), 124.1 (d), 119.5 (s), 101.6 (s), 61.9 (t), 14.1 (q); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 3054.31$, 2971.76, 2931.51, 1729.90, 1650.36, 1586.06, 1509.86, 1446.10, 1403.59, 1370.47, 1322.44, 1293.75, 1271.50, 1235.01, 1159.83, 118.05, 1104.79, 1018.91, 985.55, 836.60, 806.40, 777.14, 738.06, 696.57, 669.93, 636.57 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) [M+H]⁺ C₃₄H₂₄NO₃ calcd for 494.1751, found 494.1746.

2.6.8 Single-crystal X-ray diffraction of 19



Datablock: cz8

Bond precision:	C-C = 0.0030 A	Wavelength=0.71073				
Cell:	a=10.1686(10) alpha=90	b=13.3227 beta=90.32	(13) 29(2)	c=13.8293(14) gamma=90		
Temperature:	200 K			-		
	Calculated		Reported			
Volume	1873.5(3)		1873.5(3)			
Space group	P 21/n		P 21/n			
Hall group	-P 2yn		-P 2yn			
Moiety formula	C22 H21 N O3 S		?			
Sum formula	C22 H21 N O3 S		C22 H21 N	03 S		
Mr	379.46		379.46			
Dx,g cm-3	1.345		1.345			
Z	4		4			
Mu (mm-1)	0.195		0.195			
F000	800.0		800.0			
F000′	800.84					
h,k,lmax	13,17,17		13,17,17			
Nref	4296		4177			
Tmin,Tmax	0.978,0.992		0.898,0.9	59		
Tmin'	0.971					
Correction method= # Reported T Limits: Tmin=0.898 Tmax=0.959 AbsCorr = MULTI-SCAN						
Data completeness= 0.972 Theta(max) = 27.482						
R(reflections) =	0.0459(2937)	wR2(refl	ections)=	0.1169(4177)		
S = 1.026	Npar=	252				

The following ALERTS were generated. Each ALERT has the format test-name_ALERT_alert-type_alert-level. Click on the hyperlinks for more details of the test.

2.6.9 References

[1] C. Zhang, K. Hong, S. Dong, C. Pei, X. Zhang, C. He, W. Hu, X. Xu, *iScience* 2019, 21, 499–508.

[2] J. Wang, H.-T. Zhu, Y.-X. Li, L.-J. Wang, Y.-F. Qiu, Z.-H. Qiu, M.-J. Zhong, X.-Y. Liu, Y.-M. Liang, *Org. Lett.* **2014**, *16*, 2236 – 2239.

Chapter 3: Et₃N(HF)₃-Controlled Regioselective Carbo-Hydroxylations of Diazo-tethered Alkynes by Gold Catalysis

3.1 Introduction

Over the past two decades, gold-catalyzed alkyne transformations have been extensively applied for the construction of carbon–carbon and carbon–heteroatom bonds in chemical synthesis.^[1] In this direction, considerable effort has been devoted to the development of hydroxylation reactions that deliver valuable carbonyl compounds from alkynes.^[2] To date, a number of reports in improving reaction efficiency and selectivity by using either ligands coordinated to the metal center or external acids have been disclosed.^[3] By comparison, the arguably more compelling site-selective variants, which can furnish each member capable of functionalizing a specific site in a particular substrate, are discernibly less established.^[4]

Vinyl-carbene species are prominent intermediates for organic reactions.^[5] Their dipolar nature makes them susceptible to nucleophilic addition in carbene or vinylogous position (Scheme 1a).^[6] Quinone diazides have been used to prepare quinoid carbene by transition metal-catalyzed diazo decomposition,^[7] but those substrates are in general potential explosives, and sensitive to heat, light, and shock (Scheme 1b, left).^[7a] Very recently, Xu and our group have cooperatively developed a practical and efficient synthesis of the quinoid-carbene species via a gold-triggered 6-*endo-dig* diazo-yne carbocyclization.^[8] This strategy would render diazo-tethered alkynes equivalent to quinone diazides in accessing quinoid carbene chemistry (Scheme 1b, right), as a result, readily available diazo-tethered alkynes could serve as direct substrates. Inspired by these advances, we hypothesized that the quinoid-carbene intermediate could undergo a Michael reaction with an external donor that delivers the corresponding on-ring carbene for subsequent transformations.

(a) Selective insertions of vinyl-carbene species



(b) Quinoid-carbene precursors



(d) This work: Et₃N(HF)₃ switches the carbohydroxylation of diazo-ynes



Scheme 1. Catalytic metal carbene insertions.

A key challenge to realise this pathway, is finding a catalytic system capable of the selective vinylogous position rather than direct carbene insertions.^[7, 8b] Here, we report our discovery and development of the Et₃N(HF)₃-controlled divergent, chemoselective carbohydroxylations of diazo-tethered alkynes, where the regioselectivity would not rely on the inherent reactivity features of the substrates(Scheme 1c). Moreover, a toolbox of additives could be employed in each member capable of functionalizing a specific site in a particular substrate.

3.2 Results and Discussion

3.2.1 Optimization of the Reaction Conditions

On the basis of this vision, the feasibility of an acid-controlled selectivity switch was initially evaluated by examining the effect of exogenous acids on gold-catalyzed carbohydroxylations of the tethered diazo alkyne **1a** (Table 1), which has already been used for the construction of cyclic molecules with high structural complexity in the presence of rhodium or gold catalysts, respectively.^[9] Indeed, an experiment in which 1a and water were mixed with the gold catalyst at 50 °C showed no evidence of a reaction diversity (entry 1) and only the normal product 3a (derived from the attack of the nucleophilic center onto the activated alkyne, path X) was obtained. But when the same reaction was carried out in the presence of various Brønsted acidic additives, besides the formation of trivial product 3a, the formation of a regioisomeric cycloadduct 2a in low to good yields was isolated depending on the applied acid (entries 2 to 6). [Et₃N(HF)₃] turned out to be the best choice, which delivered 2a in a very good yield of 87% and almost perfect regioselectivity. In contrast, with Lewis acids, such as Sc(OTf)₃, Y(OTf)₃, Yb(OTf)₃, La(OTf)₃, and Zn(OTf)₂, only trace product 2a was observed, and most of the starting material was transferred into trivial product 3a, arising from the direct diazo/alkyne cascade and subsequent O-H insertion (entry 7). Upon omission of the catalyst or "HF", no transformation was observed (entry 8 and 9). Control experiments indicated that 1a decomposed when strong acid was used in the reaction (entry 10). Other ligands in combination with [Et₃N(HF)₃] were screened next. Notably, the use of PPh₃ as the ligand instead of JohnPhos, resulted in no product formation and complete recovery of the substrate 1a (entry 11) was possible. The IPr ligand was less efficient and only 48% of product 2a were obtained (entry 12). Other transition metal catalysts involving Cu^{II}-, Ag^I-, Rh^{II}and Pd⁰-complexes, predominantly underwent intramolecular [3+2] cycloaddition to deliver the indenofuranone 5a (entry 13).^{15a,15b[9]} While DCE was found to be the optimal solvent for the reaction, the carbohydroxylation proceeded with a slightly lower yield of 73% in chloroform-d, which is commonly used in control experiments (entry 14).

As a next step, we sought to understand the concentrated influence of $Et_3N(HF)_3$ as additive on the regioselectivity. NMR tube experiments were conducted to qualitatively evaluate the dependency of the selectivity on the concentration of this acid (Scheme 2). By increasing the amount of $Et_3N(HF)_3$, the amount of the cascade product **3a** decreased, and it disappeared at about 1 equivalent of $Et_3N(HF)_3$. At the same time, the amount of regioisomer **2a** kept increasing, with a good selectivity being observed for more than 2 equivalents of $Et_3N(HF)_3$. From these screens, 3 equivalents of $Et_3N(HF)_3$ turned out to be optimal to selectively deliver **2a** in high yield.

	$\begin{array}{c} D & H_2O \\ CO_2Et & [Au] (5 \\ N_2 & DCE, 50 \\ \hline Ph \end{array}$	(5 eq) 6 mol%) (3 eq) 0 °C, 6 h Ph	OH CO ₂ E Ph OH	et +	CO ₂ Et +	O O O Et O Ph
1a		2a	3a	4a	a	5a
entry	acid	note	2a (%) ^b	3a (%) ^b	4a (%) ^b	5a (%) ^b
1	None	_	0	83	0	0
2	Py(HF)x	_	<5	63	0	0
3	Py(TsOH)	_	11	64	0	0
4	$Et_3N(H_2SO_4)$	—	19	71	0	0
5	$Et_3N(H_3PO_4)$	—	38	25	0	0
6	Et ₃ N(HF) ₃	—	87	<5	0	0
7 ^c	Lewis acid	Sc(OTf) ₃ , Y(OTf) ₃ , Yb(OTf) ₃ , La(OTf) ₃ , Zn(OTf) ₂	<10	40-81	0	0
8 ^{<i>d</i>}	Et ₃ N(HF) ₃	No catalyst	0	0	0	0
9^d	Et ₃ N	—	0	0	0	0
10 ^e	TfOH	No catalyst	0	0	54	0
11 <i>^d</i>	Et ₃ N(HF) ₃	PPh ₃ instead of JohnPhos	<5	<5	0	0
12	Et ₃ N(HF) ₃	IPr instead of JohnPhos	48	<5	0	0
13 ^c	Et ₃ N(HF) ₃	$Cu(OTf)_2$, AgSbF ₆ , Rh ₂ (OAc) ₄ , Pd ₂ (dba) ₃ instead of [Au]	<5	0	0	75-95
14	$Et_3N(HF)_3$	CDCl ₃ as solvent	73	<5	0	0

Table 1: Optimization of Reaction Conditions^[a]

[*a*] Reaction conditions: to a solution of catalyst (0.005 mmol) in DCE (0.25 mL), was added the solution of **1a** (32.0 mg, 0.1 mmol), H₂O (9.0 uL, 0.5 mmol), and acid (0.3 mmol) in DCE (0.25 mL) at room temperature, and the reaction mixture was stirred for 6 hours at 50 °C. [*b*] Yields were determined by proton NMR analysis using mesitylene as internal standard. [*c*] See Table S1 in SI for more details. [*d*] Most of **1a** was recovered. [Au] = JohnPhosAu(CH₃CN)SbF₆.



Scheme 2. Plot of the acid concentration vs the reaction yield of 2a and 3a.

3.2.2 Substrate Scope

Next, the scope of the transformation was investigated, beginning with the examination in the presence of 3 equivalents of Et₃N(HF)₃. As summarized on the left side of Scheme 3, a series of fluorine substituents on the aromatic ring (Ar) were well tolerated, delivering the cyclized products 2b-2e in moderate to high yields (83%–93%). Electron-rich (2f, 2g), electron-neutral (2a) and electron-poor (2b–2e) aryl linkers (Ar) were also applicable to this transformation without a noticeable yield deterioration. Going further, substrates with para-, meta-, and ortho-substituents on the phenyl substituent on the alkyne underwent reactions in good yields (2h-2j). An electron-donating group on the phenyl substituent (2k) showed higher reactivity than in the case of a substitution with an electron-withdrawing group (21), presumably because of the weaker coordination of electron-deficient alkynes with a gold(I) catalyst. Naphthyl (2m, 2n) and heteroaryl (2o) groups were also easily accommodated using this protocol. Substitution of the alkenyl moiety was tolerated (2p) as long as this substituent did not interfere with the putative gold-activated alkyne for nucleophilic addition. The introduction of alkyl groups and even a strained ring to the diazo-tethered alkyne were compatible under *condition* A (2q-2t). However, the same substrates with alkyl substituents showed no reactivity in the absence of the additive (see section below, condition B). Notably, product 2t a core structure for the preparation of anti-HCV drugs was easily synthesized by our current method in 91% yield.^[10]

The corresponding cyclization/insertion via the nucleophilic attack onto the alkyne in the absence of an additive (*condition B*) is shown on the right section of Scheme 3. In general, the electronic nature or positions of the substituents on the aromatic ring did not significantly affect the efficiency of the reaction, all substrates generated the corresponding *para*-dinaphthols as single regioisomers (**3a**–**3l**). Specifically, when the aryl linker was combined with a fluorine substituent, we not only discovered the desired product **3d** in 61% yield, but also detected naphthoquinone **3d'** in 29% yield. A control experiment suggested that the oxidation product in this methodology was derived from the dehydrogenation of the target product **3d**. Gratifyingly, this transformation tolerated naphthyl (**3m**, **3n**), heterocyclic (**3o**), and alkenyl (**3p**) groups as well. Besides, gram-scale reactions were carried out under both *condition A* and *condition B*, affording **2a** and **3k** in 90% and 82% yield, respectively. The structures of products **2k** and **3j** were unambiguously confirmed by single-crystal X-ray analysis.^[11]



Scheme 3. Regioselective carbohydroxylation. Reaction conditions: to a solution of JohnPhosAu(CH₃CN)SbF₆ (7.7 mg, 0.01 mmol) in DCE (0.5 mL), was added the solution of 1 (0.2 mmol), H₂O (18.0 uL, 1.0 mmol), and Et₃N(HF)₃ (98.0 uL, 0.6 mmol, for *condition A*; *condition B* without Et₃N(HF)) in DCE (0.5 mL) at 50 °C, and the reaction mixture was stirred for 6.0 hours to give isolated yield. [a] The reaction was conducted on a 4.0-mmol scale.

3.2.3 Application

A triflate group as an excellent leaving group was extensively applied in palladium-catalyzed cross-coupling reactions. As showed in Scheme 4, this module **6** was readily established by the trifluoromethanesulfonation of the product **2a**. Facile manipulation of this unit **6** undergoes a Sonogashira coupling reaction with 4-ethynylanisole to deliver the dialkynyl product **7** in high yield. When the Tf-protected substrate **6** was employed to react with 4-anisylboronic acid or 1-naphthylboronic acid at 60 °C for 2 hours, Suzuki coupling reactions can provide the monoaryl-functionalized products **8**; the biarylations of the building block were easily achieved in high yield at elevated temperature overnight. Moreover, the monoaryl product **9a** could react with an alkyne again to provide the cross-coupling product **10a**. On the other hand, trifluoromethanesulfonation of the product **3k** with trifluoromethanesulfonic anhydride, followed by a Suzuki coupling reaction, delivered the ternaphthalene **11** in a total 89% yield for the two steps. This tri-naphthalene then underwent an acid-promoted F-C type cyclization to give the polycyclic hydrocarbon **12** in 87% yield.



Scheme 4. Applications in coupling reaction.

3.3 Mechanistic study

Based on the reported literature,^[8,9c,12] two distinct mechanisms are proposed to explain the chemo- and regioselectivity in the Au(I)-catalyzed carbohydroxylation of diazo-tethered alkynes (Scheme 6). In both cases, the gold(I) catalyst coordinates the alkyne to form a gold π -complex **A**, followed by an intramolecular nucleophilic addition of diazo-carbon onto the activated-alkyne and subsequent loss of N_2 to produce the carbene species **B**. An oxidative experiment of the substrate **1d** in the presence of diphenylsulfoxide affords the naphthoquinone product **3d**', which also give the certification of the intermediate **B** (Scheme 5). And the direct carbene insertion with carbene give the desired product **2a** under additive-free conditions (path a). For the Et₃N(HF)₃ system (path b), the quinoid-carbene species exposed in Brønsted acid undergoes a Michael addition with water to generate the intermediate **D**, followed by a 1,2-phenyl migration to generate the desired product **3a** and to turn over the Au-cycle.

a) Oxidation of gold-carbenoid species via Ph₂SO.



b) Trapping in excess Et₃N(HF)_{3.}



Scheme 5. Control experiments. a) Oxidation of a gold carbene species with diphenylsulfoxide; b) Trapping experiment with excess $Et_3N(HF)_3$.



Scheme 6. Proposed mechanism.

3.4 Conclusions

We have developed an unprecedented dichotomy in the regioselectivity of carbohydroxylation of diazo-tethered alkynes was observed. The gold-catalyzed 6-*endo-dig* cyclization leads to the quinoid-carbene species, terminated by direct O-H insertion under additive-free conditions, while reactions in the presence of Et₃N(HF)₃ undergo an O-H *ortho*-insertion of carbene/rearrangement to give the dihydroxynaphthalene isomers as the major products. Mechanistic studies indicate that the additive acid promotes a Michael addition of the quinoid-carbene species by protonation of para-carbonyl group. This protocol complements the carbene insertion strategies from the view of chemo- and regioselectivity.

3.5 References

[1] Representative reviews, see a) A. S. K. Hashmi, G. J. Hutchings, Angew. Chem.
2006, 118, 8064-8105; Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2006, 45, 7896-7936; b) A. S. K. Hashmi, Chem. Rev. 2007, 107, 3180-3211; c) D. J. Gorin, F. D. Toste, Nature 2007, 446, 395-403; d) Z. Li, C. Brouwer, C. He, Chem. Rev. 2008, 108, 3239-3265; e) A. S. K. Hashmi, M. Rudolph, Chem. Soc. Rev., 2008, 37, 1766-1775; f) A. Fürstner, Chem. Soc. Rev. 2009, 38, 3208-3221; g) L. Zhang, Acc. Chem. Res. 2014, 47, 877-888; h) L. Fensterbank, M. Malacria, Acc. Chem. Res. 2014, 47, 953-965; i) R. Dorel, A. M. Echavarren, Chem. Rev. 2015, 115, 9028-9072; j) D. Pflästerer, A. S. K. Hashmi, Chem. Soc. Rev. 2016, 45, 1331-1367.

[2] a) Y. Fukuda, K. Utimoto, H. Nozaki, *Heterocycles* 1987, 25, 297-300; b) Y.
Fukuda, K. Utimoto, *Synthesis* 1991, 975-978; c) J. H. Teles, S. Brode, M. Chabanas, *Angew. Chem.* 1998, 110, 1475–1478; *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* 1998, 37, 1415-1418; d)
L. Hintermann, A. Labonne, *Synthesis* 2007, 1121–1150.

[3] a) E. Mizushima, K. Sato, T. Hayashi, M. Tanaka, Angew. Chem. 2002, 114,

4745–4747; Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. **2002**, 41, 4563-4565; b) N. Marion, R. S. Ramón, S. P. Nolan, J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2009**, 131, 448–449; c) A. Leyva, A. Corma, J. Org. Chem. **2009**, 74, 2067–2074; d) A. Almassy, C. E. Nagy, A. C. Benyei, F. Joo, Organometallics **2010**, 29, 2484–2490; e) A. S. K. Hashmi, T. Hengst, C. Lothutz, F. Rominger, Adv. Synth. Catal. **2010**, 352, 1315–1337; f) D. Wang, R. Cai, S. Sharma, J. Jirak, S. K. Thummanapelli, N. G. Akhmedov, H. Zhang, X. Liu, J. L. Petersen, X. Shi, J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2012**, 134, 9012–9019; g) W. Wang, A. Zheng, P. Zhao, C. Xia, F. Li, ACS Catal. **2014**, 4, 321–327; h) Y. Xu, X. Hu, J. J. Shao, G. Yang, Y. Wu, Z. Zhang, Green Chem. **2015**, 17, 532–537; i) M. Gatto, P. Belanzoni, L. Belpassi, L. Biasiolo, A. Del Zotto, F. Tarantelli, D. Zuccaccia, ACS Catal. **2016**, 6, 7363–7376.

[4] a) A. Cavarzan, A. Scarso, P. Sgarbossa, G. Strukul, J. N. H. Reek, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2011, 133, 2848–2851; b) N. Ghosh, S. Nayak, A. K. Sahoo, J. Org. Chem. 2011, 76, 500–511; c) L. Li, S. B. Herzon, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2012, 134, 17376–17379.

[5] a) J. H. Hansen, H. M. L. Davies, *Chem. Sci.* 2011, 2, 457-461; b) H. M. L. Davies,
Y. Yokota, *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2000, 41, 4851-4854; c) Y. Yue, Y. Wang, W. Hu, *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2007, 48, 3975–3977.

[6] X. Xu, P.Y. Zavalij, M. P. Doyle, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2012, 51, 9829–9833;
Angew. Chem. 2012, 124, 9967–9971; Y. Lian, H. M. L. Davies, J. Am. Chem. Soc.
2010, 132, 440–441.

[7] recent works: a) H. T. Dao, P. S. Baran, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2014, 53, 14382–14386; Angew. Chem. 2014, 126, 14610–14614; b) S.-S. Zhang, C.-Y. Jiang, J.-Q. Wu, X.-G. Liu, Q. Li, Z.-S. Huang, D. Li, H. Wang, Chem. Commun. 2015, 51, 10240-10243; c) D. Das, P. Poddar, S. Maity, R. Samanta, J. Org. Chem. 2017, 82, 3612–3621; d) K. Wu, B. Cao, C.-Y. Zhou, C.-M. Che, Chem. Eur. J. 2018, 24, 4815–4819; e) H.-X. Wang, Q. Wan, K. Wu, K.-H. Low, C. Yang, C.-Y. Zhou, J.-S. Huang, C.-M. Che, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2019, 141, 9027–9046; f) H.-X. Wang, Y. Richard, Q. Wan, C.-Y. Zhou, C.-M. Che, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2020, 59, 1845-1850; Angew. Chem. 2020, 132, 1861-1866.

[8] a) C. Zhang, K. Hong, C. Pei, S. Zhou, A. S. K. Hashmi, X. Xu, *Nat Commun.* **2021**, *12*, 1182;b) C. Zhang, K. Hong, S. Dong, C. Pei, X. Zhang, C. He, W. Hu, X. Xu, *iScience* **2019**, *21*, 499–508.

[9] Rhodium-catalyzed examples, see a) A. Padwa, D. J. Austin, Y. Gareau, J. M. Kassir, S. L. Xu, *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 1993, *115*, 2637–2647; b) T. R. Hoye, C. J. Dinsmore, *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 1991, *113*, 4343–4345. Gold-catalyzed examples, see c) C. A. Witham, P. Mauleón, N. D. Shapiro, B. D. Sherry, F. D. Toste, *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2007, *129*, 5838–5839.

[10] G. Wang, Y. He, J. Sun, D. Das, M. Hu, J. Huang, D. Ruhrmund, L. Hooi, S. Misialek, P. T. R. Rajagopalan, A. Stoycheva, B. O. Buckman, K. Kossen, S. D. Seiwert, L. Beigelman, *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* **2009**, *19*, 4476–4479.

[11] CCDC 2036342 (**2k**), CCDC 2036344 (**3j**) and 2036343 (**6l**) contain the supplementary crystallographic data for this paper. These data can be obtained free of charge from The Cambridge Crystallographic Data Centre.

[12] B. Huang, Y. He, M. D. Levin, J. A. S. Coehlo, R. G. Bergman, F. D. Toste, *Adv. Synth. Catal.* **2020**, *362*, 295-301.

3.6 Experimental Section

3.6.1 General Information

Chemicals were purchased from commercial suppliers and used as delivered. NMR spectra were, if not mentioned otherwise, recorded at room temperature on the following spectrometers: Bruker Avance-III-300, Bruker Avance III 400, and Bruker Avance-III-500. Chemical shifts are given in ppm and coupling constants in Hz. The following abbreviations were used for ¹H NMR spectra to indicate the signal multiplicity: s (singlet), brs (broad singlet), d (doublet), t (triplet), q (quartet), quint (quintet), sext (sextet), sept (septet), m (multiplet) and comp (combined peaks). When combinations of multiplicities are given the first character noted refers to the biggest coupling constant. All ¹³C NMR spectra were measured with ¹H-decoupling. The multiplicities mentioned in these spectra [s (singlet, quaternary carbon), d (doublet, CH-group), t (triplet, CH2-group), q (quartet, CH3-group)] were determined by DEPT135 spectra. Mass spectra (MS and HRMS) were determined at the chemistry department of the University of Heidelberg under the direction of Dr. J. Gross. EI-spectra were measured on a JOEL JMS-700 spectrometer. For ESI+-, ESI-- or DART-spectra a Bruker Apex-Qu FT-ICR-MS spectrometer was applied. Infrared Spectroscopy (IR) was processed on an FT-IR Bruker (IF528), IR Perkin Elmer (283) or FT-IR Bruker Vector 22. The solvent or matrix is denoted in brackets. For the most significant bands the wave number v (cm⁻¹) is given. X-ray crystal structure analyses were measured at the chemistry department of the University of Heidelberg under the direction of Dr. F. Rominger and T. Oeser on a Bruker Smart CCD or Bruker APEX-II CCD instrument using Mo-Kα-radiation.

3.6.2 Optimization of the Reaction Conditions (Table S1)

1a (32.0 mg, 0.1 mmol), solvent (0.25 mL), water (9.0 uL, 0.5 mmol), and acid (0.3 mmol) were successively mixed in a 5-mL glass bottle containing a magnetic stirring bar. Then, the catalyst (0.005 mmol) in 1,2-dichloroethane (0.25 mL) using a syringe was added over 5 minutes at room temperature. After the addition, the reaction mixture was stirred at 50 °C for 6 hours. Then, the solvent was removed under reduced pressure and the crude products was analyzed by ¹H *NMR* with mesitylene as internal standard in CDCl₃.

Table S1. Reaction optimization.

\bigcirc	$\begin{array}{c c} O \\ & \\ & \\ & \\ & \\ & \\ & \\ & \\ & \\ & \\$		OH	CO ₂ Et	CO ₂	Et	OEt
	Ph solvent, 50 °C	,6n 011 Ph	ОН		P	h h) Ph
1a		2a	3a		4a		5a
entry	cat	acid	solvent	yield 2a	yield 3a	yield 4a	yield 5a
1	L1Au(CH₃CN)SbF ₆	none	DCE	-	83%	< 5%	< 5%
2	L1Au(CH₃CN)SbF ₆	Py(HF) _x	DCE	< 5%	63%	< 5%	< 5%
3	L1Au(CH ₃ CN)SbF ₆	Py(TsOH)	DCE	11%	64%	< 5%	< 5%
4	L1Au(CH₃CN)SbF ₆	$Et_3N+H_2SO_4$	DCE	19%	71%	< 5%	< 5%
5	L1Au(CH₃CN)SbF ₆	Et ₃ N+H ₃ PO ₄	DCE	38%	25%	< 5%	< 5%
6	L1Au(CH₃CN)SbF ₆	Et ₃ N(HF) ₃	DCE	87%	< 5%	< 5%	< 5%
7	L1Au(CH₃CN)SbF ₆	Sc(OTf) ₃	DCE	< 10%	69%	< 5%	< 5%
8	L1Au(CH₃CN)SbF ₆	Sc(OTf)3 (10 mol %)	DCE	< 10%	81%	< 5%	< 5%
9	L1Au(CH₃CN)SbF ₆	Y(OTf)₃	DCE	< 10%	40%	< 5%	< 5%
10	L1Au(CH₃CN)SbF ₆	Yb(OTf) ₃	DCE	< 10%	53%	< 5%	< 5%
11	L1Au(CH₃CN)SbF ₆	La(OTf) ₃	DCE	< 10%	42%	< 5%	< 5%
12	L1Au(CH₃CN)SbF ₆	Zn(OTf) ₂	DCE	< 10%	57%	< 5%	< 5%
13ª	none	Et ₃ N(HF) ₃	DCE	-	-	-	-
14 ^a	L1Au(CH₃CN)SbF ₆	Et₃N	DCE	-	-	-	-
15	none	TfOH	DCE	-	-	54%	< 5%
16ª	PPh ₃ Au(CH ₃ CN)SbF ₆	Et ₃ N(HF) ₃	DCE	-	-	-	-
17	lprAu(CH₃CN)SbF ₆	Et ₃ N(HF) ₃	DCE	48%	< 5%	< 5%	< 5%
18	Cu(OTf) ₂	Et ₃ N(HF) ₃	DCE	< 5%	< 5%	< 5%	95%
19	AgSbF ₆	Et ₃ N(HF) ₃	DCE	< 5%	< 5%	< 5%	91%
20	Rh ₂ (OAc) ₄	Et ₃ N(HF) ₃	DCE	< 5%	< 5%	< 5%	75%
21	Pd ₂ (dba) ₃	Et ₃ N(HF) ₃	DCE	< 5%	< 5%	< 5%	87%
22	L1Au(CH₃CN)SbF ₆	Et ₃ N(HF) ₃	CDCl ₃	73%	< 5%	< 5%	< 5%

[a] Most of **1a** was recovered. L1 = JohnPhos.

3.6.3 Role of Et₃N(HF)₃ (Table S1)

1a (32.0 mg, 0.1 mmol), CDCl₃ (0.25 mL), water (9.0 uL, 0.5 mmol), and Et₃N(HF)₃ (0 ~ 0.3 mmol) were successively mixed in the NMR tube containing a magnetic stirring bar. Then, JohnphosAu(CH₃CN)SbF₆ (3.9 mg, 0.005 mmol) in CDCl₃ (0.25 mL) using a syringe was added over 5 minutes at room temperature. After the addition, the reaction mixture was stirred at 50 °C for 6 hours. Then, the magnetic stirring bar was taken out and the crude product was analyzed by ¹H *NMR* with mesitylene as internal standard.

0 1a	Et ₃ N(HF) ₃ (<i>0</i> CO ₂ Et H ₂ O (5 et L1Au(CH ₃ CN)SbF N ₂ CDCl ₃ , 50 °C	- 3 eq) q) <u>6 (5 mol%)</u> , 6 h	OH CO ₂ Et + OH Ph 2a	OH CO ₂ Et Ph OH 3a
entry	Et ₃ N(HF) ₃ (<i>n</i> eq)	yield 2a (%)	yield 3a (%)
1	0	0	72	
2	0.18	4	69	
3	0.36	4	76	
4	0.48	6	72	
5	0.66	6	54	
6	0.79	8	36	
7	0.83	8	22	
8 ^a	0.94	12	5	
9 ^a	1.13	13	5	
10	1.53	40	5	
11	2.18	52	5	
12	2.50	71	4	
13	3.00	72	3	

Table S2. Plot of [Et₃N(HF)₃] vs the yield of 2a and 3a.

[a] The reaction mixture was stirred at 50 °C for 18 hours.

3.6.4 Experimental Procedure: Gold-catalyzed Selective Carbohydroxylations of Diazo-ynes



Condition A: The substrate **1** (0.2 mmol), 1,2-dichloroethane (0.5 mL), water (18.0 uL, 1.0 mmol), and Et₃N(HF)₃ (98.0 uL, 0.6 mmol) were successively mixed in a 5-mL glass bottle containing a magnetic stirring bar. Then, the gold catalyst (JohnphosAu(CH₃CN)SbF₆, 7.7 mg, 0.01 mmol) in 1,2-dichloroethane (0.5 mL) using a syringe was added over 5 minutes at room temperature. After the addition, the reaction mixture was stirred at 50 °C for 6 hours. Then, the solvent was removed under reduced pressure and the crude product was purified by column chromatography on a silica gel (solvents: ethyl acetate/petroleum ether = 1/20 to 1/10) to afford the pure products **2** in 67%-93% yields.

Condition B: The substrate **1** (0.2 mmol), 1,2-dichloroethane (0.5 mL), and water (18.0 uL, 1.0 mmol) were successively mixed in a 5-mL glass bottle containing a magnetic stirring bar. Then, the gold catalyst (JohnphosAu(CH₃CN)SbF₆, 7.7 mg,

0.01 mmol) in 1,2-dichloroethane (0.5 mL) using a syringe was added over 5 minutes at room temperature. After the addition, the reaction mixture was stirred at 50 °C for 6 hours. Then, the solvent was removed under reduced pressure and the crude product was purified by column chromatography on a silica gel (solvents: ethyl acetate/petroleum ether = 1/20 to 1/10) to afford the pure products **3** in 56%-91% yields.

3.6.5 Experimental Procedure: Applications

OTf-protection:



2a (308.3 mg, 1.0 mmol) was dissolved in dry dichloromethane (5.0 mL) and then cooled to -78 °C. Triethylamine (Et₃N, 253.0 µL, 1.5 mmol) was added, and then trifluoromethanesulfonic anhydride (Tf₂O, 208.0 µL, 1.5 mmol) was added over 5 minutes via a syringe. The reaction was gradually warmed to room temperature and stirred for about 2 hours until 2a was completely consumed by TLC. Afterwards, the solvent was removed under reduced pressure and the mixture was purified by flash column chromatography on silica gel (eluted by ethyl acetate/petroleum ether = 1:50) to give the pure product 6 in 96% yield. White solid, mp 91.0 – 92.0 °C; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/100); ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 8.25 (d, J = 8.5 Hz, 1H), 7.81 - 7.73 (m, 2H), 7.68 - 7.63 (m, 1H), 7.61 - 7.53 (comp, 3H), 7.51 - 7.39 (m, 2H), 4.49 (q, J = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 1.45 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (125 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 161.7 (s), 142.7 (s), 139.3 (s), 135.4 (s), 134.2 (s), 131.69 (s), 131.3 (d, 2C), 130.2 (d), 129.5 (d), 129.4 (d), 128.7 (d, 2C), 127.5 (d), 126.1 (s), 122.6 (d), 120.5 (s), 118.6 (q, $J_{C-F} = 320.6$ Hz), 118.1 (q, $J_{C-F} = 320.7$ Hz), 63.6 (t), 13.7 (q); ¹⁹F NMR (471 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) -72.70 (s), -74.06 (s); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 2999.19$, 1730.50, 1620.27, 1596.57, 1504.96, 1431.98, 1397.70, 1360.97, 1290.97, 1241.30, 1224.58, 1207.59, 1132.17, 1068.33, 1017.26, 988.94, 945.20, 915.70, 868.95, 842.42, 831.08, 802.90, 770.21, 759.17, 739.25, 729.02, 706.12, 678.90, 659.86, 639.17, 606.33 cm^{-1} ; HRMS (EI) (*m*/*z*) C₂₁H₁₄F₆O₈S₂ calcd for 572.0034, found 572.0052.

Sonogashira coupling:



6 (57.2 mg, 0.1 mmol), 1-ethynyl-4-methoxybenzene (53.0 mg, 0.4 mmol), copper(I) bromide (2.1 mg, 0.015 mmol), bis(triphenylphosphine)palladium(II) dichloride (28.0 mg, 0.04 mmol), diisopropylethylamine (DIPEA, 0.2 mL, 1.2 mmol) and DMF (2.0 mL) were added to a 5-mL glass bottle. The reaction was capped and then backfilled with nitrogen. Then, the reaction mixture was heated to 60 °C for 5 hours until 6 was completely consumed as determined by TLC. Afterwards, the solvent was removed under reduced pressure and the mixture was purified by flash column chromatography on silica gel (eluted by ethyl acetate/petroleum ether = 1:10) to give the pure product 7 in 90% yield. White solid, mp 209.0 – 210.0 °C; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/10); ¹H NMR $(300 \text{ MHz}, \text{CDCl}_3) \delta$ (ppm) 8.51 (d, J = 8.3 Hz, 1H), 7.65 – 7.44 (comp, 10H), 7.10 – 7.02 (m, 2H), 6.98 - 6.91 (m, 2H), 6.80 - 6.72 (m, 2H), 4.57 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 3.86(s, 3H), 3.78 (s, 3H), 1.46 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (125 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 168.4 (s), 160.2 (s), 159.8 (s), 143.4 (s), 138.4 (s), 136.5 (s), 133.4 (d, 2C), 133.0 (d, 2C), 132.3 (s), 132.1 (s), 130.8 (d, 2C), 128.2 (d, 2C), 127.9 (d), 127.8 (d), 127.7 (d), 127.2 (d), 127.1 (d), 118.8 (s), 117.6 (s), 115.3 (s), 115.2 (s), 114.3 (d, 2C), 114.0 (d, 2C), 98.8 (s), 96.9 (s), 85.6 (s), 83.5 (s), 61.9 (t), 55.5 (q), 55.4 (q), 14.7 (q); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 3064.03, 2956.43, 2839.66, 2204.49, 1721.80, 1604.22, 1568.57,$ 1552.81, 1508.80, 1463.97, 1442.26, 1411.70, 1376.46, 1312.71, 1293.40, 1250.27, 1237.69, 1199.56, 1170.45, 1153.92, 1131.29, 1105.61, 1067.86, 1026.61, 939.78, 901.71, 847.36, 821.37, 794.94, 753.97, 742.07, 698.00, 668.64, 637.13, 616.79 cm⁻¹; HRMS (EI) (*m/z*) C₃₇H₂₈O₄ calcd for 536.1988, found 536.1964.

Suzuki coupling:



6 (57.2 mg, 0.1 mmol), aryl-boronic acid (0.4 mmol), tetrakis(triphenylphosphine) palladium(0) (23.0 mg, 0.02 mmol), potassium carbonate (42.5 mg, 0.3 mmol) and

toluene (2.0 mL) were added to a 5-mL glass bottle. The reaction was capped and then backfilled with nitrogen. Then, the reaction mixture was heated to 80 °C for 12 hours until **6** was completely consumed as determined by TLC. Afterwards, the solvent was removed under reduced pressure and the mixture was purified by flash column chromatography on silica gel (eluted by ethyl acetate/petroleum ether = 1:10) to give the pure product **8a** and **8b** in 83% and 71% yields, respectively.

Suzuki coupling:



6 (114.4 mg, 0.2 mmol), aryl-boronic acid (0.3 mmol), tetrakis(triphenylphosphine) palladium (0) (11.5 mg, 0.01 mmol), potassium carbonate (21.5 mg, 0.15 mmol) and toluene (1.0 mL) were added to a 5-mL glass bottle. The reaction was capped and then backfilled with nitrogen. Then, the reaction mixture was heated to 60 °C for 2 hours until most of **6** was completely consumed as determined by TLC. Afterwards, the solvent was removed under reduced pressure and the mixture was purified by flash column chromatography on silica gel (eluted by ethyl acetate/petroleum ether = 1:15) to give the pure product **9a** and **9b** in 91% and 86% yields, respectively.

Sonogashira coupling:



9a (53.0 mg, 0.1 mmol), 1-ethynyl-4-methoxybenzene (27.0 mg, 0.2 mmol), copper(I) bromide (0.7 mg, 0.005 mmol), bis(triphenylphosphine)palladium(II) dichloride (14.0 mg, 0.02 mmol), diisopropylethylamine (DIPEA, 0.1 mL, 0.6 mmol) and DMF (1.0 mL) were added to a 5-mL glass bottle. The reaction was capped and then backfilled with nitrogen. Then, the reaction mixture was heated to 60 °C for 5 hours until **9a** was completely consumed as determined by TLC. Afterwards, the solvent was removed under reduced pressure and the mixture was purified by flash column chromatography

on silica gel (eluted by ethyl acetate/petroleum ether = 1:10) to give the pure product **10a** in 85% yield. White solid, mp 160.0 – 163.0 °C; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/10); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 7.70 – 7.64 (m, 2H), 7.58 – 7.48 (comp, 5H), 7.44 – 7.35 (comp, 4H), 7.10 – 6.97 (comp, 4H), 6.76 (d, J = 7.9 Hz, 2H), 4.18 (q, J = 6.9 Hz, 2H), 3.90 (s, 3H), 3.77 (s, 3H), 1.12 (t, J = 7.0 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (125 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 168.8 (s), 159.7 (s), 159.4 (s), 142.7 (s), 138.8 (s), 136.8 (s), 133.6 (s), 133.0 (d, 2C), 132.6 (s), 132.0 (s), 131.6 (d, 2C), 130.9 (d, 2C), 129.6 (s), 128.1 (d, 2C), 127.7 (d), 127.1 (d, 2C), 127.0 (d), 126.9 (d), 117.2 (s), 115.4 (s), 113.9 (d, 2C), 113.7 (d, 2C), 96.6 (s), 86.1 (s), 61.3 (t), 55.5 (q), 55.4 (q), 142.2 (q); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 2976.46$, 2934.58, 2838.59, 2207.67, 1732.22, 1603.50, 1576.95, 1509.63, 1460.82, 1443.99, 1381.35, 1308.20, 1290.43, 1247.32, 1223.66, 1177.29, 1137.14, 1109.07, 1054.40, 1025.57, 945.20, 904.74, 868.25, 830.10, 813.57, 777.55, 740.33, 702.29, 683.31, 640.99, 611.42 cm⁻¹; HRMS (EI) (*m/z*) C₃₅H₂₈O₄ calcd for 512.1988, found 512.1964.



<u>**OTf-protected 3k</u>: 3k** (170.0 mg, 0.5 mmol) was dissolved in dry dichloromethane (4.0 mL) and then cooled to -78 °C. Triethylamine (Et₃N, 130.0 μ L, 0.75 mmol) was added, and then trifluoromethanesulfonic anhydride (Tf₂O, 104.0 μ L, 0.75 mmol) was added over 10 minutes via a syringe. The reaction was gradually warmed to room temperature and stirred for about 2 hours until **2a** was completely consumed by TLC. Afterwards, the solvent was evaporated under vacuum after filtering through Celite, and the obtained **3k-OTf** was directly used for the next step without further purification.</u>

<u>Suzuki coupling</u>: To a 10-mL oven-dried round-bottom flask containing a magnetic stirring bar, the above **3k**-*OTf*, 1-naphthylboronic acid (344mg, 2.0 mmol), tetrakis(triphenylphosphine)palladium(0) (57.8 mg, 0.05 mmol), and potassium carbonate (276.0 mg, 2.0 mmol) in toluene (10.0 mL), were mixed under argon at room temperature. Then, the reaction mixture was heated to 80 °C for 12 hours until **3k**-*OTf* was completely consumed as determined by TLC. Afterwards, the solvent was removed under reduced pressure and the mixture was purified by flash column chromatography on silica gel (eluted by ethyl acetate/petroleum ether = 1:30) to give the pure product **11** in 89% yield. White solid, mp 204.0 – 205.0 °C; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/20); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) with two diastereoisomers: 8.07 – 8.00 (comp, 2H), 7.94 – 7.84 (comp, 2H), 7.78 – 7.73 (comp, 1H), 7.72 – 7.65 (comp, 2H), 7.64 – 7.29 (comp, 12H), 7.14 – 6.89 (br, 1H), 6.82 – 6.61 (br, 1H), 6.56 – 6.29 (br,

1H), 3.67 - 3.54 (comp, 5H), 0.56 - 0.43 (comp, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) with two diastereoisomers: 168.9 (s) and 168.8 (s), 158.3 (s) and 158.2 (s), [*138 - 125 with 54 signals*: 137.5 (s), 137.4 (s), 136.6 (s), 136.5 (s), 136.33 (s), 136.27 (s), 135.82 (s), 135.78 (s), 135.63 (s), 135.61 (s), 134.7 (s), 134.6 (s), 133.6 (s), 133.5 (s), 133.42 (s), 133.36 (s), 133.31 (s), 133.27 (s), 133.22 (s), 133.16 (s), 131.9 (s), 131.8 (s), 131.7 (s), 131.5 (s), 129.4 (d), 129.2 (d), 128.7 (d), 128.52 (d), 128.50 (d), 128.3 (d), 128.2 (d), 128.1 (d), 127.8 (d), 127.7 (d), 127.4 (d), 127.33 (d), 127.28 (d), 127.2 (d), 127.1 (d), 127.0 (d), 126.8 (d), 126.6 (d), 126.5 (d), 126.4 (d), 126.3 (d), 126.2 (d), 126.13 (d), 126.07 (d), 126.0 (d), 125.7 (d), 125.33 (d), 125.31 (d), 125.3 (d), 125.2 (d)] 112.6 (d) and 112.5 (d), 60.44 (t), 54.92 (q), 13.23 (q) and 13.18 (q); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 3060.08$, 2961.12, 1728.52, 1611.07, 1514.21, 1460.79, 1409.08, 1362.94, 1300.73, 1246.34, 1231.00, 1176.44, 1137.46, 1121.02, 1077.52, 1030.36, 928.33, 858.92, 826.63, 799.53, 774.82, 738.17, 698.00, 666.22 cm⁻¹; HRMS (EI) (*m*/*z*) C40H30O3 calcd for 558.2195, found 558.2179.

Ring closing: A solution of trifluoromethanesulfonic acid (87.0 µL, 1.0 mmol) in dry dichloromethane (1.0 mL) was added over 5 min to a 10-mL glass bottle containing a magnetic stirring bar, and **11** (112.0 mg, 0.2 mmol) in dry dichloromethane (1.0 mL) using a syringe at room temperature. After the addition, the reaction mixture was stirred for 12 hours. Then, the solvent was removed under reduced pressure and the crude product was purified by column chromatography on a silica gel (solvents: ethyl acetate/petroleum ether = 1/15) to afford the polycyclic product 12 in 87% yield. White solid, mp 198.0 – 199.0 °C; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/20); ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) with two diastereoisomers: 8.15 (d, J = 8.2 Hz, 1H), 8.11 – 8.05 (comp, 2H), 8.02 (d, J = 8.2 Hz, 1H), 7.78 – 7.74 (m, 1H), 7.74 – 7.67 (comp, 2H), 7.65 – 7.59 (comp, 2H), 7.59 – 7.55 (m, 1H), 7.53 – 7.45 (comp, 3H), 7.40 – 7.36 (m, 1H), 7.35 - 7.28 (comp, 3H), 7.25 - 7.20 (m, 1H), 7.02 (d, J = 2.6 Hz, 1H), 6.53 (dd, J = 8.6, 2.6 Hz, 1H), 5.86 (d, J = 8.6 Hz, 1H), 3.68 (s, 3H); ¹³C NMR (125 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 192.0 (s), 160.4 (s), 139.1 (s), 138.5 (s), 137.3 (s), 137.1 (s), 136.8 (s), 135.4 (s), 134.2 (s), 134.1 (s), 133.8 (s), 133.7 (s), 132.8 (s), 132.5 (s), 131.0 (s), 130.4 (s), 129.3 (d), 129.0 (d), 128.9 (d), 128.59 (d), 128.57 (d), 128.5 (d), 128.0 (d), 127.3 (d), 127.1 (d), 126.9 (d), 126.63 (d), 126.62 (d), 126.3 (d, 2C), 126.0 (d), 125.9 (d), 125.7 (d), 125.6 (d), 124.9 (s), 121.1 (d), 108.0 (d), 55.6 (q); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} =$ 3065.53, 2996.60, 2959.08, 2935.23, 2834.87, 1708.88, 1599.26, 1506.95, 1484.86, 1453.33, 1436.92, 1350.75, 1290.33, 1232.34, 1195.91, 1160.15, 1081.43, 1054.49, 1034.87, 1023.91, 1004.99, 956.68, 888.13, 866.86, 827.93, 809.78, 794.84, 775.03, 726.50, 688.70, 666.13, 648.39, 636.66, 623.39 cm⁻¹; HRMS (EI) (m/z) C₃₈H₂₄O₂ calcd for 512.1776, found 512.1757.

3.6.6 Experimental Procedure: Trapped Experiment with Phenylsulfoxide.



The diazo-yne 1d (67.0 mg, 0.2 mmol), 1,2-dichloroethane (0.5 mL), and Phenyl sulfoxide (60.7 mg, 0.3 mmol) were successively mixed in a 5-mL glass bottle containing a magnetic stirring bar. Then, the gold catalyst (JohnphosAu(CH₃CN)SbF₆, 7.7 mg, 0.01 mmol) in 1,2-dichloroethane (0.5 mL) using a syringe was added over 5 minutes at room temperature. After the addition, the reaction mixture was stirred at 50 °C for 12 hours. Then, the solvent was removed under reduced pressure and the crude product was purified by column chromatography on a silica gel (solvents: ethyl acetate/petroleum ether = 1/30) to give the pure products **3d'** in 81% yield. Yellow solid, mp 97 – 99 °C; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/20); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 8.21 (dd, J = 8.6, 5.2 Hz, 1H), 7.79 (dd, J = 8.4, 2.6 Hz, 1H), 7.50 – 7.33 (comp, 6H), 4.18 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 1.05 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 181.1 (d, J = 1.4 Hz), 166.5 (d, J = 258.6 Hz), 163.9 (s), 144.9 (s), 139.7 (s), 134.2 (d, J = 8.0 Hz), 131.3 (s), 130.6 (d, J = 9.0 Hz), 130.1 (d), 129.4 (d, 2C), 128.4 (d, J = 3.2Hz), 128.3 (d, 2C), 121.8 (d, J = 22.5 Hz), 113.3 (d, J = 23.6 Hz), 62.2 (t), 13.9 (q); ¹⁹F NMR (283 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) -100.70; IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 3067.08, 2984.41,$ 1717.62, 1659.74, 1602.17, 1587.87, 1487.11, 1462.41, 1444.94, 1392.56, 1371.57, 1347.72, 1299.34, 1259.92, 1239.92, 1213.70, 1191.57, 1130.38, 1079.30, 1012.05, 964.52, 938.56, 911.05, 853.10, 814.87, 795.38, 763.59, 734.50, 706.23, 636.86 cm⁻¹; HRMS (EI) (m/z) C₁₉H₁₃FO₄ calcd for 324.0798, found 324.0807.

3.6.7 Characterization



Ethyl 1,3-dihydroxy-4-phenyl-2-naphthoate (2a).

Yield: 52.4 mg, 85%; white solid, mp 117.8 – 120.3 °C; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/10); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 11.61 (s, 1H), 9.29 (s, 1H), 8.36 (d, J = 8.4 Hz, 1H), 7.56 – 7.50 (comp, 2H), 7.48 – 7.42 (comp, 2H), 7.40 – 7.30 (comp, 4H), 4.62 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 1.51 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 170.4 (s), 161.4 (s), 150.2 (s), 137.3 (s), 136.1 (s), 131.4 (d, 2C), 130. 6 (d), 128.6 (d, 2C), 127.3 (d), 124.7 (d), 124.3 (d), 123.1 (d), 119.6 (s), 114.9 (s), 97.2 (s), 63.2 (t), 14.4 (q); IR

(reflection) $\tilde{v} = 3426$, 2984, 1736, 1657, 1640, 1599, 1575, 1506, 1471, 1452, 1442, 1402, 1371, 1333, 1302, 1232, 1194, 1158, 1094, 1081, 1013, 946, 924, 912, 868, 802, 773, 755, 730, 703, 674, 651, 607 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) (*m*/*z*) [M-H]⁻ C₁₉H₁₅O₄ calcd for 307.0976, found 307.0969.



Ethyl 5-fluoro-1,3-dihydroxy-4-phenyl-2-naphthoate (2b).

Yield: 54.2 mg, 83%; white solid, mp 156.8 – 157.8 °C; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/10); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 11.69 (s, 1H), 9.28 (s, 1H), 8.32 – 8.13 (m, 1H), 7.53 – 7.40 (comp, 3H), 7.40 – 7.34 (comp, 2H), 7.28 – 7.20 (m, 1H), 7.18 – 7.06 (m, 1H), 4.63 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 1.51 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 170.2 (s), 161.2 (d, $J_{C-F} = 3.9$ Hz), 158.3 (d, $J_{C-F} = 253.6$ Hz), 151.4 (s), 138.1 (d, $J_{C-F} = 3.8$ Hz), 130.2 (d, $J_{C-F} = 3.7$ Hz, 2C), 127.8 (d, 2C), 126.9 (d), 126.8 (d, $J_{C-F} = 10.4$ Hz), 122.9 (d, $J_{C-F} = 8.1$ Hz), 121.8 (d, $J_{C-F} = 4.7$ Hz), 120.5 (d, $J_{C-F} = 4.4$ Hz, d), 116.1 (d, $J_{C-F} = 21.8$ Hz), 111.7 (d, $J_{C-F} = 2.2$ Hz), 97.8 (d, $J_{C-F} = 1.1$ Hz), 63.5 (t), 14.3 (q); ¹⁹F NMR (283 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) -109.53 (s); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 3415$, 3082, 2995, 1904, 1737, 1664, 1637, 1604, 1576, 1505, 1460, 1445, 1399, 1388, 1332, 1302, 1275, 1231, 1202, 1168, 1142, 1093, 1011, 991, 927, 870, 855, 794, 767, 750, 733, 704, 673, 658, 614 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) [M-H]⁻ C₁₉H₁₄FO₄ calcd for 325.0882, found 325.0876.



Ethyl 6-fluoro-1,3-dihydroxy-4-phenyl-2-naphthoate (2c).

Yield: 58.7 mg, 90%; white solid, mp 102.0 – 104.0 °C; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/10); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 11.60 (s, 1H), 9.38 (s, 1H), 8.35 (dd, J = 9.2, 6.0 Hz, 1H), 7.65 – 7.50 (m, 2H), 7.49 – 7.42 (m, 1H), 7.37 (d, J = 7.4 Hz, 2H), 7.16 – 6.88 (comp, 2H), 4.62 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 1.51 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 170.3 (s), 164.2 (d, $J_{C-F} = 250.4$ Hz), 161.3 (s), 151.4 (s), 139.2 (d, $J_{C-F} = 10.3$ Hz), 135.6 (s), 131.2 (d, 2C), 128.7 (d, 2C), 127.52 (d), 127.45 (d, $J_{C-F} = 11.2$ Hz), 116.5 (d, $J_{C-F} = 0.5$ Hz), 114.6 (d, $J_{C-F} = 4.8$ Hz), 113.1 (d, $J_{C-F} = 25.3$ Hz), 108.4 (d, $J_{C-F} = 22.9$ Hz), 96.6 (d, $J_{C-F} = 1.8$ Hz, s), 63.3 (t), 14.3 (q); ¹⁹F NMR (283 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) -107.42 (s); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 3416$, 2993, 1737, 1664, 1635, 1604, 1575, 1505, 1469, 1459, 1398, 1387, 1332, 1301, 1273, 1231, 1201, 1167, 1142, 1092, 1010, 991, 927, 917, 869, 854, 794, 766, 750, 733, 703, 672, 614 cm⁻¹;



Ethyl 7-fluoro-1,3-dihydroxy-4-phenyl-2-naphthoate (2d).

Yield: 60.7 mg, 93%; white solid, mp 121.3 – 123.0 °C; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/10); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 11.50 (s, 1H), 9.22 (s, 1H), 7.94 (dd, J = 10.0, 2.7 Hz, 1H), 7.57 – 7.49 (m, 2H), 7.46 – 7.41 (m, 1H), 7.39 – 7.30 (comp, 3H), 7.24 – 7.16 (m, 1H), 4.63 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 1.52 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 170.3 (s), 160.7 (s), 160.3 (d, $J_{C-F} = 5.1$ Hz), 157.5 (s), 149.7 (d, $J_{C-F} = 2.2$ Hz), 135.8 (s), 134.1 (s), 131.3 (d, 2C), 128.6 (d, 2C), 127.5 (d), 127.2 (d, $J_{C-F} = 8.1$ Hz), 120.5 (d, $J_{C-F} = 24.8$ Hz), 120.0 (d, $J_{C-F} = 8.7$ Hz), 115.1 (s), 107.8 (d, $J_{C-F} = 22.5$ Hz), 98.0 (s), 63.4 (t), 14.3 (q); ¹⁹F NMR (283 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) -118.36 (s); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 3153, 2986, 1738, 1665, 1634, 1615, 1581, 1510, 1468, 1448, 1409, 1389, 1364, 1319, 1300, 1286, 1233, 1222, 1190, 1166, 1137, 1086, 1068, 1008, 976, 943, 875, 828, 799, 784, 764, 753, 728, 712, 695, 660, 627 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) [M-H]⁻ C₁₉H₁₄FO₄ calcd for 325.0882, found 325.0876.$



Ethyl 8-fluoro-1,3-dihydroxy-4-phenyl-2-naphthoate (2e).

Yield: 57.4 mg, 88%; Yellow solid, mp 138.2 – 142.0 °C; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/10); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 11.94 (d, J = 3.5 Hz, 1H), 9.27 (s, 1H), 7.45 – 7.37 (m, 2H), 7.35 – 7.29 (m, 1H), 7.25 – 7.14 (comp, 3H), 6.98 (d, J = 8.5 Hz, 1H), 6.86 – 6.76 (m, 1H), 4.51 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 1.39 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 170.3 (s), 162.0 (d, $J_{C-F} = 4.3$ Hz), 161.0 (d, $J_{C-F} = 261.8$ Hz), 151.2 (d, $J_{C-F} = 1.4$ Hz), 139.5 (d, $J_{C-F} = 2.4$ Hz), 136.0 (s), 131.2 (d, 2C), 130.4 (d, $J_{C-F} = 10.0$ Hz), 128.7 (d, 2C), 127.5 (d), 120.7 (d, $J_{C-F} = 4.4$ Hz), 115.0 (d, $J_{C-F} = 2.7$ Hz), 109.9 (d, $J_{C-F} = 9.1$ Hz), 108.9 (d, $J_{C-F} = 22.3$ Hz), 97.8 (d, $J_{C-F} = 1.8$ Hz), 63.5 (t), 14.3 (q); ¹⁹F NMR (283 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) -109.35; IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 3447$, 3076, 2987, 1738, 1637, 1603, 1582, 1505, 1472, 1451, 1402, 1369, 1321, 1293, 1227, 1215, 1167, 1155, 1140, 1118, 1089, 1058, 1013, 918, 868, 845, 818, 806, 779, 756, 719, 702, 682 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) [M-H]⁻ C₁₉H₁₄FO₄ calcd for 325.0882, found 325.0876.



Ethyl 1,3-dihydroxy-7-methyl-4-phenyl-2-naphthoate (2f).

Yield: 54.8 mg, 85%; Yellow solid, mp 118.0 – 120.0 °C; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/10); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 11.58 (s, 1H), 9.30 (s, 1H), 8.27 (d, J = 8.4 Hz, 1H), 7.60 – 7.51 (comp, 2H), 7.50 – 7.43 (m, 1H), 7.43 – 7.35 (comp, 2H), 7.22 – 7.12 (comp, 2H), 4.62 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 2.39 (s, 3H), 1.51 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 170.4 (s), 161.4 (s), 150.4 (s), 141.0 (s), 137.5 (s), 136.3 (s), 131.4 (d, 2C), 128.5 (d, 2C), 127.2 (d), 125.3 (d), 124.2 (d), 123.7 (d), 117.8 (s), 114.4 (s), 96.5 (s), 63.0 (t), 22.3 (q), 14.3 (q); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 3438$, 2970, 1738, 1661, 1639, 1619, 1578, 1509, 1467, 1445, 1400, 1376, 1310, 1248, 1216, 1178, 1142, 1089, 1072, 1032, 941, 872, 858, 824, 797, 779, 761, 741, 698, 661, 638 cm⁻¹; HRMS (EI) (m/z) C₂₀H₁₈O₄ calcd for 322.1205, found 322.1210.



Ethyl 1,3-dihydroxy-7-methoxy-4-phenyl-2-naphthoate (2g).

Yield: 61.6 mg, 91%; Yellow solid, mp 138.7 – 139.5 °C; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/5);; ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 11.59 (s, 1H), 9.07 (s, 1H), 7.63 (d, J = 2.7 Hz, 1H), 7.55 – 7.48 (m, 2H), 7.46 – 7.35 (comp, 3H), 7.30 (d, J = 9.2 Hz, 1H), 7.15 – 7.08 (m, 1H), 4.62 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 3.93 (s, 3H), 1.50 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 170.6 (s), 159.9 (s), 155.9 (s), 148.6 (s), 136.2 (s), 132.7 (s), 131.4 (d, 2C), 128.6 (d, 2C), 127.3 (d), 126.4 (d), 123.2 (d), 120.2 (s), 115.1 (s), 102.1 (d), 97.6 (s), 63.2 (t), 55.5 (q), 14.4 (q); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 3438$, 3419, 3002, 2828, 1661, 1639, 1619, 1578, 1509, 1467, 1445, 1400, 1376, 1309, 1248, 1216, 1185, 1178, 1142, 1089, 1071, 1032, 941, 871, 858, 824, 797, 779, 761, 741, 698, 661, 637 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) [M-H]⁻ C₂₀H₁₇O₅ calcd for 337.1081, found 337.1076.



Ethyl 1,3-dihydroxy-4-(p-tolyl)-2-naphthoate (2h).

Yield: 58.0 mg, 90%; Yellow solid, mp 125.6 – 128.0 °C; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/10); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 11.48 (s, 1H), 9.14 (s, 1H), 8.29 – 8.19 (m, 1H), 7.36 – 7.27 (comp, 2H), 7.27 – 7.19 (comp, 3H), 7.18 – 7.14 (comp, 2H), 4.50 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 2.35 (s, 3H), 1.39 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 170.5 (s), 161.3 (s), 150.3 (s), 137.4 (s), 136.9 (s), 133.0 (s), 131.2 (d, 2C), 130.5 (d), 129.4 (d, 2C), 124.7 (d), 124.2 (d), 123.1 (d), 119.6 (s), 114.9 (s), 97.2 (s), 63.2 (t), 21.5 (q), 14.3 (q); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 3429$, 3046, 3008, 2985, 2918, 2864, 1976, 1737, 1665, 1639, 1577, 1516, 1497, 1474, 1452, 1441, 1422, 1402, 1368, 1335, 1299, 1245, 1228, 1214, 1194, 1156, 1094, 1079, 1013, 948, 935, 919, 869, 814, 801, 772, 751, 738, 702, 666, 650 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) [M-H]⁻ C₂₀H₁₇O₄ calcd for 321.1132, found 321.1127.



Ethyl 1,3-dihydroxy-4-(m-tolyl)-2-naphthoate (2i).

Yield: 56.1 mg, 97%; Yellow solid, mp 125.0 – 126.8 °C; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/10); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 11.48 (s, 1H), 9.14 (s, 1H), 8.41 – 8.11 (m, 1H), 7.34 – 7.23 (comp, 3H), 7.22 – 7.16 (m, 1H), 7.15 – 7.10 (m, 1H), 7.10 – 6.94 (comp, 2H), 4.48 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 2.32 (s, 3H), 1.37 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 170.4 (s), 161.4 (s), 150.1 (s), 138.1 (s), 137.3 (s), 136.0 (s), 131.9 (d), 130.5 (d), 128.5 (d), 128.3 (d), 128.1 (d), 124.7 (d), 124.2 (d), 123.0 (d), 119.6 (s), 115.1 (s), 97.2 (s), 63.1 (t), 21.6 (q), 14.3 (q); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 3434$, 2985, 2913, 2862, 1945, 1737, 1657, 1635, 1605, 1574, 1504, 1473, 1453, 1402, 1371, 1328, 1302, 1229, 1155, 1096, 1013, 959, 927, 882, 859, 804, 793, 771, 751, 729, 704, 675, 651, 614 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) [M-H]⁻ C₂₀H₁₇O₄ calcd for 321.1132, found 321.1127.



Ethyl 1,3-dihydroxy-4-(o-tolyl)-2-naphthoate (2j).

Yield: 51.6 mg, 80%; Yellow solid, mp 127.0 – 128.0 °C; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/10); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 11.61 (s, 1H), 9.22 (s, 1H), 8.50 – 8.26 (m, 1H), 7.46 – 7.29 (comp, 5H), 7.25 – 7.18 (m, 1H), 7.18 – 7.11 (m, 1H), 4.70 – 4.57 (m, 2H), 2.07 (s, 3H), 1.52 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 170.5 (s), 161.5 (s), 150.0 (s), 138.2 (s), 137.1 (s), 135.6 (s), 131.4 (d), 130.7 (d), 130.2 (d), 127.9 (d), 126.1 (d), 124.5 (d), 124.4 (d), 123.1 (d), 119.7 (s), 114.1 (s), 97.3 (s), 63.2 (t), 19.8 (q), 14.4 (q); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 3434$, 2983, 1738, 1663, 1640, 1578, 1504, 1472, 1454, 1441, 1400, 1371, 1333, 1301, 1231, 1188, 1158, 1117, 1094, 1075, 1016, 949, 934, 922, 867, 803, 773, 736, 700, 672, 651, 616 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) [M-H]⁻ C₂₀H₁₇O₄ calcd for 321.1132, found 321.1126.



Ethyl 1,3-dihydroxy-4-(4-methoxyphenyl)-2-naphthoate (2k).

Yield: 62.9 mg, 93%; Yellow solid, mp 144.0 – 147.0 °C; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/5);; ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 11.59 (s, 1H), 9.29 (s, 1H), 8.36 (d, J = 8.3 Hz, 1H), 7.48 – 7.39 (comp, 2H), 7.37 – 7.28 (comp, 3H), 7.12 – 7.03 (m, 2H), 4.61 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 3.90 (s, 3H), 1.51 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 170.41 (s), 161.24 (s), 158.82 (s), 150.38 (s), 137.53 (s), 132.35 (d, 2C), 130.46 (d), 128.07 (s), 124.68 (d), 124.22 (d), 123.02 (d), 119.60 (s), 114.50 (s), 114.08 (d, 2C), 97.17 (s), 77.58 (s), 77.16 (s), 76.74 (s), 63.14 (t), 55.35 (q), 14.31 (q); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 3429$, 2986, 2952, 2933, 2833, 1741, 1661, 1635, 1605, 1577, 1516, 1499, 1463, 1402, 1371, 1332, 1302, 1241, 1228, 1195, 1179, 1151, 1110, 1093, 1074, 1035, 1012, 965, 951, 936, 919, 868, 842, 807, 787, 774, 746, 705, 666, 649, 634 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) [M-H]⁻ C₂₀H₁₇O₅ calcd for 337.1081, found 337.1076.



Ethyl 4-(4-chlorophenyl)-1,3-dihydroxy-2-naphthoate (2l).

Yield: 50.7 mg, 74%; Yellow solid, mp 142.0 – 143.0 °C; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/8);; ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 11.56 (s, 1H), 9.34 (s, 1H), 8.47 – 8.21 (m, 1H), 7.53 – 7.41 (comp, 3H), 7.39 – 7.26 (comp, 4H), 4.63 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 1.52 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 170.3 (s), 161.6 (s), 150.4 (s), 137.0 (s), 134.6 (s), 133.3 (s), 132.8 (d, 2C), 130.8 (d), 128.8 (d, 2C), 124.4 (d), 124.3 (d), 123.3 (d), 119.7 (s), 113.6 (s), 97.2 (s), 63.3 (t), 14.4 (q); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 3430$, 3078, 2991, 2915, 2863, 1739, 1672, 1632, 1577, 1504, 1473, 1449, 1395, 1369, 1307, 1262, 1227, 1197, 1154, 1095, 1086, 1075, 1029, 1013, 949, 937, 922, 869, 836, 811, 800, 775, 759, 727, 699, 680, 655, 628 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) [M-H]⁻ C₁₉H₁₄ClO₄ calcd for 341.0586, found 341.0581.



Ethyl 2,4-dihydroxy-[1,1'-binaphthalene]-3-carboxylate (2m).

Yield: 48.0 mg, 67%; Yellow solid, mp 144.7 – 145.7 °C; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/8);; ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 11.75 (s, 1H), 9.19 (s, 1H), 8.53 – 8.34 (m, 1H), 8.03 – 7.89 (comp, 2H), 7.68 – 7.60 (m, 1H), 7.56 – 7.40 (comp, 3H), 7.40 – 7.27 (comp, 3H), 7.20 – 6.93 (m, 1H), 4.74 – 4.53 (m, 2H), 1.49 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 170.5 (s), 162.0 (s), 150.9 (s), 137.9 (s), 134.1 (s), 134.0 (s), 133.2 (s), 130.7 (d), 129.1 (d), 128.5 (d), 128.1 (d), 126.2 (d), 126.1 (d), 126.0 (d), 125.9 (d), 125.0 (d), 124.3 (d), 123.2 (d), 119.8 (s), 112.5 (s), 97.4 (s), 63.2 (t), 14.4 (q); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 3411$, 3041, 2988, 2937, 2861, 1942, 1740, 1668, 1634, 1575, 1503, 1474, 1456, 1411, 1388, 1371, 1324, 1305, 1258, 1245, 1225, 1158, 1113, 1092, 1008, 936, 923, 870, 844, 802, 768, 745, 701, 681, 651, 629, 613 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) [M-H]⁻ C₂₃H₁₇FO₄ calcd for 357.1132, found 357.1128.



Ethyl 2,4-dihydroxy-[1,2'-binaphthalene]-3-carboxylate (2n).

Yield: 63.8 mg, 89%; Yellow solid, mp 168.6 – 170.1 °C; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/9); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 11.65 (s, 1H), 9.36 (s, 1H), 8.42 (d, J = 8.3 Hz, 1H), 8.04 – 7.87 (comp, 4H), 7.59 – 7.50 (comp, 3H), 7.49 – 7.40 (comp, 2H), 7.39 – 7.30 (m, 1H), 4.63 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 1.51 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 170.4 (s), 161.5 (s), 150.5 (s), 137.3 (s), 133.7 (s), 133.6 (s), 132.8 (s), 130.6 (d), 130.2 (d), 129.7 (d), 128.1 (d), 128.1 (d), 127.9 (d), 126.1 (d), 126.0 (d), 124.7 (d), 124.3 (d), 123.2 (d), 119.7 (s), 114.8 (s), 97.2 (s), 63.2 (t), 14.3 (q); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 3428$, 3054, 2982, 2911, 2863, 1737, 1660, 1636, 1609, 1577, 1504, 1473, 1455, 1403, 1370, 1348, 1325, 1302, 1245, 1229, 1201, 1180, 1159, 1095, 1075, 1007, 966, 948, 936, 923, 901, 875, 854, 819, 803, 772, 752, 721, 699, 678, 648 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) [M-H]⁻C₂₃H₁₇FO₄ calcd for 357.1132, found 357.1128.



Ethyl 1,3-dihydroxy-4-(thiophen-3-yl)-2-naphthoate (20).

Yield: 52.2 mg, 83%; Yellow solid, mp 103.2 – 106.0 °C; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/10); ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 11.57 (s, 1H), 9.36 (s, 1H), 8.86 – 7.75 (m, 1H), 7.54 – 7.44 (comp, 3H), 7.34 – 7.30 (comp, 2H), 7.22 – 7.13 (m, 1H), 4.63 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 1.52 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 170.4 (s), 161.5 (s), 150.9 (s), 137.5 (s), 135.4 (s), 130.7 (d), 130.6 (d), 125.1 (d), 124.8 (d), 124.6 (d), 124.3 (d), 123.2 (d), 119.7 (s), 109.6 (s), 97.2 (s), 63.2 (t), 14.4 (q); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 3412$, 3128, 3086, 3008, 2986, 2927, 1737, 1642, 1577, 1536, 1499, 1465, 1449, 1418, 1390, 1369, 1344, 1296, 1274, 1258, 1246, 1231, 1212, 1174, 1161, 1149, 1130, 1107, 1086, 1052, 1011, 962, 946, 912, 894, 880, 851, 826, 798, 760, 738, 717, 695, 664, 649, 620, 605 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) [M-H]⁻ C₁₇H₁₃O₄S calcd for 313.0540, found 313.0534.


Ethyl 4-(cyclohex-1-en-1-yl)-1,3-dihydroxy-2-naphthoate (2p).

Yield: 44.4 mg, 71%; Yellow solid, mp 85.7 – 87.4 °C; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/10);; ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 11.40 (s, 1H), 9.08 (s, 1H), 8.42 – 8.01 (m, 1H), 7.76 – 7.63 (m, 1H), 7.48 – 7.40 (m, 1H), 7.25 – 7.19 (m, 1H), 5.87 – 5.41 (m, 1H), 4.61 – 4.45 (m, 2H), 2.40 – 2.29 (m, 1H), 2.25 – 2.18 (m, 2H), 2.05 – 1.94 (m, 1H), 1.82 – 1.67 (comp, 4H), 1.44 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 170.6 (s), 160.7 (s), 149.4 (s), 136.8 (s), 133.7 (s), 130.4 (d), 128.5 (d), 124.4 (d), 124.3 (d), 122.9 (d), 119.7 (s), 117.3 (s), 97.3 (s), 63.0 (t), 29.5 (t), 25.8 (t), 23.4 (t), 22.5 (t), 14.5 (q); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 3435$, 2982, 2926, 2831, 1730, 1666, 1637, 1575, 1503, 1474, 1442, 1402, 1371, 1323, 1304, 1244, 1228, 1175, 1159, 1148, 1093, 1067, 1015, 958, 917, 868, 800, 771, 748, 706, 682, 645 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) [M-H]⁻ C₁₉H₁₉O₄ calcd for 311.1289, found 311.1283.



Ethyl 4-cyclopropyl-1,3-dihydroxy-2-naphthoate (2q).

Yield: 46.8 mg, 86%; Yellow solid, mp 95.4 – 97.8 °C; $R_f = 0.6$ (EA/PE = 1/20);; ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 11.38 (s, 1H), 9.53 (s, 1H), 8.37 – 8.28 (comp, 2H), 7.64 – 7.58 (m, 1H), 7.36 – 7.30 (m, 1H), 4.65 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 1.85 – 1.75 (m, 1H), 1.56 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H), 1.20 – 1.12 (m, 2H), 0.75 – 0.68 (m, 2H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 170.54 (s), 160.85 (s), 152.92 (s), 138.66 (s), 130.28 (d), 124.51 (d), 124.26 (d), 122.81 (d), 119.76 (s), 112.13 (s), 97.31 (s), 63.07 (t), 14.46 (q), 7.98 (t), 7.15 (d); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 3434$, 3088, 2998, 2967, 2905, 1736, 1660, 1637, 1577, 1503, 1471, 1454, 1407, 1372, 1303, 1229, 1163, 1138, 1091, 1075, 1057, 1017, 989, 932, 909, 889, 871, 805, 783, 765, 735, 692, 672, 651 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) [M-H]⁻ C₁₆H₁₅O₄ calcd for 271.0976, found 271.0968.



Ethyl 1,3-dihydroxy-4-isopropyl-2-naphthoate (2r).

Yield: 46.1 mg, 84%; Yellow solid, mp 99.6 – 102.0 °C; $R_f = 0.6$ (EA/PE = 1/20); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 11.19 (s, 1H), 9.63 (s, 1H), 8.40 – 8.30 (m, 1H), 8.01 (d, J = 8.8 Hz, 1H), 7.59 – 7.52 (m, 1H), 7.32 – 7.26 (m, 1H), 4.63 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 3.98 – 3.72 (m, 1H), 1.54 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H), 1.48 (d, J = 7.1 Hz, 6H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 170.6 (s), 159.8 (s), 151.6 (s), 136.6 (s), 130.2 (d), 125.0 (d), 123.0 (d), 122.4 (d), 120.0 (s), 117.6 (s), 97.6 (s), 63.1 (t), 26.1 (d), 21.0 (q), 14.5 (q); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 3366$, 2982, 2970, 2940, 2909, 2875, 1737, 1665, 1639, 1608, 1547, 1472, 1409, 1382, 1351, 1328, 1302, 1227, 1170, 1157, 1123, 1091, 1022, 995, 980, 964, 903, 849, 803, 776, 756, 681, 650 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) [M-H]⁻ C₁₆H₁₇O₄ calcd for 273.1132, found 273.1129.



Ethyl 4-heptyl-1,3-dihydroxy-2-naphthoate (2s).

Yield: 60.1 mg, 93%; Yellow liquid; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/20); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 11.22 (s, 1H), 9.44 (s, 1H), 8.38 – 8.26 (m, 1H), 7.81 (d, J = 8.6 Hz, 1H), 7.61 – 7.54 (m, 1H), 7.34 – 7.27 (m, 1H), 4.60 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 3.00 – 2.92 (m, 2H), 1.67 – 1.58 (m, 2H), 1.53 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H), 1.48 – 1.30 (comp, 8H), 0.91 (t, J = 6.8 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 170.5 (s), 159.8 (s), 150.6 (s), 136.8 (s), 130.4 (d), 124.7 (d), 122.8 (d), 122.6 (d), 119.8 (s), 113.2 (s), 97.2 (s), 63.0 (t), 32.1 (t), 30.1 (t), 29.9 (t), 29.5 (t), 24.6 (t), 22.8 (t), 14.4 (q), 14.3 (q); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 3459$, 2955, 1732, 1673, 1636, 1612, 1555, 1507, 1466, 1411, 1378, 1357, 1304, 1227, 1158, 1126, 1089, 1021, 960, 909, 847, 805, 775, 657 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) [M-H]⁻ C₂₀H₂₅O₄ calcd for 329.1758, found 329.1753.



Ethyl 1,3-dihydroxy-4-isopentyl-2-naphthoate (2t).

Yield: 55.0 mg, 91%; Yellow liquid; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/20) ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 11.23 (s, 1H), 9.42 (s, 1H), 8.37 – 8.29 (m, 1H), 7.80 (d, J = 8.6 Hz, 1H), 7.61 – 7.54 (m, 1H), 7.34 – 7.28 (m, 1H), 4.61 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 2.99 – 2.92 (m, 2H), 1.80 – 1.69 (m, 1H), 1.57 – 1.46 (comp, 5H), 1.04 (d, J = 6.6 Hz, 6H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 170.5 (s), 159.8 (s), 150.4 (s), 136.8 (s), 130.4 (d), 124.8 (d), 122.7 (d), 122.6 (d), 119.8 (s), 113.3 (s), 97.2 (s), 63.0 (t), 38.9 (t), 28.8 (d), 22.8 (q), 22.6 (t), 14.4 (q); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 3456$, 2957, 1678, 1642, 1613, 1556, 1468, 1451, 1412, 1382, 1357, 1303, 1247, 1229, 1199, 1170, 1097, 1075, 1020, 917, 847, 810, 778, 686, 657 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI) [M-H]⁻ C₁₈H₂₂O₄ calcd for 301.1445, found 301.1439.



Ethyl 1,4-dihydroxy-3-phenyl-2-naphthoate (3a).

Yield: 51.8 mg, 84%; Yellow solid, mp 112.5 – 115.0 °C; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/8); ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 12.08 (s, 1H), 8.45 (d, J = 8.0 Hz, 1H), 8.19 (d, J = 8.2 Hz, 1H), 7.70 – 7.65 (m, 1H), 7.61 – 7.56 (m, 1H), 7.51 – 7.46 (m, 2H), 7.45 – 7.41 (m, 1H), 7.33 – 7.28 (m, 2H), 5.05 (s, 1H), 3.97 (q, J = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 0.71 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 171.7 (s), 156.0 (s), 141.2 (s), 137.3 (s), 130.2 (d, 2C), 129.5 (d), 129.1 (d, 2C), 127.9 (d), 127.8 (s), 126.6 (d), 125.3 (s), 124.1 (d), 122.5 (d), 118.3 (s), 105.1 (s), 60.93 (t), 13.08 (q); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 3502$, 2983, 1948, 1737, 1655, 1633, 1589, 1488, 1475, 1442, 1401, 1386, 1372, 1333, 1270, 1240, 1212, 1159, 1099, 1065, 1020, 953, 920, 845, 804, 766, 748, 718, 702, 690, 662, 617 cm⁻¹; HRMS (EI) (m/z) C₁₉H₁₆O₄ calcd for 308.1049, found 308.1036.



Ethyl 5-fluoro-1,4-dihydroxy-3-phenyl-2-naphthoate (3b).

Yield: 57.4 mg, 88%; Yellow solid, mp 118 – 119 °C; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/20); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 11.93 (s, 1H), 8.40 – 8.21 (m, 1H), 7.51 – 7.38 (comp, 4H), 7.34 – 7.25 (comp, 3H), 5.91 (d, J = 12.6 Hz, 1H), 3.97 (q, J = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 0.72 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 171.4 (s), 159.0 (d, J = 249.3 Hz), 154.5 (d, J = 4.2 Hz), 140.5 (d, J = 3.4 Hz), 137.4 (s), 130.0 (d, 2C), 128.5 (d, 2C), 127.6 (d, J = 4.2 Hz), 127.5 (d), 126.3 (d, J = 9.2 Hz), 121.1 (d, J = 2.6

Hz), 120.8 (d, J = 4.2 Hz), 117.2 (d, J = 9.4 Hz), 114.8 (d, J = 22.8 Hz), 107.1 (d, J = 1.3 Hz), 61.2 (t), 13.0 (q); ¹⁹F NMR (283 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) -117.18; IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 3523.40$, 2989.58, 2901.01, 1729.55, 1650.51, 1589.62, 1493.00, 1470.04, 1443.09, 1397.44, 1374.20, 1317.56, 1288.35, 1234.76, 1188.04, 1152.97, 1086.86, 1051.48, 1025.92, 988.77, 933.48, 911.63, 877.06, 843.30, 789.57, 758.21, 725.67, 701.42, 691.42 cm⁻¹; HRMS (EI) (*m*/*z*) C₁₉H₁₅FO₄ calcd for 326.0954, found 326.0961.



Ethyl 6-fluoro-1,4-dihydroxy-3-phenyl-2-naphthoate (3c).

Yield: 51.6 mg, 79%; Yellow solid, mp 163 – 165.0 °C; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/20); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 8.45 (dd, J = 9.2, 5.6 Hz, 1H), 7.78 (dd, J = 10.3, 2.5 Hz, 1H), 7.52 – 7.43 (comp, 3H), 7.35 – 7.27 (comp, 3H), 5.02 (s, 1H), 3.96 (q, J = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 0.70 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 171.6 (s), 163.5 (d, J = 250.0 Hz), 156.1 (d, J = 1.0 Hz), 140.7 (d, J = 4.5 Hz), 137.0 (s), 130.0 (d, 2C), 129.4 (d, J = 9.7 Hz), 129.2 (d, 2C), 128.1 (d), 127.2 (d, J = 9.5 Hz), 122.2 (d, J = 1.1 Hz), 119.5 (s), 116.5 (d, J = 24.9 Hz), 106.9 (d, J = 22.8 Hz), 104.6 (d, J = 1.9 Hz), 61.0 (t), 13.1 (q); ¹⁹F NMR (283 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) -109.10. IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 3502.00$, 3102.36, 2984.35, 2937.99, 1641.37, 1601.01, 1490.75, 1473.22, 1442.05, 1402.04, 1383.32, 1333.19, 1267.23, 1244.11, 1168.34, 1150.41, 1103.45, 1058.00, 1023.24, 959.44, 884.32, 846.78, 794.27, 735.77, 702.54, 675.69 cm⁻¹; HRMS (EI) (m/z) C₁₉H₁₅FO₄ calcd for 326.0954, found 326.0935.



Ethyl 7-fluoro-1,4-dihydroxy-3-phenyl-2-naphthoate (3d).

Yield: 39.8 mg, 61%; Yellow solid, mp 88 – 89 °C; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/20); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 11.97 (s, 1H), 8.19 (dd, J = 9.2, 5.5 Hz, 1H), 8.04 (dd, J = 10.1, 2.6 Hz, 1H), 7.50 – 7.37 (comp, 4H), 7.32 – 7.27 (comp, 2H), 5.07 (s, 1H), 3.97 (q, J = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 0.71 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 171.5 (s), 161.5 (d, J = 246.9 Hz), 155.0 (d, J = 4.8 Hz), 141.3 (d, J = 0.9 Hz), 137.0 (s), 130.2 (d, 2C), 129.2 (d, 2C), 128.0 (d), 126.5 (d, J = 9.1 Hz), 125.3 (d, J = 8.6 Hz), 124.6 (d, J = 1.0 Hz), 119.2 (d, J = 24.8 Hz), 117.7 (d, J = 2.4 Hz), 108.2 (d, J = 22.7 Hz), 106.2 (s), 61.1 (t), 13.1 (q); ¹⁹F NMR (283 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) -113.24; IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 3532.30, 3059.09, 2984.99, 2936.35, 2905.43, 1738.61, 1667.82,$

1597.47, 1494.13, 1443.89, 1399.55, 1380.75, 1327.94, 1297.21, 1260.36, 1236.90, 1212.76, 1180.85, 1127.20, 1067.42, 1020.71, 981.69, 845.37, 828.04, 756.77, 701.56, 660.02 cm⁻¹; HRMS (EI) (*m*/*z*) C₁₉H₁₅FO₄ calcd for 326.0954, found 326.0946.



Ethyl 7-fluoro-1,4-dioxo-3-phenyl-1,4-dihydronaphthalene-2-carboxylate (3d').

Yield: 18.8 mg, 29%; Yellow solid, mp 97 – 99 °C; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/20); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 8.21 (dd, J = 8.6, 5.2 Hz, 1H), 7.79 (dd, J = 8.4, 2.6 Hz, 1H), 7.50 – 7.33 (comp, 6H), 4.18 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 1.05 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 181.1 (d, J = 1.4 Hz), 166.5 (d, J = 258.6 Hz), 163.9 (s), 144.9 (s), 139.7 (s), 134.2 (d, J = 8.0 Hz), 131.3 (s), 130.6 (d, J = 9.0 Hz), 130.1 (d), 129.4 (d, 2C), 128.4 (d, J = 3.2 Hz), 128.3 (d, 2C), 121.8 (d, J = 22.5 Hz), 113.3 (d, J = 23.6 Hz), 62.2 (t), 13.9 (q); ¹⁹F NMR (283 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) -100.70; IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 3067.08, 2984.41, 1717.62, 1659.74, 1602.17, 1587.87, 1487.11, 1462.41, 1444.94, 1392.56, 1371.57, 1347.72, 1299.34, 1259.92, 1239.92, 1213.70, 1191.57, 1130.38, 1079.30, 1012.05, 964.52, 938.56, 911.05, 853.10, 814.87, 795.38, 763.59, 734.50, 706.23, 636.86 cm⁻¹; HRMS (EI) (<math>m/z$) C₁₉H₁₃FO₄ calcd for 324.0798, found 324.0807.



Ethyl 8-fluoro-1,4-dihydroxy-3-phenyl-2-naphthoate (3e).

Yield: 54.0 mg, 82%; Yellow solid, mp 138 – 140 °C; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/20); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 12.35 (d, J = 3.2 Hz, 1H), 7.98 (d, J = 8.4 Hz, 1H), 7.59 – 7.43 (comp, 4H), 7.33 – 7.26 (comp, 2H), 7.20 (ddd, J = 12.9, 7.8, 1.0 Hz, 1H), 5.09 (s, 1H), 3.95 (q, J = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 0.69 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 171.4 (s), 160.6 (d, J = 260.6 Hz), 155.7 (d, J = 4.2 Hz), 140.8 (d, J = 4.2 Hz), 136.8 (s), 129.90 (d, J = 3.4 Hz), 129.85 (d, 2C), 129.7 (d, J = 9.2 Hz), 129.2 (d, 2C), 128.1 (d), 119.6 (d, J = 1.5 Hz), 118.5 (d, J = 4.6 Hz), 115.2 (d, J = 10.0 Hz), 112.7 (d, J = 22.2 Hz), 106.1 (d, J = 1.9 Hz), 61.1 (t), 13.0 (q); ¹⁹F NMR (283 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) -109.93; IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 3057.25$, 2977.23, 2933.49, 1730.08, 1662.94, 1598.43, 1459.30, 1443.84, 1371.40, 1327.55, 1278.94, 1230.72, 1157.70, 1130.78, 1095.69, 1008.64, 907.28, 833.80, 798.95, 785.24, 763.17, 719.84, 699.01, 632.24 cm⁻¹; HRMS (EI) (m/z) C₁₉H₁₅FO₄ calcd for 326.0954, found 326.0946.



Ethyl 1,4-dihydroxy-7-methyl-3-phenyl-2-naphthoate (3f).

Yield: 53.5 mg, 83%; Yellow solid, mp 107 – 108 °C; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/20); ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 12.10 (s, 1H), 8.34 (d, J = 8.5 Hz, 1H), 7.97 (s, 1H), 7.50 – 7.40 (comp, 4H), 7.32 – 7.27 (m, 2H), 5.01 (s, 1H), 3.95 (q, J = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 2.56 (s, 3H), 0.70 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 171.7 (s), 156.2 (s), 140.8 (s), 139.9 (s), 137.4 (s), 130.2 (d, 2C), 129.1 (d, 2C), 128.7 (d), 128.0 (s), 127.8 (d), 124.0 (d), 123.4 (s), 121.6 (d), 118.3 (s), 104.3 (s), 60.8 (t), 22.2 (q), 13.1 (q); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 3532.29$, 3062.41, 2988.61, 2977.44, 2934.79, 2920.32, 1737.00, 1652.65, 1595.59, 1488.01, 1471.91, 1441.93, 1400.75, 1377.52, 1320.74, 1264.94, 1235.09, 1207.13, 1161.21, 1107.64, 1067.42, 1023.70, 951.88, 892.03, 844.76, 821.32, 795.74, 733.72, 697.47, 660.04 cm⁻¹; HRMS (EI) (*m/z*) C₂₀H₁₈O4 calcd for 322.1205, found 322.1188.



Ethyl 1,4-dihydroxy-7-methoxy-3-phenyl-2-naphthoate (3g).

Yield: 61.6 mg, 91%; Yellow solid, mp 122 – 123 °C; $R_f = 0.3$ (EA/PE = 1/10); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 12.02 (s, 1H), 8.10 (d, J = 9.1 Hz, 1H), 7.73 (d, J = 2.6 Hz, 1H), 7.50 – 7.38 (comp, 3H), 7.35 – 7.27 (comp, 3H), 5.02 (s, 1H), 4.01 – 3.92 (comp, 5H), 0.70 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 171.8 (s), 158.6 (s), 154.8 (s), 141.4 (s), 137.4 (s), 130.3 (d, 2C), 129.1 (d, 2C), 127.8 (d), 126.5 (s), 124.3 (d), 122.8 (s), 121.7 (d), 116.3 (s), 105.7 (s), 102.5 (d), 60.9 (t), 55.7 (q), 13.1 (q); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 3543.02$, 2997.34, 2953.24, 1641.21, 1597.59, 1494.88, 1439.49, 1399.40, 1378.66, 1333.98, 1303.60, 1250.89, 1224.70, 1179.36, 1099.03, 1070.47, 1029.53, 979.45, 909.10, 846.67, 827.52, 796.27, 755.56, 700.98, 679.95, 651.47, 609.71 cm⁻¹; HRMS (EI) (m/z) C₂₀H₁₈O₅ calcd for 338.1154, found 338.1141.



Ethyl 1,4-dihydroxy-3-(*p*-tolyl)-2-naphthoate (3h).

Yield: 51.5 mg, 80%; Yellow solid, mp 113 – 114 °C; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/20); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 12.05 (s, 1H), 8.44 (d, J = 8.3 Hz, 1H), 8.19 (d, J = 8.1 Hz, 1H), 7.66 (ddd, J = 8.2, 6.9, 1.3 Hz, 1H), 7.58 (ddd, J = 8.2, 6.9, 1.3 Hz, 1H), 7.29 (d, J = 8.0 Hz, 2H), 7.18 (d, J = 8.0 Hz, 2H), 5.11 (s, 1H), 3.98 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 2.44 (s, 3H), 0.73 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 171.7 (s), 155.9 (s), 141.3 (s), 137.7 (s), 134.1 (s), 130.0 (d, 2C), 129.8 (d, 2C), 129.4 (d), 127.7 (s), 126.5 (d), 125.3 (s), 124.1 (d), 122.4 (d), 118.2 (s), 105.3 (s), 61.0 (t), 21.4 (q), 13.1 (q); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 3502.37$, 2991.39, 2942.94, 2902.50, 2836.42, 1737.48, 1643.86, 1584.56, 1474.73, 1438.85, 1394.30, 1370.96, 1322.01, 1258.83, 1230.38, 1204.60, 1181.12, 1151.83, 1097.04, 1057.53, 1022.38, 964.85, 921.61, 854.57, 802.33, 775.43, 751.21, 684.70, 657.86 cm⁻¹; HRMS (EI) (m/z) C₂₀H₁₈O4 calcd for 322.1205, found 322.1205.



Ethyl 1,4-dihydroxy-3-(*m*-tolyl)-2-naphthoate (3i).

Yield: 52.2 mg, 81%; Yellow solid, mp 105 – 106 °C; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/20); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 12.06 (s, 1H), 8.48 – 8.42 (m, 1H), 8.23 – 8.16 (m, 1H), 7.66 (ddd, J = 8.2, 6.9, 1.3 Hz, 1H), 7.58 (ddd, J = 8.2, 6.9, 1.3 Hz, 1H), 7.41 – 7.33 (m, 1H), 7.26 – 7.20 (m, 1H), 7.14 – 7.07 (comp, 2H), 5.12 (s, 1H), 4.05 – 3.92 (m, 2H), 2.41 (s, 3H), 0.72 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 171.7 (s), 155.9 (s), 141.2 (s), 138.8 (s), 137.1 (s), 130.8 (d), 129.4 (d), 129.0 (d), 128.6 (d), 127.8 (s), 127.1 (d), 126.5 (d), 125.3 (s), 124.1 (d), 122.4 (d), 118.4 (s), 105.1 (s), 60.9 (t), 21.5 (q), 13.1 (q); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 3521.67$, 2993.67, 2923.72, 1737.74, 1647.06, 1583.08, 1470.52, 1440.58, 1396.76, 1371.20, 1325.09, 1297.23, 1258.14, 1238.47, 1203.25, 1177.64, 1153.59, 1099.05, 1067.39, 1019.00, 959.40, 912.72, 888.19, 776.69, 711.68, 677.06, 660.53 cm⁻¹; HRMS (EI) (m/z) C₂₀H₁₈O₄ calcd for 322.1205, found 322.1188.



Ethyl 1,4-dihydroxy-3-(o-tolyl)-2-naphthoate (3j).

Yield: 56.7 mg, 88%; Yellow solid, mp 115 – 116 °C; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/20); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 12.20 (s, 1H), 8.47 (d, J = 7.7 Hz, 1H), 8.19 (d, J =

7.7 Hz, 1H), 7.67 (ddd, J = 8.2, 6.9, 1.3 Hz, 1H), 7.59 (ddd, J = 8.2, 6.9, 1.3 Hz, 1H), 7.36 – 7.31 (comp, 2H), 7.30 – 7.26 (m, 1H), 7.18 – 7.13 (m, 1H), 4.85 (s, 1H), 4.04 – 3.91 (m, 2H), 2.09 (s, 3H), 0.72 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 171.7 (s), 156.3 (s), 140.8 (s), 138.0 (s), 136.3 (s), 130.5 (d), 130.2 (d), 129.4 (d), 128.4 (d), 127.9 (s), 126.6 (d), 126.5 (d), 125.3 (s), 124.1 (d), 122.4 (d), 117.4 (s), 104.8 (s), 60.9 (t), 19.9 (q), 13.1 (q); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 3523.67$, 3490.41, 2979.15, 1738.13, 1656.80, 1631.02, 1588.07, 1487.25, 1440.73, 1397.69, 1371.24, 1327.35, 1266.49, 1238.08, 1211.10, 1157.75, 1097.53, 1061.32, 1017.98, 952.78, 848.83, 804.70, 764.54, 690.27, 656.22 cm⁻¹; HRMS (EI) (*m*/*z*) C₂₀H₁₈O₄ calcd for 322.1205, found 322.1187.



Ethyl 1,4-dihydroxy-3-(4-methoxyphenyl)-2-naphthoate (3k).

Yield: 57.5 mg, 85%; Yellow solid, mp 133 – 134.0 °C; $R_f = 0.3$ (EA/PE = 1/15); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 12.08 (s, 1H), 8.45 (d, J = 7.9 Hz, 1H), 8.19 (d, J = 7.9 Hz, 1H), 7.66 (ddd, J = 8.2, 6.9, 1.3 Hz, 1H), 7.58 (ddd, J = 8.2, 6.9, 1.3 Hz, 1H), 7.25 – 7.13 (m, 2H), 7.07 – 6.95 (m, 2H), 5.13 (s, 1H), 3.99 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 3.87 (s, 3H), 0.78 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 171.7 (s), 159.5 (s), 155.9 (s), 141.6 (s), 131.3 (d, 2C), 129.4 (d), 129.1 (s), 127.7 (s), 126.5 (d), 125.2 (s), 124.0 (d), 122.4 (d), 117.8 (s), 114.6 (d, 2C), 105.4 (s), 60.9 (t), 55.6 (q), 13.3 (q); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 3072.83$, 2978.26, 2934.50, 2838.93, 1734.63, 1668.06, 1604.43, 1510.99, 1461.92, 1443.18, 1370.43, 1344.17, 1325.96, 1290.96, 1273.66, 1254.51, 1231.24, 1179.93, 1137.67, 1095.65, 1068.87, 1027.70, 926.79, 898.25, 855.13, 833.06, 817.82, 791.65, 751.90, 714.74, 651.87, 630.69 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI⁻) [M-H] C₂₀H₁₇O₅ calcd for 337.1081, found 337.1082.



Ethyl 3-(4-chlorophenyl)-1,4-dihydroxy-2-naphthoate (31).

Yield: 38.4 mg, 56%; Yellow solid, mp 109 – 110 °C; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/15); ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 12.14 (s, 1H), 8.49 – 8.41 (m, 1H), 8.24 – 8.14 (m, 1H), 7.68 (ddd, J = 8.2, 6.9, 1.3 Hz, 1H), 7.60 (ddd, J = 8.2, 6.9, 1.3 Hz, 1H), 7.52 – 7.44 (m, 2H), 7.27 – 7.24 (m, 2H), 4.91 (s, 1H), 4.01 (q, J = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 0.79 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 171.4 (s), 156.4 (s), 141.2 (s), 135.8 (s), 134.1 (s), 131.7 (d, 2C), 129.7 (d), 129.3 (d, 2C), 127.8 (s), 126.9 (d), 125.5

(s), 124.1 (d), 122.5 (d), 116.9 (s), 104.7 (s), 61.2 (t), 13.2 (q); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 3532.05$, 2989.37, 2959.19, 2925.03, 1652.14, 1586.54, 1492.49, 1441.06, 1397.70, 1371.31, 1324.23, 1293.10, 1257.07, 1235.85, 1200.00, 1157.83, 1086.82, 1063.98, 1018.26, 950.95, 845.05, 822.22, 800.92, 768.06, 691.87, 655.18 cm⁻¹; HRMS (EI) (*m*/*z*) C₁₉H₂₁O₄ calcd for 342.0659, found 342.0640.



Ethyl 1',4'-dihydroxy-[1,2'-binaphthalene]-3'-carboxylate (3m).

Yield: 62.4 mg, 87%; Yellow solid, mp 137 – 139 °C; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/20); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 12.31 (s, 1H), 8.58 – 8.46 (m, 1H), 8.28 – 8.19 (m, 1H), 7.94 (t, J = 7.8 Hz, 2H), 7.75 – 7.61 (comp, 2H), 7.60 – 7.47 (comp, 3H), 7.45 – 7.34 (comp, 2H), 4.97 (s, 1H), 3.68 (q, J = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 0.16 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 171.5 (s), 156.4 (s), 141.8 (s), 134.7 (s), 134.0 (s), 133.4 (s), 129.6 (d), 128.5 (d), 128.3 (d), 128.0 (s), 127.7 (d), 126.8 (d), 126.4 (d), 125.8 (d), 125.6 (d), 124.2 (d), 122.7 (d), 115.9 (s), 105.6 (s), 60.7 (t), 12.4 (q); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 3510.08$, 3046.42, 2985.13, 2932.33, 1648.45, 1626.95, 1578.90, 1505.93, 1466.70, 1441.76, 1397.32, 1371.73, 1325.35, 1292.34, 1259.38, 1236.02, 1204.26, 1178.42, 1157.77, 1107.06, 1093.66, 1058.85, 1024.23, 960.79, 872.03, 849.01, 799.51, 783.24, 768.64, 737.96, 695.96, 681.25, 652.19 cm⁻¹; HRMS (ESI⁻) [M-H] C₂₃H₁₇O₄ calcd for 357.1132, found 357.1133.



Ethyl 1,4-dihydroxy-[2,2'-binaphthalene]-3-carboxylate (3n).

Yield: 58.8 mg, 82%; Yellow solid, mp 135 – 137 °C; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/20); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 12.15 (s, 1H), 8.51 – 8.46 (m, 1H), 8.24 – 8.20 (m, 1H), 7.98 – 7.91 (comp, 2H), 7.88 – 7.85 (m, 1H), 7.82 (s, 1H), 7.75 – 7.60 (comp, 2H), 7.58 – 7.54 (comp, 2H), 7.41 – 7.37 (m, 1H), 5.19 (s, 1H), 3.89 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 0.42 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 171.6 (s), 156.2 (s), 141.4 (s), 134.8 (s), 133.7 (s), 132.9 (s), 129.6 (d), 128.7 (d), 128.6 (d), 128.5 (d), 128.0 (d), 127.90 (d), 127.86 (s), 126.7 (d), 126.6 (d), 125.4 (s), 124.1 (d), 122.5 (d), 118.1 (s), 105.1 (s), 61.0 (t), 12.9 (q); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 3508.17$, 3048.62, 2980.13, 1647.99, 1587.32, 1503.80, 1470.86, 1439.86, 1396.38, 1370.16, 1322.11, 1256.20,

1226.59, 1203.30, 1178.26, 1152.25, 1099.05, 1062.43, 1014.29, 967.65, 894.72, 876.60, 822.32, 803.10, 792.83, 766.64, 753.46, 683.61, 655.52, 638.68 cm⁻¹; HRMS (EI) (m/z) C₂₃H₁₈O₄ calcd for 358.1205, found 358.1211.



Ethyl 1,4-dihydroxy-3-(thiophen-3-yl)-2-naphthoate (30).

Yield: 52.2 mg, 83%; Yellow solid, mp 137 – 138 °C; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/20); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 12.11 (s, 1H), 8.47 – 8.41 (m, 1H), 8.22 – 8.16 (m, 1H), 7.67 (ddd, J = 8.2, 6.9, 1.4 Hz, 1H), 7.59 (ddd, J = 8.2, 6.9, 1.4 Hz, 1H), 7.48 (dd, J = 4.9, 4.0 Hz, 1H), 7.25 (dd, J = 3.0, 1.3 Hz, 1H), 7.02 (dd, J = 4.9, 1.3 Hz, 1H), 5.35 (s, 1H), 4.05 (q, J = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 0.89 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 171.6 (s), 156.0 (s), 142.0 (s), 136.9 (s), 130.1 (d), 129.5 (d), 127.6 (s), 126.8 (d), 126.6 (d), 125.4 (s), 124.1 (d), 123.5 (d), 122.5 (d), 112.6 (s), 105.2 (s), 61.0 (t), 13.3 (q); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 3519.67$, 3112.53, 3075.84, 2991.33, 2976.72, 2932.43, 1650.37, 1626.71, 1587.06, 1529.96, 1470.12, 1437.14, 1399.12, 1370.81, 1326.48, 1257.64, 1232.15, 1177.78, 1151.89, 1098.50, 1063.42, 1018.65, 966.76, 855.24, 832.14, 800.48, 763.16, 679.53, 654.24, 631.89, 620.66 cm⁻¹; HRMS (EI) (m/z) C₁₇H₁₄O₄S calcd for 314.0613, found 314.0610.



Ethyl 3-(cyclohex-1-en-1-yl)-1,4-dihydroxy-2-naphthoate (3p).

Yield: 56.2 mg, 90%; Yellow solid, mp 101 – 103 °C; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/20); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 12.23 (s, 1H), 8.40 (d, J = 8.3 Hz, 1H), 8.17 (d, J = 8.3 Hz, 1H), 7.67 – 7.60 (m, 1H), 7.57 – 7.49 (m, 1H), 6.04 (s, 1H), 5.83 – 5.77 (m, 1H), 4.48 – 4.35 (m, 2H), 2.37 – 2.07 (comp, 4H), 1.90 – 1.68 (comp, 4H), 1.41 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 171.9 (s), 156.3 (s), 140.0 (s), 136.2 (s), 129.3 (d), 127.8 (s), 127.7 (d), 126.2 (d), 124.8 (s), 124.0 (d), 122.5 (d), 120.0 (s), 104.1 (s), 61.6 (t), 30.5 (t), 25.7 (t), 23.2 (t), 22.2 (t), 14.6 (q); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 3502.57$, 2990.98, 2944.11, 2836.48, 1737.78, 1643.67, 1584.37, 1474.67, 1439.23, 1394.03, 1370.83, 1321.89, 1286.72, 1258.48, 1230.44, 1204.39, 1180.92, 1151.77, 1096.90, 1057.28, 1022.46, 965.57, 921.81, 892.44, 854.50, 826.65, 802.49, 776.07, 751.18, 707.09, 684.55, 657.61 cm⁻¹; HRMS (EI) (*m*/*z*) C₁₉H₂₀O₄ calcd for 312.1362, found 312.1349.



Ethyl 2-(2-(phenylethynyl)phenyl)acetate (4a).

¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 7.66 – 7.52 (comp, 3H), 7.50 – 7.18 (comp, 6H), 4.19 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 3.93 (s, 2H), 1.24 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 171.2 (s), 136.5 (s), 132.1 (d), 131.6 (d, 2C), 130.0 (d), 128.6 (d), 128.43 (d), 128.41 (d, 2C), 127.2 (d), 123.6 (s), 123.3 (s), 94.0 (s), 87.6 (s), 60.9 (t), 40.3 (t), 14.2 (q).

The spectroscopic properties correspond to the data available in the literature.¹



1-Ethoxy-3-phenyl-8*H*-indeno[1,2-*c*]furan-8-one (5a)

¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 7.82 – 7.72 (comp, 4H), 7.55 – 7.46 (comp, 3H), 7.42 – 7.30 (m, 2H), 4.90 (q, *J* = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 1.53 (t, *J* = 7.1 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (125 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 182.6 (s), 157.4 (s), 142.1 (s), 138.2 (s), 137.3 (s), 133.5 (d), 129.8 (s), 129.0 (d, 2C), 128.5 (d), 128.3 (d), 125.5 (d, 2C), 125.3 (s), 124.8 (d), 122.5 (d), 101.1 (s), 70.9 (t), 15.1 (q).



Compound **8a**: Yield: 40.6 mg, 83%; White solid, mp 183.0 – 184.0 °C; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/100); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 7.73 – 7.67 (m, 1H), 7.62 – 7.57 (m, 1H), 7.44 – 7.37 (comp, 4H), 7.30 – 7.24 (comp, 3H), 7.19 – 7.14 (m, 2H), 7.11 – 7.05 (m, 2H), 7.04 – 6.97 (m, 2H), 6.72 – 6.62 (m, 2H), 3.89 (s, 3H), 3.80 – 3.65 (comp, 5H), 0.79 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (125 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 169.3 (s), 159.3 (s), 158.3 (s), 138.89 (s), 138.85 (s), 136.5 (s), 134.9 (s), 133.8 (s),

132.9 (s), 131.8 (s), 131.7 (d, 2C)), 131.62 (s), 131.60 (d, 2C)), 131.3 (d, 2C)), 130.1 (s), 127.8 (d, 2C)), 127.1 (d), 127.0 (d), 126.84 (d), 126.80 (d), 126.2 (d), 113.6 (d, 2C), 112.8 (d, 2C)), 60.7 (t), 55.4 (q), 55.2 (q), 13.8 (q); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 2950.46$, 2901.71, 2837.35, 1736.25, 1609.78, 1574.67, 1513.29, 1457.21, 1442.60, 1403.93, 1380.22, 1300.35, 1288.31, 1244.30, 1222.55, 1182.00, 1106.88, 1032.72, 924.68, 873.04, 847.75, 832.07, 766.58, 740.40, 704.54, 638.00, 626.52 cm⁻¹; HRMS (EI) (*m*/*z*) C₃₃H₂₈O₄ calcd for 488.1988, found 488.1982.



Compound 8b: Yield: 37.5 mg, 71%; White solid, mp 172.0 - 173.0 °C; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/100); ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) with two diastereoisomers: 8.08 - 7.87 (comp, 4H), 7.82 - 7.65 (comp, 6H), 7.64 - 7.53 (comp, 3H), 7.49 - 7.28 (comp, 7H), 7.25 - 7.08 (comp, 3H), 3.60 - 3.45 (m, 2H), 0.52 (t, J = 7.0 Hz, 3H); ${}^{13}C$ NMR (125 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) with two diastereoisomers: 169.0 (s), 139.2 (s), 138.50 (s) and 138.47 (s), 137.1 (s), 136.91 (s), 136.88 (s), 135.7 (s), 135.4 (s), 135.1 (s), 133.8 (s), 133.7 (s), 133.3 (s), 133.2 (s), 132.97 (s) and 132.95 (s), 132.9 (s), 132.81 (s) and 132.78 (s), 132.1 (s), 131.8 (s), 131.4 (d) and 131.32 (d), 131.26 (d) and 131.1 (d), 129.7 (d) and 129.6 (d), 129.3 (d) and 129.2 (d), 128.9 (d), 128.7 (d) and 128.6 (d), 128.3 (d) and 128.2 (d), 128.1 (d) and 128.0 (d), 128.0 (d), 127.9 (d), 127.8 (d), 127.7 (d), 127.5 (d), 127.2 (d), 127.14 (d) and 127.10 (d), 127.0 (d), 126.82 (d) and 126.75 (s), 126.6 (d), 126.44 (d), 126.39 (d), 125.92 (d) and 125.86 (d), 60.8 (s), 13.4 (s); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 3056.09$, 2976.86, 1727.34, 1629.83, 1600.51, 1503.67, 1462.61, 1441.77, 1406.24, 1376.42, 1300.71, 1270.99, 1237.23, 1222.91, 1197.19, 1169.08, 1129.88, 1099.92, 1018.42, 961.81, 929.07, 900.45, 859.98, 820.00, 746.99, 725.78, 701.60, 668.62, 654.31, 634.10, 624.10 cm⁻¹; HRMS (EI) (m/z) C₃₉H₂₈O₂ calcd for 528.2089, found 528.2070.



Compound **9a**: Yield: 96.6 mg, 91%; White solid, mp 146.0 – 147.0 °C; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/100); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 7.77 – 7.63 (m, 2H), 7.61 – 7.52 (comp, 3H), 7.52 – 7.43 (comp, 4H), 7.41 – 7.32 (m, 2H), 7.11 – 7.01 (m, 2H), 4.07 (q, J = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 3.91 (s, 3H), 0.99 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 165.5 (s), 159.8 (s), 140.9 (s), 139.5 (s), 133.8 (s), 133.3 (s), 133.0 (s), 132.1 (s), 131.4 (d, 4C), 130.0 (s), 129.0 (d), 128.6 (d, 2C), 128.3 (d), 127.59 (d), 127.56 (d), 127.2 (s), 126.7 (s), 113.8 (d, 2C), 61.9 (t), 55.5 (q), 13.7 (q); ¹⁹F NMR (283 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) -74.11 IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 2960.54$, 2935.75, 2840.34, 1731.59, 1610.01, 1573.55, 1505.00, 1452.01, 1415.56, 1383.38, 1347.56, 1283.47, 1221.96, 1205.10, 1171.67, 1136.69, 1108.79, 1073.85, 1040.12, 1009.06, 948.21, 912.83, 899.63, 835.02, 816.74, 804.98, 773.87, 760.49, 736.03, 701.38, 684.69, 648.95, 609.70 cm⁻¹; HRMS (EI) (m/z) C₂₇H₂₁F₃O₆S calcd for 530.1011, found 530.0990.



Compound **9b**: Yield: 94.7 mg, 86%; White solid, mp 196.0 – 198.0 °C; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/100); ¹H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 8.00 (d, J = 8.4 Hz, 1H), 7.98 – 7.95 (m, 1H), 7.92 – 7.87 (m, 2H), 7.72 – 7.67 (m, 2H), 7.62 – 7.56 (comp, 6H), 7.54 – 7.49 (comp, 3H), 7.48 – 7.44 (m, 1H), 3.94 (dtt, J = 10.8, 7.1, 3.6 Hz, 2H), 0.74 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (125 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 165.3 (s), 141.0 (s), 139.5 (s), 134.4 (s), 133.8 (s), 133.7 (s), 133.1 (s), 133.0 (s), 132.9 (s), 131.8 (s), 131.5 (d), 131.3 (d), 129.2 (d), 129.0 (d), 128.7 (d), 128.6 (d), 128.4 (d), 128.2 (d), 128.1 (d), 128.0 (d), 127.9 (d), 127.72 (d), 127.69 (d), 127.3 (d), 126.8 (d,2C), 126.6 (s), 118.2 (q, J = 320.6 Hz), 61.9 (t), 13.4 (q); ¹⁹F NMR (471 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) -74.10; IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 3064.21$, 2990.19, 1732.26, 1596.14, 1561.20, 1502.62, 1446.06, 1416.57, 1349.08, 1286.89, 1242.97, 1211.94, 1168.67, 1134.88, 1074.23, 1044.86, 1013.57, 965.89, 942.24, 913.01, 898.29, 862.51, 820.92, 799.86, 775.37, 754.28, 720.25, 697.79, 684.81, 647.52, 628.78, 613.75 cm⁻¹; HRMS (EI) (m/z) C₃₀H₂₁F₃O₅S calcd for 550.1062, found 550.1047.

3.6.8 References:

[1] Fairfax, D. J.; Austin, D. J.; Xu, S. L.; Padwa, A. Alternatives to α-diazo ketones for tandem cyclization– cycloaddition and carbenoid–alkyne metathesis strategies. Novel cyclic enol–ether formation via carbonyl ylide rearrangement reactions. *J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1* **1992**, 2837–2844.

3.6.9 Single-crystal X-ray diffractions









Chapter 4: Carbofluorination via a Gold-catalyzed Cascade Reaction

4.1 Introduction

Gold-catalyzed cascade reactions are valuable transformations in organic synthesis that provide efficient and rapid access to molecular complexity.^[1] Among these, cascades initiated by gold-activated alkynes toward intra- or intermolecular nucleophiles have been applied extensively to achieve alkyne difunctionalization,^[2] including classic examples of the H-X insertion into gold-carbene species,^[3] the oxidative coupling involving a dual-metal system,^[4] and a myriad of cycloadditions.^[5] Notably, related gold-triggered carbofluorinations have still to be described.^[6] Since fluorine substitution has found widespread application in nearly every aspect of the chemical industry,^[7] such a cascade cyclization would be of great value because it would grant access to organofluorine compounds by the modular combination of a nucleophile, an alkyne, and a fluoride source. Herein, we report the development of an intramolecular gold(I)-catalyzed carbofluorination of alkynes for the preparation of α -fluoronaphthalene derivatives.

Prior work has demonstrated that a transition metal-catalyzed C–F bond-formation is challenging. For the synthesis of aryl fluorides, one important method is the reductive elimination from a fluorometal complex.^[8] Another C–F bond-forming mechanism is the nucleophilic attack of a fluorine source to an aryl palladium complex.^[9] In general, these transformations proceed under harsh reaction conditions with specialized ligands/reagents, such as strong oxidants and high temperature. therefore, it is highly desirable to discover a simple, rapid, and efficient C–F bond-forming strategy. Recently, we questioned whether the H-F insertion of an in-situ generated carbene species that is generated via a gold-promoted 6-*endo-dig* diazo-yne cyclization,^[10] could enable the design of a carbofluorination reaction between readily available fluoride. As outlined in Scheme 1, it was envisioned that the exposure of diazo-ynes to a gold catalyst would afford the gold-carbene species, which could readily engage a fluorine source by a carbene insertion.^[11]



Scheme 1. Proposed carbofluorination of diazo-ynes

4.2 Results and Discussion

4.2.1 Optimization of the Reaction Conditions

We used the carbofluorination of the diazo-yne **1a** as a model reaction to investigate the HF insertion (Table1). And $EtN_3(HF)_3$ was used as our fluorine source. No reaction took place over 12 hours when JohnPhosAuCl was the catalyst (entry 1), probably due to coordination of the chloride ion with this gold catalyst. Then we

	O CO_2Et Et ₃ N(HF) <u>catalyst (solution</u>) N ₂ DCE, 40 Ph	9₃ (n eq <u>5 mol%</u> °C , 6 ł	CO_2Et Ph F	OH CO OH Ph	2 ² Et +	CO ₂ Et
	1a		2a	3a		4a
entry	catalyst	n	note	yield 2a	yield 3a	yield 4a
1	JohnPhosAuCl	3.0	dry DCE	< 5%	< 5%	< 5%
2	$CyJohnPhosAuSbF_{6}$	3.0	dry DCE	44%	< 10%	28%
3	JohnPhosAuSbF ₆	3.0	dry DCE	51%	< 10%	19%
4	tBuXPhosAuSbF ₆	3.0	dry DCE	45%	< 10%	26%
5	IPrAuSbF ₆	3.0	dry DCE	39%	< 10%	22%
6	$Ph_3PAuSbF_6$	3.0	dry DCE	< 10%	< 10%	< 10%
7	JohnPhosAuSbF ₆	3.0	DCE (AR)	16%	64%	< 5%
8	$JohnPhosAuSbF_{6}$	3.0	dry DCE, 1a with 4Å MS	62%	< 10%	29%
9^b	$JohnPhosAuSbF_{6}$	3.0	dry DCE, 1a with 4Å MS	-	-	-
10	$JohnPhosAuSbF_{6}$	10.0	dry DCE, 1a with 4Å MS	28%	< 10%	56%
11	$JohnPhosAuSbF_{6}$	1.5	dry DCE, 1a with 4Å MS	81%	< 10%	< 5%
12	JohnPhosAuSbF ₆	1.0	dry DCE, 1a with 4Å MS	69%	< 10%	< 5%

Table 1: Optimization of the Reaction Conditions.^a

[*a*] In a nitrogen-filled glovebox: A solution of catalyst (0.01 mmol) in dry DCE (0.5 mL) was added over 5 min to a 10-mL oven-dried flask containing a magnetic stirring bar, the diazo-yne **1a** (64 mg, 0.2 mmol) and Et₃N(HF)₃ (n mmol) in dry DCE (0.5 mL) using a syringe at room temperature under argon atmosphere. After the addition, the reaction mixture was stirred at 40 °C for 12 hours. Yields were determined by proton NMR with 1,3,5-trimethoxybenzene as internal standard. [b] Pyridine-HF instead of EtN₃(HF)₃

explored the ligand effects (entries 2–5). Generally, gold catalysts derived from IPr- or Buchwald-type ligands gave good results, and the JohnPhosAuSbF₆ gave the best chemical yield (entry 3). It was interesting that the triphenylphosphine-based (Ph₃P) gold catalyst only gave a trace of product (entry 6). Notably, the O-H insertion product was detected with analytical reagent DCE (entry 7), thus, the reaction efficiency and product yield were improved by using dry DCE and 4Å molecular Sieves (entry 8), giving **2a** in 62 % isolated yield with full conversion. We also investigated another fluorination reagent pyridine-HF, but no reaction occurred (entry 9). The low reactivity of the Py-HF complex may be due to its high basicity. By increasing the amount of Et₃N(HF)₃, the amount of the difluoride product **4a** increased (entries 10–12). At the same time, the amount of the desired **2a** kept decreasing, with an optimal result being observed with 1.5 equivalents of Et₃N(HF)₃.

4.2.2 Substrate Scope

After a series of optimization experiments, we were pleased to find that the use of 1.5 equivalents of $Et_3N(HF)_3$ as the nucleophile in the glovebox at 50 °C provided α -naphthyl fluoride **2a** in 81% yield. With this fluorination strategy, substrates **1** were converted under standard conditions, generating the corresponding products in 69–87% yield (Scheme 2). Both electron-withdrawing and electron-donating groups were well-tolerated (**2b–2k**). Comparatively, carbofluorinations of the substrates with naphthyl groups delivered fluorinated products in excellent yields (**2l**, **2m**), probably owing to the reduction of other nucleophiles' attack with their bulky substituents. Heteroaryl- and alkenyl-substituted substrates also underwent the carbofluorination smoothly, leading to α -fluoronaphthalenes **2n** and **2o** in 73% and 87% yields, respectively. The structure of **2m** was confirmed by single-crystal X-ray diffraction analysis.¹⁷



Scheme 3. Reaction conditions: to a solution of JohnPhosAuSbF₆ (7.7 mg, 0.01 mmol) in dry DCE (0.5 mL), was added the solution of **1** (0.2 mmol), and Et₃N(HF)₃ (49.0 uL, 0.24 mmol) in dry DCE (0.5 mL) at 50 °C, and the reaction mixture was stirred for 12.0 hours to give isolated yield. *Note*: diazo compounds were dried over 4 Å molecular sieves in dry DCE before use; Et₃N(HF)₃ was stored in the glovebox.

4.3 Conclusions

We have developed a gold-catalyzed carbofluorination of diazo-tethered alkynes, accomplished with the commercially available Et₃N(HF)₃. Our novel synthesis of aryl fluorides is enabled by the H-F insertion of the in-situ generated gold-carbene species, derived from a gold-triggered 6-*endo-dig* diazo-yne cyclization. This methodology complements the common palladium-catalyzed oxidative-coupling strategies in terms of reaction efficiency and atom economy. As a result, we expect this protocol to have a substantial effect on drug discovery and materials research.

4.4 References

[1] a) R. Dorel, A. M. Echavarren, *Chem. Rev.* **2015**, *115*, 9028–9072; b) D. Pflästerer, A. S. Hashmi, *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2016**, *45*, 1331–1367.

[2] a) R. J. Phipps, G. L. Hamilton, F. D. Toste, *Nat. Chem.* 2012, *4*, 603–614; b) M. Rudolph, A. S. K. Hashmi, *Chem. Soc. Rev.* 2012, *41*, 2448–2462; c) S. Gaillard, C. S. J. Cazin, S. P. Nolan, *Acc. Chem. Res.* 2012, *45*, 778–787; d) M. Rudolph, A. S. K. Hashmi, *Chem. Commun.* 2011, *47*, 6536–6544; e) S. P. Nolan, *Acc. Chem. Res.* 2011, *44*, 91–100; f) A. S. K. Hashmi, *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* 2010, *49*, 5232–5241; *Angew. Chem.* 2010, *122*, 5360–5369; g) A. Corma, A. Leyva-Pérez, M. J. Sabater, *Chem. Rev.* 2011, *111*, 1657–1712.

[3] a) A. S. K. Hashmi, *Chem. Rev.* 2007, 107, 3180–3211; b) L. Zhang, *Acc. Chem. Res.* 2014, 47, 877–888; c) Z. Zheng, Z. Wang, Y. Wang, L. Zhang, *Chem. Soc. Rev.* 2016, 45, 4448–4458.

[4] a) M. N. Hopkinson, A. D. Gee, V. Gouverneur, *Chem. Eur. J.* 2011, *17*, 8248–8262; b) H. A. Wegner, M. Auzias, *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* 2011, *50*, 8236–8249; *Angew. Chem.* 2011, *123*, 8386–8397.

[5] a) D. J. Gorin, N. R. Davis, F. D. Toste, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2005, 127, 11260–11261; b) A. Wetzel, F. Gagosz, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2011, 50, 7354–7358; Angew. Chem. 2011, 123, 7492–7496; c) B. Lu, Y. Luo, L. Liu, L. Ye, Y. Wang, L. Zhang, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2011, 50, 8358–8362; Angew. Chem. 2011, 123, 8508–8512.

[6] a) J. A. kana, K. X. Bhattacharyya, P. Muller, J. P. Sadighi, J. Am. Chem. Soc.
2007, 129, 7736–7737; b) B. C. Gorske, C. T. Mbofana, S. J. Miller, Org. Lett. 2009, 11, 4318–4321; c) Y. Li, X. Liu, D. Ma, B. Liu, H. Jiang, Adv. Synth. Catal. 2012, 354, 2683–2688; d) O. E. Okoromoba, J. Han, G. B. Hammond, B. Xu, J. Am. Chem. Soc.
2014, 136, 14381–14384; e) F. Nahra, S. R. Patrick, D. Bello, M. Brill, A. Obled, D. B. Cordes, A. M. Slawin, D. O'Hagan, S. P. Nolan, ChemCatChem 2015, 7, 240–244; f) X. Zeng, S. Liu, G. B. Hammond, B. Xu, Chem. Eur. J. 2017, 23, 11977–11981; g) J. Miro, C. del Pozo, Chem. Rev. 2016, 116, 11924–11966; h) M. N. Hopkinson, A. D. Gee, V. Gouverneur, Isr. J. Chem. 2010, 50, 675–690; i) T. J. O'Connor, F. D. Toste, ACS Catal. 2018, 8, 5947–5951.

[7] a) R. D. Chambers, *Fluorine in organic chemistry*, Blackwell/CRC, Boca Raton, 2004; b) T. Hiyama, *Organofluorine compounds, chemistry and applications*, Springer, Berlin, 2000; c) P. Kirsch, *Modern fluoroorganic chemistry*, Wiley-VCH, Weinheim, 2004; d) K. Muller, C. Faeh, F. Diederich, *Science* 2007, *317*, 1881–1886; e) M. Schlosser, *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* 1998, **37**, 1496–1513; *Angew. Chem.* 1998, *110*, 1538–1556; f) V. A. Soloshonok, *Fluorine-containing synthons, ACS symposium series 911*, Oxford University Press, Washington, DC, 2005; g) K. Uneyama, *Organofluorine Chemistry*, Blackwell, Oxford, 2006; h) G. Gerebtzoff, X. Li-Blatter, H. Fischer, A. Frentzel, A. Seelig, *ChemBioChem* 2004, *5*, 676–684; i) K. Müller, C. Faeh, F. Diederich, *Science* 2007, *317*, 1881–1886; j) P. A. Champagne, J. Desroches, J.-D. Hamel, M. Vandamme, J.-F. Paquin, *Chem. Rev.* 2015, *115*, 9073–9174.

[8] a) D. A. Watson, M. Su, G. Teverovskiy, Y. Zhang, J. García-Fortanet, T. Kinzel,

S. L. Buchwald, Science 2009, 325, 1661–1664; b) D. V. Yandulov, N. T. Tran, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2007, 129, 1342–1358; c) T. Noel, T. J. Maimone, S. L. Buchwald, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2011, 50, 8900–8903; Angew. Chem. 2011, 123, 9062–9065; d)
K. L. Hull, W. Q. Anani, M. S. Sanford, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2006, 128, 7134–7135; e)
X. Wang, T.-S. Mei, J.-Q. Yu, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2009, 131, 7520–7521; f) T. Furuya, H. M. Kaiser, T. Ritter, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2008, 47, 5993–5996; Angew. Chem. 2008, 120, 6082–6085.

[9] a) B. M. Trost, D. L. Van Vranken, *Chem. Rev.* 1996, 96, 395–422; b) M. H. Katcher, A. G. Doyle, *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2010, *132*, 17402–17404; c) M. H. Katcher, A. Sha, A. G. Doyle, *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2011, *133*, 15902–15905; d) C. Hollingworth, A. Hazari, M. N. Hopkinson, M. Tredwell, E. Benedetto, M. Huiban, A. D. Gee, J. M. Brown, V. Gouverneur, *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* 2011, *50*, 2613–2617; *Angew. Chem.* 2011, *123*, 2661–2665.

[10] a) C. Zhang, K. M. Hong, S. L. Dong, C.; Pei, X. Zhang, C. He, W. Hu, X. Xu, *iScience* 2019, *21*, 499–508; b) C. Zhang, K. Hong, C. Pei, S. Zhou, W. Hu, A. S. K. Hashmi, X. Xu, *Nat. Commun.* 2021, *12*, 1182.

[11] X. Zeng, S. Liu, Z. Shi, G. Liu, B. Xu, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2016, 55, 10032–10036; Angew. Chem. 2016, 128, 10186–10190.

4.5 Experimental Section

4.5.1 General Information

Chemicals were purchased from commercial suppliers and used as delivered. NMR spectra were, if not mentioned otherwise, recorded at room temperature on the following spectrometers: Bruker Avance-III-300, Bruker Avance III 400, and Bruker Avance-III-500. Chemical shifts are given in ppm and coupling constants in Hz. The following abbreviations were used for ¹H NMR spectra to indicate the signal multiplicity: s (singlet), brs (broad singlet), d (doublet), t (triplet), q (quartet), quint (quintet), sext (sextet), sept (septet), m (multiplet) and comp (combined peaks). When combinations of multiplicities are given the first character noted refers to the biggest coupling constant. All ¹³C NMR spectra were measured with ¹H-decoupling. The multiplicities mentioned in these spectra [s (singlet, quaternary carbon), d (doublet, CH-group), t (triplet, CH₂-group), q (quartet, CH₃-group)] were determined by DEPT135 spectra. Mass spectra (MS and HRMS) were determined at the chemistry department of the University of Heidelberg under the direction of Dr. J. Gross. EI-spectra were measured on a JOEL JMS-700 spectrometer. For ESI⁺-, ESI⁻- or DART-spectra a Bruker Apex-Qu FT-ICR-MS spectrometer was applied. Infrared Spectroscopy (IR) was processed on an FT-IR Bruker (IF528), IR Perkin Elmer (283) or FT-IR Bruker Vector 22. The solvent or matrix is denoted in brackets. For the most significant bands the wave number v (cm⁻¹) is given. X-ray crystal structure analyses were measured at the chemistry department of the University of Heidelberg under the direction of Dr. F. Rominger and T. Oeser on a Bruker Smart CCD or Bruker APEX-II CCD instrument using Mo-Kα-radiation

2.5.2 Experimental Procedure: Gold-Catalyzed Carbofluorinations of Diazo-ynes



In a nitrogen-filled glove-box: A solution of JohnphosAu(CH₃CN)SbF₆ (7.7 mg, 0.01 mmol) in dry 1,2-dichloroethane (0.5 mL) was added over 5 min to a 10-mL oven-dried flask containing a magnetic stirring bar, the diazo-yne **1** (0.2 mmol) and Et₃N(HF)₃ (39.0 uL, 0.24 mmol) in dry 1,2-dichloroethane (0.5 mL) using a syringe at room temperature under argon atmosphere. After the addition, the reaction mixture was stirred at 40 °C for 12 hours. Then, the solvent was removed under reduced pressure and the crude product was purified by column chromatography on a silica gel (solvents: ethyl acetate/petroleum ether = 1/30) to afford the α -fluoronaphthalene derivatives **6** in 69%-87% yields.

2.5.3 Characterization



Ethyl 4-fluoro-1-hydroxy-3-phenyl-2-naphthoate (2a).

Yield: 50.3 mg, 81%; Yellow solid, mp 51.3 – 53.5 °C; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/100); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 12.23 (s, 1H), 8.47 (d, J = 8.3 Hz, 1H), 8.03 (d, J = 8.3 Hz, 1H), 7.71 (ddd, J = 8.2, 7.0, 1.2 Hz, 1H), 7.61 (ddd, J = 8.2, 7.0, 1.2 Hz, 1H), 7.44 – 7.37 (comp, 3H), 7.33 – 7.28 (m, 2H), 4.00 (q, J = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 0.74 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (125 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 171.4 (d, $J_{C-F} = 3.0$ Hz), 157.9 (s), 148.4 (d, $J_{C-F} = 240.4$ Hz), 136.6 (s), 130.2 (d), 129.5 (d), 127.7 (d, 2C), 127.0 (d, $J_{C-F} = 32.5$ Hz, 2C), 126.9 (d, $J_{C-F} = 20.5$ Hz), 125.1 (d, $J_{C-F} = 5.0$ Hz), 124.2 (d, $J_{C-F} = 2.3$ Hz), 122.0 (d, $J_{C-F} = 18.3$ Hz), 120.7 (d, $J_{C-F} = 5.3$ Hz), 105.2 (d, $J_{C-F} = 2.3$ Hz), 61.2 (t), 13.0 (q); ¹⁹F NMR (471 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) -133.74 (s); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 2986$, 2905, 1954, 1739, 1655, 1597, 1579, 1499, 1475, 1447, 1401, 1377, 1329, 1294, 1274, 1238, 1191, 1158, 1136, 1103, 1059, 1027, 951, 922, 886, 844, 805, 770, 750, 701, 661, 618 cm⁻¹; HRMS (EI) (*m*/z) C₁₉H₁₅FO₃ calcd for 310.1005, found 310.1003.



Ethyl 4,5-difluoro-1-hydroxy-3-phenyl-2-naphthoate (2b)

Yield: 42.5 mg, 65%; Yellow solid, mp 79.5 – 82.0 °C; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/100); ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 12.18 (s, 1H), 8.31 – 8.22 (m, 1H), 7.54 – 7.49 (m, 1H), 7.43 – 7.33 (comp, 4H), 7.32 – 7.27 (m, 2H), 3.99 (q, J = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 0.74 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 171.2 (d, $J_{C-F} = 2.8$ Hz), 157.5 (dd, $J_{C-F} = 256.7$, 2.1 Hz), 157.1 (dd, $J_{C-F} = 3.7$, 2.8 Hz), 146.9 (dd, $J_{C-F} = 245.2$, 2.2 Hz), 135.9 (d, $J_{C-F} = 1.2$ Hz), 129.5 (d, $J_{C-F} = 1.6$ Hz, 2C), 127.8 (d, 2C), 127.5 (t, $J_{C-F} = 3.6$ Hz), 127.3 (d), 127.1 (dd, $J_{C-F} = 8.0$, 1.3 Hz), 123.8 (dd, $J_{C-F} = 18.6$, 2.1 Hz), 120.2 (dd, $J_{C-F} = 4.6$, 2.2 Hz), 117.1 (dd, $J_{C-F} = 16.5$, 12.5 Hz), 115.7 (dd, $J_{C-F} = 20.6$, 1.0 Hz), 106.4 (t, $J_{C-F} = 1.5$ Hz), 61.5 (t), 13.0 (q); ¹⁹F NMR (283 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) -115.54 (d, J = 65.8 Hz, 1F), -126.68 (d, J = 66.3 Hz, 1F); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 2993$, 1731, 1650, 1601, 1501, 1474, 1443, 1400, 1388, 1376, 1350, 1328, 1290, 1248, 1237, 1201, 1175, 1159, 1114, 1087, 1075, 1047, 1024, 987, 925, 879, 822, 802, 764, 751, 731, 708, 689, 617 cm⁻¹; HRMS (EI) (m/z) C₁₉H₁₄F₂O₃ calcd for 328.0911, found 328.0895.



Ethyl 4,6-difluoro-1-hydroxy-3-phenyl-2-naphthoate (2c).

Yield: 48.0 mg, 73%; Yellow solid, mp 39.4 – 41.6 °C; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/100); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 12.29 (s, 1H), 8.51 – 8.44 (m, 1H), 7.64 – 7.58 (m, 1H), 7.45 – 7.33 (comp, 4H), 7.32 – 7.27 (m, 2H), 3.99 (q, J = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 0.73 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 171.4 (d, $J_{C-F} = 3.0$ Hz), 163.8 (d, $J_{C-F} = 252.6$ Hz), 157.94 – 157.89 (m, 1C), 147.9 (dd, $J_{C-F} = 240.0$, 4.7 Hz), 136.1 (s), 129.4 (d, $J_{C-F} = 1.4$ Hz, 2C), 128.5 (dd, $J_{C-F} = 21.0$, 10.0 Hz), 127.8 (d, 2C), 127.6 (dd, $J_{C-F} = 9.7$, 2.4 Hz), 127.6 (d), 123.7 (d, $J_{C-F} = 17.9$ Hz), 122.1 (d, $J_{C-F} = 5.1$ Hz), 116.9 (d, $J_{C-F} = 25.0$ Hz), 105.3 (dd, $J_{C-F} = 23.5$, 5.9 Hz), 104.9 (t, $J_{C-F} = 2.0$ Hz), 61.4 (t), 13.0 (q); ¹⁹F NMR (283 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) -107.46 (d, J = 4.1 Hz, 1F), -133.28 (d, J = 3.5 Hz, 1F); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 2991$, 1738, 1646, 1584, 1499, 1479, 1441, 1408, 1378, 1358, 1327, 1279, 1243, 1192, 1150, 1104, 1067, 1048, 1022, 958, 948, 886, 859, 846, 807, 758, 733, 696, 676, 655, 622 cm⁻¹; HRMS (EI) (m/z) C₁₉H₁₄F₂O₃ calcd for 328.0911, found 328.0895.



Ethyl 4,7-difluoro-1-hydroxy-3-phenyl-2-naphthoate (2d).

Yield: 52.0 mg, 79%; Yellow solid, mp 107.2 – 108.6 °C; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/100); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 12.11 (s, 1H), 8.13 – 7.97 (comp, 2H), 7.49 – 7.36 (comp, 4H), 7.33 – 7.26 (m, 2H), 4.00 (q, J = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 0.74 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 171.3 (d, J = 3.0 Hz), 161.5 (d, J = 248.1Hz), 156.9 (dd, J = 4.9, 2.2 Hz), 148.5 (dd, J = 240.7, 1.1 Hz), 136.1 (s), 129.5 (d, J =1.0 Hz, 2C), 127.8 (d, 2C), 127.3 (d), 126.4 (dd, J = 9.1, 4.8 Hz), 123.8 – 123.3 (m, 1C), 121.5 (dd, J = 18.2, 2.6 Hz), 120.2 (d, J = 25.6 Hz), 108.6 (dd, J = 23.0, 1.9 Hz), 106.4 (d, J = 2.4 Hz), 61.4 (t), 13.0 (q); ¹⁹F NMR (283 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) -112.04 (d, J = 3.8 Hz, 1F), -132.90 (d, J = 4.1 Hz, 1F); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 2989$, 1931, 1740, 1654, 1599, 1504, 1476, 1446, 1423, 1399, 1377, 1328, 1268, 1233, 1192, 1181, 1115, 1090, 1076, 1062, 1024, 983, 933, 909, 872, 849, 832, 814, 797, 753, 736, 702, 678, 658, 647, 609 cm⁻¹; HRMS (EI) (m/z) C₁₉H₁₄F₂O₃ calcd for 328.0911, found 328.0917.



Ethyl 4,8-difluoro-1-hydroxy-3-phenyl-2-naphthoate (2e)

Yield: 50.5 mg, 77%; Yellow solid, mp 90.8 – 93.0 °C; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/100); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 12.47 (d, J = 3.0 Hz, 1H), 7.89 – 7.75 (m, 1H), 7.66 – 7.57 (m, 1H), 7.45 – 7.36 (comp, 3H), 7.30 – 7.26 (m, 2H), 7.26 – 7.19 (m, 1H), 3.99 (q, J = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 0.72 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 171.2 (d, $J_{C-F} = 3.0$ Hz), 160.5 (dd, $J_{C-F} = 262.2$, 4.3 Hz), 157.8 (dd, $J_{C-F} = 4.2$, 2.3 Hz), 148.0 (dd, $J_{C-F} = 239.9$, 4.8 Hz), 136.0 (s), 130.7 (dd, $J_{C-F} = 9.4$, 0.6 Hz), 129.3 (d, $J_{C-F} = 1.4$ Hz), 129.2 (dd, $J_{C-F} = 21.1$, 3.2 Hz, 2C), 127.9 (d, 2C), 127.4 (d), 123.5 (dd, $J_{C-F} = 18.4$, 1.5 Hz), 116.8 (dd, $J_{C-F} = 2.1$ Hz), 61.5 (t), 13.0 (q); ¹⁹F NMR (283 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) -109.33 (d, J = 3.8 Hz, 1F), -131.51 (d, J = 3.9 Hz, 1F); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 2982$, 1946, 1742, 1643, 1598, 1579, 1500, 1472, 1443, 1403, 1380,1329, 1292, 1240, 1201, 1150, 1120, 1070, 1023, 961, 918, 885, 845, 833, 810, 787, 762, 751, 724, 698, 658, 644 cm⁻¹; HRMS (EI) (m/z) C₁₉H₁₄F₂O₃ calcd for 328.0911, found 328.0916.



Ethyl 4-fluoro-1-hydroxy-7-methyl-3-phenyl-2-naphthoate (2f).

Yield: 50.0 mg, 77%; Yellow solid, mp 97.5 – 99.0 °C; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/100); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 12.21 (s, 1H), 8.38 – 8.31 (m, 1H), 7.79 (s, 1H), 7.46 – 7.35 (comp, 4H), 7.31 – 7.26 (comp, 2H), 3.98 (q, J = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 2.57 (s, 3H), 0.73 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 171.6 (d, $J_{C-F} = 3.0$ Hz), 158.0 (d, $J_{C-F} = 1.9$ Hz), 148.3 (d, $J_{C-F} = 239.9$ Hz), 140.8 (d, $J_{C-F} = 1.3$ Hz), 136.6 (s), 129.6 (d, $J_{C-F} = 1.3$ Hz, 2C), 129.1 (d), 127.7 (d, 2C), 127.2 (d, $J_{C-F} = 20.3$ Hz), 127.1 (d), 124.2 (d, $J_{C-F} = 2.5$ Hz), 123.4 (d, $J_{C-F} = 5.2$ Hz), 122.2 (d, $J_{C-F} = 18.3$ Hz), 119.9 (d, $J_{C-F} = 5.2$ Hz), 104.6 (d, $J_{C-F} = 2.4$ Hz), 61.1 (t), 22.3 (q), 13.1 (q); ¹⁹F NMR (283 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) -134.33 (s); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 2979$, 1945, 1868, 1739, 1642, 1600, 1493, 1466, 1444, 1400, 1372, 1356, 1330, 1294, 1247, 1203, 1186, 1165, 1109, 1072, 1060, 1021, 967, 953, 937, 897, 882, 843, 798, 758, 729, 695, 676, 658 cm⁻¹; HRMS (EI) (m/z) C₂₀H₁₇FO₃ calcd for 324.1162, found 324.1146.



Ethyl 4-fluoro-1-hydroxy-7-methoxy-3-phenyl-2-naphthoate (2g).

Yield: 55.1 mg, 81%; Yellow solid, mp 130.6 – 132.0 °C; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/100); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 12.13 (s, 1H), 7.97 – 7.90 (m, 1H), 7.76 – 7.71 (m, 1H), 7.42 – 7.27 (comp, 6H), 4.01 – 3.95 (comp, 5H), 0.73 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 171.62 (d, $J_{C-F} = 3.0$ Hz), 158.80 (s), 156.59 (d, $J_{C-F} = 2.1$ Hz), 148.79 (d, $J_{C-F} = 240.1$ Hz), 136.52 (s), 129.70 (d, $J_{C-F} = 1.3$ Hz, 2C), 127.73 (d, 2C), 127.03 (d), 126.55 (d, $J_{C-F} = 5.1$ Hz), 122.62 (d), 122.58 (d, $J_{C-F} = 3.5$ Hz), 122.01 (d, $J_{C-F} = 20.9$ Hz), 119.79 (d, $J_{C-F} = 18.3$ Hz), 105.93 (d, $J_{C-F} = 2.7$ Hz), 102.66 (d, $J_{C-F} = 2.1$ Hz), 61.24 (t), 55.71 (q), 13.04 (q); ¹⁹F NMR (283 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) -133.71 (s); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 3002$, 2966, 1737, 1644, 1601, 1578, 1504, 1479, 1446, 1412, 1401, 1379, 1358, 1333, 1250, 1224, 1180, 1160, 1117, 1102, 1069, 1027, 979, 904, 878, 853, 826, 799, 779, 752, 731, 697, 683, 667, 653, 611 cm⁻¹; HRMS (EI) (m/z) C₂₀H₁₇FO₄ calcd for 340.1111, found 340.1099.



Ethyl 4-fluoro-1-hydroxy-3-(p-tolyl)-2-naphthoate (2h).

Yield: 51.9 mg, 80%; Yellow solid, mp 86.9 – 88.0 °C; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/100); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 12.16 (s, 1H), 8.46 (d, J = 8.3 Hz, 1H), 8.03 (d, J = 8.3 Hz, 1H), 7.70 (ddd, J = 8.2, 7.0, 1.2 Hz, 1H), 7.60 (ddd, J = 8.2, 7.0, 1.2 Hz, 1H), 7.25 – 7.16 (comp, 4H), 4.01 (q, J = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 2.43 (s, 3H), 0.76 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 171.6 (d, $J_{C-F} = 3.0$ Hz), 157.8 (d, $J_{C-F} = 2.1$ Hz), 148.6 (d, $J_{C-F} = 240.0$ Hz), 136.8 (s), 133.3 (s), 130.2 (d, $J_{C-F} = 1.3$ Hz), 129.4 (d, $J_{C-F} = 1.3$ Hz, 2C), 128.5 (d, 2C), 127.0 (d, $J_{C-F} = 20.7$ Hz), 126.8 (d), 125.2 (d, J = 5.0 Hz), 124.2 (d, $J_{C-F} = 2.5$ Hz), 122.2 (d, $J_{C-F} = 18.3$ Hz), 120.8 (d, $J_{C-F} = 5.4$ Hz), 105.6 (d, $J_{C-F} = 2.5$ Hz), 61.3 (t), 21.4 (q), 13.1 (q); ¹⁹F NMR (283 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) -133.93 (s); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 2994$, 1905, 1739, 1650, 1596, 1578, 1515, 1475, 1440, 1401, 1375, 1330 1299, 1243, 1154, 1103, 1059, 1017, 954, 890, 867, 847, 835, 805, 784, 762, 686, 654, 627 cm⁻¹; HRMS (EI) (*m*/*z*) C₂₀H₁₇FO₃ calcd for 324.1162, found 324.1163.



Ethyl 4-fluoro-1-hydroxy-3-(*m*-tolyl)-2-naphthoate (2i).

Yield: 50.6 mg, 78%; Yellow solid, mp 78.5 – 79.3 °C; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/100); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 12.20 (s, 1H), 8.46 (d, J = 8.3 Hz, 1H), 8.03 (d, J = 8.3 Hz, 1H), 7.70 (ddd, J = 8.2, 7.0, 1.2 Hz, 1H), 7.61 (ddd, J = 8.2, 7.0, 1.2 Hz, 1H), 7.30 (t, J = 7.5 Hz, 1H), 7.19 (d, J = 7.5 Hz, 1H), 7.17 – 7.01 (comp, 2H), 4.01 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 2.40 (s, 3H), 0.75 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 171.5 (d, $J_{C-F} = 3.0$ Hz), 157.8 (d, $J_{C-F} = 2.1$ Hz), 148.5 (d, $J_{C-F} = 240.1$ Hz), 137.2 (s), 136.23 (s), 130.207 (d, $J_{C-F} = 3.0$ Hz), 130.206 (d), 127.9 (d), 127.7 (d), 127.0 (d, $J_{C-F} = 2.5$ Hz), 122.3 (d, $J_{C-F} = 18.3$ Hz), 120.8 (d, $J_{C-F} = 5.4$ Hz), 105.4 (d, $J_{C-F} = 2.4$ Hz), 61.2 (t), 21.5 (q), 130. (q); ¹⁹F NMR (283 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) -133.76 (s); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 2980$, 1932, 1736, 1637, 1596, 1579, 1490, 1474, 1441, 1399, 1377, 1328, 1243, 1178, 1150, 1107, 1095, 1064, 1034, 1022, 958, 889, 849, 793, 782, 764, 750, 707, 678, 666, 652 cm⁻¹; HRMS (EI) (m/z) C₂₀H₁₇FO₃ calcd for 324.1162, found 324.1437.



Ethyl 4-fluoro-1-hydroxy-3-(o-tolyl)-2-naphthoate (2j).

Yield: 53.8 mg, 83%; Yellow solid, mp 68.0 – 69.3 °C; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/100); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 12.43 (s, 1H), 8.50 (d, J = 8.3 Hz, 1H), 8.04 (d, J = 8.3 Hz, 1H), 7.72 (ddd, J = 8.2, 7.0, 1.3 Hz, 1H), 7.62 (ddd, J = 8.2, 7.0, 1.2 Hz, 1H), 7.33 – 7.26 (comp, 2H), 7.26 – 7.18 (m, 1H), 7.15 – 7.05 (m, 1H), 4.05 – 3.94 (m, 2H), 2.14 (s, 3H), 0.74 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 171.5 (d, $J_{C-F} = 3.0$ Hz), 158.3 (d, $J_{C-F} = 2.0$ Hz), 148.2 (d, $J_{C-F} = 239.1$ Hz), 136.5 (d, $J_{C-F} = 0.6$ Hz), 136.1 (s), 130.2 (d, $J_{C-F} = 1.3$ Hz), 129.4 (d), 129.3 (d, $J_{C-F} = 1.1$ Hz), 127.5 (d), 127.1 (d, $J_{C-F} = 20.7$ Hz), 126.8 (d), 125.295 (d), 125.287 (d, $J_{C-F} = 4.8$ Hz), 124.3 (d, $J_{C-F} = 2.5$ Hz), 121.4 (d, $J_{C-F} = 19.7$ Hz), 120.8 (d, $J_{C-F} = 5.2$ Hz), 105.2 (d, $J_{C-F} = 2.7$ Hz), 61.2 (t), 20.1 (q), 13.0 (q); ¹⁹F NMR (283 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) -132.65 (s); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 2986$, 1953, 1908, 1738, 1645, 1596, 1577, 1491, 1475, 1442, 1400, 1375, 1326, 1240, 1188, 1158, 1102, 1057, 1016, 952, 889, 869, 845, 810, 787, 759, 745, 725, 686, 656 cm⁻¹; HRMS (EI) (m/z) C₂₀H₁₇FO₃ calcd for 324.1162, found 324.1143.



Ethyl 4-fluoro-1-hydroxy-3-phenyl-2-naphthoate (2k).

Yield: 57.9 mg, 85%; Yellow solid, mp 84.2 – 85.1 °C; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/100); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 12.16 (s, 1H), 8.52 – 8.41 (m, 1H), 8.04 – 8.00 (m, 1H), 7.70 (ddd, J = 8.3, 6.9, 1.3 Hz, 1H), 7.60 (ddd, J = 8.3, 6.9, 1.3 Hz, 1H), 7.25 – 7.18 (m, 2H), 6.99 – 6.92 (m, 2H), 4.03 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 3.87 (s, 3H), 0.82 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 171.6 (d, $J_{C-F} = 3.1$ Hz), 159.1 (s), 157.8 (d, $J_{C-F} = 2.1$ Hz), 148.8 (d, $J_{C-F} = 239.6$ Hz), 130.6 (d, $J_{C-F} = 1.3$ Hz, 2C), 130.2 (d, $J_{C-F} = 1.3$ Hz), 128.6 (s), 127.0 (d, J = 20.8 Hz), 126.8 (d), 125.1 (d, $J_{C-F} = 5.0$ Hz), 124.3 (d, $J_{C-F} = 2.5$ Hz), 121.8 (d, $J_{C-F} = 18.1$ Hz), 120.8 (d, $J_{C-F} = 5.3$ Hz), 113.3 (d, 2C), 105.6 (d, $J_{C-F} = 2.2$ Hz), 61.3 (t), 55.5 (q), 13.3 (q); ¹⁹F NMR (283 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) -133.99 (s); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 2934$, 2839, 1887, 1737, 1654, 1607, 1577, 1512, 1467, 1440, 1401, 1376, 1331, 1300, 1286, 1238, 1176, 1157, 1105, 1061, 1033, 1017, 954, 890, 848, 822, 806, 784, 762, 689, 678, 653, 628 cm⁻¹; HRMS (EI) (m/z) C₂₀H₁₇FO₄ calcd for 340.1111, found 340.1104.



Ethyl 1-fluoro-4-hydroxy-[2,2'-binaphthalene]-3-carboxylate (2l).

Yield: 60.5 mg, 84%; Yellow solid, mp 93.9 – 94.8 °C; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/100); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 12.29 (s, 1H), 8.50 (d, J = 8.2 Hz, 1H), 8.06 (d, J = 8.2 Hz, 1H), 7.93 – 7.83 (comp, 3H), 7.78 (s, 1H), 7.73 (ddd, J = 8.3, 7.0, 1.2 Hz, 1H), 7.63 (ddd, J = 8.2, 7.0, 1.2 Hz, 1H), 7.55 – 7.49 (m, 2H), 7.47 – 7.39 (m, 1H), 3.92 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 0.46 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 171.5 (d, $J_{C-F} = 3.0$ Hz), 158.1 (d, $J_{C-F} = 2.0$ Hz), 148.8 (d, $J_{C-F} = 240.7$ Hz), 133.8 (s), 133.2 (s), 132.6 (s), 130.3 (d, $J_{C-F} = 1.3$ Hz), 128.2 (d, $J_{C-F} = 1.8$ Hz), 128.1 (d, $J_{C-F} = 0.7$ Hz), 128.1 (d), 127.1 (d), 127.02 (d, $J_{C-F} = 20.5$ Hz), 127.01 (d), 126.2 (d), 126.0 (d), 125.3 (d, $J_{C-F} = 5.0$ Hz), 124.3 (d, $J_{C-F} = 2.5$ Hz), 122.0 (d, $J_{C-F} = 18.2$ Hz), 120.8 (d, $J_{C-F} = 5.4$ Hz), 105.4 (d, $J_{C-F} = 2.3$ Hz), 61.3 (t), 12.9 (q); ¹⁹F NMR (283 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) -133.57 (s); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 2985$, 1651, 1596, 1577, 1505, 1475, 1444, 1400, 1375, 1327, 1242, 1181, 1153, 1126, 1104, 1057, 1014, 969, 943, 898, 847, 823, 789, 755, 679, 656, 637 cm⁻¹; HRMS (EI) (m/z) C₂₃H₁₇FO₃ calcd for 360.1162, found 360.1152.



Ethyl 1'-fluoro-4'-hydroxy-[1,2'-binaphthalene]-3'-carboxylate (2m).

Yield: 57.7 mg, 87%; Yellow solid, mp 138.0 – 139.0 °C; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/100); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 12.53 (s, 1H), 8.54 (d, J = 8.2 Hz, 1H), 8.05 (d, J = 8.2 Hz, 1H), 7.90 (d, J = 8.2 Hz, 2H), 7.74 (ddd, J = 8.3, 7.0, 1.3 Hz, 1H), 7.66 (ddd, J = 8.3, 7.0, 1.3 Hz, 1H), 7.53 (dd, J = 8.2, 7.0 Hz, 2H), 7.46 (ddd, J = 8.0, 7.0, 1.3 Hz, 1H), 7.36 (ddd, J = 8.0, 4.7, 1.3 Hz, 2H), 3.70 (qd, J = 7.1, 0.8 Hz, 2H), 0.18 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (75 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 171.4 (d, $J_{C-F} = 3.0$ Hz), 158.4 (d, $J_{C-F} = 2.0$ Hz), 149.0 (d, $J_{C-F} = 240.2$ Hz), 134.3 (d, $J_{C-F} = 1.0$ Hz), 133.5 (s), 133.1 (d, $J_{C-F} = 0.7$ Hz), 130.4 (d, $J_{C-F} = 1.5$ Hz), 128.2 (d), 127.7 (d), 127.1 (d, $J_{C-F} = 20.6$ Hz), 127.1 (d), 126.8 (d, $J_{C-F} = 1.6$ Hz), 125.9 (d, $J_{C-F} = 32.3$ Hz), 125.61 (d), 125.57 (d, $J_{C-F} = 5.1$ Hz), 125.3 (d), 124.4 (d, $J_{C-F} = 2.6$ Hz), 120.9 (d, $J_{C-F} = 5.2$ Hz), 120.1 (d, $J_{C-F} = 19.2$ Hz), 105.8 (d, $J_{C-F} = 2.4$ Hz), 61.0 (t), 12.4 (q); ¹⁹F NMR (283 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) -131.45 (s); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 3054$, 2976, 1739, 1652, 1593, 1578, 1507, 1471, 1439, 1402, 1374, 1329, 1244, 1182, 1155, 1105, 1090, 1057, 1017, 948, 890, 847, 814, 800, 782, 768, 694, 685, 652 cm⁻¹; HRMS (EI) (m/z) C₂₃H₁₇FO₃ calcd for 360.1162, found 360.1160.



Ethyl 4-fluoro-1-hydroxy-3-(thiophen-2-yl)-2-naphthoate (2n).

Yield: 46.2 mg, 73%; Yellow solid, mp 105.8 – 107.1 °C; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/100); ¹H NMR (300 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 12.16 (s, 1H), 8.45 (d, J = 8.3 Hz, 1H), 8.02 (d, J = 8.3 Hz, 1H), 7.70 (ddd, J = 8.2, 7.0, 1.2 Hz, 1H), 7.60 (ddd, J = 8.2, 7.0, 1.2 Hz, 1H), 7.35 (dd, J = 4.9, 3.0 Hz, 1H), 7.21 (dd, J = 3.0, 0.9 Hz, 1H), 7.05 (dd, J = 4.9, 0.9 Hz, 1H), 4.08 (q, J = 7.2 Hz, 2H), 0.92 (t, J = 7.2 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 171.5 (d, $J_{C-F} = 3.2$ Hz), 157.8 (d, $J_{C-F} = 2.0$ Hz), 149.0 (d, $J_{C-F} =$ 241.3 Hz), 135.2 (s), 130.3 (d), 129.7 (d), 127.0 (d), 126.9 (d, $J_{C-F} = 19.8$ Hz), 125.3 (d, $J_{C-F} = 5.0$ Hz), 124.3 (d, $J_{C-F} = 2.3$ Hz), 124.1 (d), 123.2 (d, $J_{C-F} = 2.3$ Hz), 120.8 (d, $J_{C-F} = 5.3$ Hz), 117.0 (d, $J_{C-F} = 18.2$ Hz), 105.5 (d, $J_{C-F} = 2.2$ Hz), 61.4 (t), 13.3 (q); ¹⁹F NMR (283 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) -132.65 (s); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 3116$, 2990, 1976, 1733, 1645, 1597, 1580, 1535, 1495, 1474, 1435, 1405, 1377, 1332, 1287, 1248, 1217, 1183, 1156, 1103, 1059, 1021, 968, 924, 868, 840, 821, 796, 768, 718, 692, 677, 659, 634, 620 cm⁻¹; HRMS (EI) (m/z) C₁₇H₁₃FO₃S calcd for 316.0569, found 316.0588.



Ethyl 3-(cyclohex-1-en-1-yl)-4-fluoro-1-hydroxy-2-naphthoate (20).

Yield: 54.7 mg, 87%; Yellow solid, mp 67.8 – 68.9 °C; $R_f = 0.4$ (EA/PE = 1/100); ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 12.21 (s, 1H), 8.40 (d, J = 8.4 Hz, 1H), 7.98 (d, J = 8.4 Hz, 1H), 7.65 (ddd, J = 8.3, 7.0, 1.2 Hz, 1H), 7.53 (ddd, J = 8.3, 7.0, 1.2 Hz, 1H), 5.84 – 5.06 (m, 1H), 4.42 (q, J = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 2.33 – 2.28 (m, 2H), 2.23 – 2.15 (m, 2H), 1.87 – 1.79 (m, 2H), 1.79 – 1.72 (m, 2H), 1.42 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 3H); ¹³C NMR (100 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) 171.8 (d, $J_{C-F} = 3.1$ Hz), 157.7 (d, $J_{C-F} = 1.9$ Hz), 148.1 (d, $J_{C-F} = 237.7$ Hz), 133.3 (s), 129.9 (d, $J_{C-F} = 1.3$ Hz), 127.1 (d, $J_{C-F} = 20.9$ Hz), 126.3 (d), 125.7 (d, $J_{C-F} = 1.8$ Hz), 124.7 (d, $J_{C-F} = 5.0$ Hz), 124.5 (d, $J_{C-F} = 1.9$ Hz), 124.13 (d, $J_{C-F} = 1.0$ Hz), 25.63 (t), 23.16 (t), 22.15 (t), 14.52 (q); ¹⁹F NMR (283 MHz, CDCl₃) δ (ppm) -135.63 (s); IR (reflection) $\tilde{v} = 2933$, 1732, 1651, 1594, 1580, 1474, 1436, 1402, 1378, 1331, 1266, 1237, 1181, 1155 1098, 1057, 1028, 1020, 970,

921, 891, 855, 827, 805, 763, 707, 679, 656, 612 cm⁻¹; HRMS (EI) (m/z) C₁₉H₁₉FO₃ calcd for 314.1318, found 314.1307.

2.5.4 Single-crystal X-ray diffraction of 2m



Datablock: cz2

Bond precision	C-C = 0.004	16 A	W	avelengt	h=0.71073			
Cell:	a=7.4955(12) alpha=82.087(1 3) 1	0=11.1487 Deta=78.7	(18) 07(3)	c=11.2502(18) gamma=77.257(3)			
Temperature:	200 K							
	Calculated			Reported	1			
Volume	894.8(2)			894.8(2)				
Space group	P -1			P -1				
Hall group	-P 1			-P 1				
Moiety formula	C23 H17 F O3			?				
Sum formula	C23 H17 F O3			C23 H17	F 03			
Mr	360.37			360.36				
Dx,g cm-3	1.337			1.337				
Z	2			2				
Mu (mm-1)	0.095			0.095				
F000	376.0			376.0				
F000'	376.21							
h,k,lmax	8,13,13			8,13,13				
Nref	3197			3168				
Tmin,Tmax	0.986,0.992			0.877,0.	958			
Tmin'	0.986							
Correction method= # Reported T Limits: Tmin=0.877 Tmax=0.958 AbsCorr = MULTI-SCAN								
Data completene	ess= 0.991		Theta(max) = 25.116					
R(reflections)=	= 0.1792(3168)							
S = 1.228 Npar= 249								